


TOMORROW FOCUS Technologies GmbH
Provider of technical and creative services 
for web-based iT solutions 
Employees: about 40
Based in: Munich, Germany
www.t-f-t.net

Cellular GmbH
integrated service provider of mobile internet, 
apps and Smart TV
Employees: about 45
Based in: Hamburg, Germany
Other locations: Vienna, Austria
www.cellular.de

EliteMedianet GmbH 
Online matchmaking agency for university 
graduates and sophisticated singles 
Employees: about 85 
Based in: Hamburg, Germany 
www.elitepartner.de, www.academicpartner.de

jameda GmbH
Germany’s largest physician rating portal  
Employees: about 13
Based in: Munich, Germany
www.jameda.de

Finanzen100 GmbH
Finance and stock market news portal 
Employees: about 10
Based in: Cologne, Germany
www.fi nanzen100.de
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TOMORROW FOCUS Media AG
Leading premium digital ad network
Employees: about 65
Based in: Munich, Germany
Other locations in Germany: 
Düsseldorf, Frankfurt and Hamburg
www.tomorrow-focus-media.de

FOCUS Online
News and utility journalism portal with 
active reader community 
Employees: about 45
Based in: Munich, Germany
www.focus.de including amica.de and max.de

HolidayCheck AG
Biggest hotel rating community in 
the German- speaking region
Employees: about 240
Based in: Bottighofen, Switzerland, Other locations: 
Warsaw, Poland; Paris, France;  Woerden, Netherlands
Among others: www.holidaycheck.de, .at, .ch, .com, 
.co.uk, .cz, .fr, .nl, .pl, .ru, www.mietwagencheck.de, 
www.tjingo.nl

TOMORROW FOCUS AG 
Holding
Employees: about 20
Based in: Munich, Germany

www.tomorrow-focus.com
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How to keep 
your nerve 

when shopping
TFT’s e-commerce optimi-

sation experts explain how 
to enhance the clarity and 
appeal of an online shop.

IBC - Internet Business Cluster
The main objectives of the new cluster are to support 
talented young people and strengthen Germany’s position 
as a hub of activity on the web.
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As part of a joint venture with the Ludwig-
Maximilians-Universität (LMU) in Munich, 
Burda Digital, ProSiebenSat1 Digital and 
 TOMORROW FOCUS AG have set up an 
 Internet Business Cluster (IBC) that aims  
to identify talented young people and 
strengthen Germany’s position as a leading 
digital hub.

IBC

T E X T  Sabine Minar & Anna Frank      P H OTO S  Susanne Mölle      

I L LU ST R AT I O N  Tim Flach

 T o keep up with the rapid development of the 
Internet, classical media companies worldwide 
have developed into cross-media companies in 
recent years. With new technology and services 
being generated virtually overnight a need is 

arising for flexible and specialised employees who are wil-
ling to learn. And new qualifications are being called for all 
the time. The ‚war for talent‘ is therefore in full swing.
 With big names like Google, Facebook and Microsoft, 
hundreds of start-ups and, above all, with financial investors 
worth billions, Silicon Valley in the USA not only dominates 
the global Internet industry, but is also the most powerful 
magnet for young talent. This is due to its unique blend of 
expertise and entrepreneurship. 
 German and European companies therefore have a lot 
of catching up to do, to promote young talent and entrepre-
neurship and also to facilitate interaction between academia 
and industry!

Getting into the fast lane
Identifying the problem is one thing, doing something about 
it is quite another. Burda Digital, ProSiebenSat.1 Digital and 
TOMORROW FOCUS in cooperation with Ludwig-Maximi-
lians-Universität (LMU) in Munich have decided to tackle 
the problem and have set up the Internet Business Cluster 
(IBC). Together the three companies have a portfolio worth 
billions comprising more than 60 Internet companies and 
are therefore among Germany‘s leading digital players. 
The university departments ‘Business Informatics and New 
Media’ under Professor Thomas Hess and ‘Electronic Com-
merce and Digital Markets’ under Professor Martin Spann 
enjoy international renown in the digital world and are well-

known for their academic expertise in relation to the Inter-
net economy.
 „Our aim is to build up a strong digital cluster in Ger-
many. As a fast-growing Internet company with numerous 
vacancies we also want to give motivated young people with 
high potential the chance to apply what they have learned,“ 
says Stefan Winners, CEO of Tomorrow Focus AG.
 The primary purpose of this alliance is clearly to 
strengthen the efficiency and competitiveness of Germa-
ny as a digital location on a sustainable basis, to facilitate 
interaction between academia and industry and, above all, 
to discover young talent with outstanding entrepreneurial 
skills. The IBC therefore supports three practical research 
projects and specially recruits academic staff for this pur-
pose. In addition, interested students are offered various 
project courses, seminars and internships in the companies 
belonging to the IBC. Furthermore, a guest professorship 
for an academic of international standing is offered every 
summer along with fireside discussions and workshops. The 
advantages are obvious: everyone benefits – students, the 
university and the companies.

A question of talent
For Stefan Winners the motives for supporting this project 
and the talent of the next generation are obvious. „We want 
to show students who we are, what we do and what makes 
us tick, through an interactive exchange. Personal contact 
with our experts and staff is particularly important in this 
context.“ Students should not only have an excellent educa-
tion and a pronounced entrepreneurial spirit, but also crea-
tivity and active cooperation in a diverse and dynamic team. 
The projects on offer, such as an examination of the online  
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Sadly, many online shops are let down by jumbled 
 navigation, unclear product pages and out-of-stock 
items. Help is at hand, though. Step forward,  
TFT’s online shop optimisation team! 

Howto

shopping
whenyo

ur

keep

nerve

10

Knowledge

TOMORROW FOCUS AG 2011

T E X T  Sabine Minar & Adrian Ebner        I L LU ST R AT I O N  Daniel Mackie

Intuition at work – HolidayCheck 

 Warning! Attempted 
manipulation!’ You 
cannot miss the stri-
king red label next 
to the photograph 

of the pool at the Minamark Beach Re-
sort in Hurghada. And just in case there 
were any doubts, a message opens at 
the same time advising users that Holi-
dayCheck has evidence of bogus ratings 
submitted for the hotel. It is a timely 
warning for those who may be planning 
their holiday through the site – and just 
one example of the dedication shown by 
HolidayCheck’s quality assurance team. 
 HolidayCheck has always kept an 
eye on the ratings entered by its users. 
In the early days, every single rating 
was checked before it was added to the 
site – child’s play when you are talking 
about a handful of entries each day. 
Since then, however, the number of ra-
tings has shot up, and the task of che-
cking falls to an eighty-strong team in 
the Content Quality Assurance depart-
ment, helped by a filter application and 
some very sophisticated algorithms. 
Led by Tobias Hammer, the team cer-
tainly has its hands full. Around two 
thousand ratings are submitted every 
day, and in the high season that figure 
can easily double to four thousand. The 
staff also have to view and check count-
less photographs, videos and enqui-
ries. It is a mammoth task. For a long 
time now, not just users submit their 

ratings. Increasingly, hotel owners and 
PR agencies try to use the portal for 
their own (occasionally dubious) ends. 
The job of Tobias Hammer’s team is to 
make sure these entries do not distort 
the ratings of individual hotels. 
 HolidayCheck’s success depends 
on the quality of the entries posted 
on the site. “We need genuine and in-
formative ratings, not ratings that are 
either purely subjective or that are not 
based on personal experience,” says 
Tobias Hammer. Out of all the ent-
ries received, ten percent are rejected 
straight away simply because they do 
not comply with the terms and condi-
tions. The rest are checked meticulous-
ly with the help of the filter software. 
The team has 48 hours to identify 
and delete any bogus ratings. It 
is important because such ent-
ries inevitably create resentment 
among users. If holidaymakers 
return dissatisfied with the hotel 
and the level of service provided, 
the result can be a deluge of ne-
gative ratings and complaints. Ho-
lidayCheck is determined to stop that 
happening – and not just in its own 
interest.
 Ratings are critical to the hotels‘ 
survival, too. “There is a lot of pressu-
re. If a hotel’s ranking falls below 70 
percent, it may well find it difficult to 
attract bookings or get included in a 
tour brochure,” says Tobias Hammer. 

The fact that HolidayCheck has now become the top 
German-language hotel ratings platform is thanks in 
no small part to its users. Unfortunately, though, not 
all users play by the rules, and HolidayCheck also 
has to deal with bogus ratings and dubious entries.

T E X T  Barbara Kaspar          P H OTO S  Susanne Mölle

Intuition at work – HolidayCheck 
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HolidayCheck-
intuition at work
How the Content quality Assurance 
team at HolidayCheck tracks down and 
labels bogus ratings.
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As part of a joint venture with the Ludwig-
Maximilians-Universität (LMU) in Munich, 
Burda Digital, ProSiebenSat1 Digital and 
 TOMORROW FOCUS AG have set up an 
 Internet Business Cluster (IBC) that aims  
to identify talented young people and 
strengthen Germany’s position as a leading 
digital hub.

IBC

T E X T  Sabine Minar & Anna Frank      P H OTO S  Susanne Mölle      

I L LU ST R AT I O N  Tim Flach

 T o keep up with the rapid development of the 
Internet, classical media companies worldwide 
have developed into cross-media companies in 
recent years. With new technology and services 
being generated virtually overnight a need is 

arising for flexible and specialised employees who are wil-
ling to learn. And new qualifications are being called for all 
the time. The ‚war for talent‘ is therefore in full swing.
 With big names like Google, Facebook and Microsoft, 
hundreds of start-ups and, above all, with financial investors 
worth billions, Silicon Valley in the USA not only dominates 
the global Internet industry, but is also the most powerful 
magnet for young talent. This is due to its unique blend of 
expertise and entrepreneurship. 
 German and European companies therefore have a lot 
of catching up to do, to promote young talent and entrepre-
neurship and also to facilitate interaction between academia 
and industry!

Getting into the fast lane
Identifying the problem is one thing, doing something about 
it is quite another. Burda Digital, ProSiebenSat.1 Digital and 
TOMORROW FOCUS in cooperation with Ludwig-Maximi-
lians-Universität (LMU) in Munich have decided to tackle 
the problem and have set up the Internet Business Cluster 
(IBC). Together the three companies have a portfolio worth 
billions comprising more than 60 Internet companies and 
are therefore among Germany‘s leading digital players. 
The university departments ‘Business Informatics and New 
Media’ under Professor Thomas Hess and ‘Electronic Com-
merce and Digital Markets’ under Professor Martin Spann 
enjoy international renown in the digital world and are well-

known for their academic expertise in relation to the Inter-
net economy.
 „Our aim is to build up a strong digital cluster in Ger-
many. As a fast-growing Internet company with numerous 
vacancies we also want to give motivated young people with 
high potential the chance to apply what they have learned,“ 
says Stefan Winners, CEO of Tomorrow Focus AG.
 The primary purpose of this alliance is clearly to 
strengthen the efficiency and competitiveness of Germa-
ny as a digital location on a sustainable basis, to facilitate 
interaction between academia and industry and, above all, 
to discover young talent with outstanding entrepreneurial 
skills. The IBC therefore supports three practical research 
projects and specially recruits academic staff for this pur-
pose. In addition, interested students are offered various 
project courses, seminars and internships in the companies 
belonging to the IBC. Furthermore, a guest professorship 
for an academic of international standing is offered every 
summer along with fireside discussions and workshops. The 
advantages are obvious: everyone benefits – students, the 
university and the companies.

A question of talent
For Stefan Winners the motives for supporting this project 
and the talent of the next generation are obvious. „We want 
to show students who we are, what we do and what makes 
us tick, through an interactive exchange. Personal contact 
with our experts and staff is particularly important in this 
context.“ Students should not only have an excellent educa-
tion and a pronounced entrepreneurial spirit, but also crea-
tivity and active cooperation in a diverse and dynamic team. 
The projects on offer, such as an examination of the online  
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Live in style 
Online

AMICA‘s next top model: AMICA 

Online brought Gabriela Zakova 

to the Lena Hoschek catwalk! 

In a Facebook poll, the winner 

came out on top against other 

 up-and-coming models.

A popular category: Body 

& Diets. The editorial 

team present the latest 

slimming products and 

reveal celeb secrets to 

staying in shape.
The Love & Life team offer 

advice on love matters. 

Psychological tests and 

expert interviews answer 

burning questions such as 

‘Why was he unfaithful?’

AMICA Online reports from fashion 

events around the world. The Berlin 

 Fashion Week Special was sponsored by 

the Schumacher fashion label this year.

Kerstin Kotlar and Veronika Schaller report 

on getting up close and personal with the 

celebs. Kerstin Kotlar interviewed Bettina 

Zimmermann, whilst Veronika Schaller met 

the sexiest man alive - Hugh Jackman.

What is in and what is not? 

All is revealed in the fashion 

column. You can chat about the 

latest trends in the Fashion blog.

The AMICA iPad 

app was released 

in August 2011. 

Pictures lead 

the reader to the 

latest stories and 

allow for an intu-

itive navigation of 

the website.

For those who want to  holiday 

in celebrity style - see the 

travel page for useful tips.

The latest beauty products regularly arrive 

in the editorial office. The editorial team get 

to try these products out for themselves!

with
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e T he Philosopher Plato belie-
ved that men and women 
were originally bound to 
each other in a circle with 
four hands and feet and 

two faces. After Godfather Zeus cut 
this human circle in two out of jealousy 
of their combined strength, they lon-
ged to be reunited with their other hal-
ves. Although the underlying concept 
of this myth - the search for our other 
half - is as prominent today as it was 
100 or even 1000 years ago, the me-
thods used to search for partners are 
constantly changing. One of the most 
significant changes in recent years 
came with the new wave of digitalisa-
tion. Nowadays, around seven milli-
on people use online dating websites 
every month. And they are successful 
in their search. More than 3.5 million 
Germans are living with a partner who 
they met on the internet. The trend is 
increasing. „In three to four years, the 
majority of couples will meet online“, 
says Dr Jost Schwaner, Managing Di-
rector at ElitePartner. 

EliteMatching: scientifically-
based partner searches
One of the main reasons to look for a 
partner online is the wide variety of 
singles looking for a relationship - not 
least due to the potential within their 
own social circles wearing thin. The 
partner search on ElitePartner starts 
with EliteMatching. Based on the re-
sults of a personality test, a computer 
algorithm matches the singles who are 
particularly compatible. This compati-
bility is expressed in matching points: 
the higher the points, the greater the 
chances of a long-term, happy relati-
onship. So what are the exact criteria 
to determine who is compatible with 
whom? Does the proverb ‘birds of a 
feather flock together’ come into play 
here or do opposites really attract?

Birds of a feather  
flock together?
According to Professor Dr Burghard 
Andresen, a scientific consultant on 
the topic of matchmaking at ElitePart-
ner, both of these principles must be 
taken into consideration for the part-
ner search, but in quite different areas. 
„The principle of opposition partially 
applies to the physical features, mainly 
those associated with the genes of the 
immune system and sexual orientati-
on, whilst the principle of similitude 
plays a role with respect to personali-
ty traits, attitudes and values. We are 
more likely to be happy with someone 
with whom we are compatible in the-
se areas,“ says Dr Andresen. A healthy 
distance according to the principle of 
opposition has a positive effect on the 

When serious online dating agencies first came about in Germany, they were 
largely viewed with scepticism and prejudice. Couples who met over the 
 internet were frequently teased and therefore often kept it a secret. Since then, 
searching for a partner online has become as natural as online banking.

relationship, for example concerning 
the issues of proximity/distance, self-
sufficiency/neediness and subordinati-
on/dominance. However, the principle 
of similitude is important with regard 
to the ability to communicate, be em-
pathetic, deal with conflict and cope 
with stress. We simply get on better 
with a partner if they more or less have 
the same attitude and goals as us - if 
we are on the same wavelength.
 A computer algorithm that predicts 
whether two people are going to fall in 
love? Sounds too good to be true. And 
indeed we do have to be aware of the li-
mitations of such a process, according 
to Professor Dr Andresen: „Of course, 
a computer will not be able to predict 
whether there will be chemistry or not. 
This is up to the couple themselves to 
find out - and so it should be. However, 
a good compatibility test can increase 
the likelihood of two people coming 
together, falling in love and building 
a fulfilling and stable relationship with 
one another.“ Rather than placing too 
much emphasis on online communica-

tion, Dr Andresen recommends mee-
ting each other quickly to kick-start the 
reality check. This is the only way in 
which to find out how you really feel 
about the other person. Anna and Se-
bastian, who met via ElitePartner, also 
have a word of advice for all online da-
ting website users: „Don‘t email back 
and forth for weeks on end, simply ar-
range to meet up and have a coffee. In 
our first meeting we realised that the 
abstract ‘matching points’ were actu-
ally a mirror image of our shared in-
terests, likes and dislikes, and hopes 
for the future.“

Will we have to give a  saliva 
sample to find our dream 
partner in future?
As in Anna and Sebastian‘s case, 
sometimes there is immediate chemi-
stry, in other cases there is absolutely 
none - despite having so many ‘mat-
ching points’. A bit of luck therefore 
also plays a role in the online partner 
search. In order to give this luck a hel-
ping hand, the online dating industry 

is constantly working towards further 
developing their strategies. „Today we 
are only able to express the relevant re-
lationship dimensions of our personali-
ty in writing using the ‘matching que-
stionnaire’. However, there are many 
more sensory impressions that come 
into play when choosing a partner, for 
example, a person‘s individual scent 
or voice“, says Dr Jost Schwaner. Face 
matching, DNA matching and colour 
matching are just a few of the many 
processes attempting to find further 
dimensions of compatibility. However, 
Dr Schwaner warns against placing 
too much importance on each of these 
approaches: „The online dating indus-
try will have to find ways in which to 
combine several approaches in order 
to complete the necessary picture for a 
relationship. Individually, the methods 
sold as salutary compatibility pro-
cesses are not much more than hot air 
but in combination they can bring us 
closer to the truth. However, no combi-
nation in the world can ever guarantee 
true chemistry.“

 in the  
 Internet era

Dr Jost Schwaner 
Managing Director  
at elitePartner

HEy BaBy,  
our HEarts arE 
BEating in tHE 
saME rHytHM.

... But dEfinitEly  
not in tHE saME 

 algoritHM!

„in tHrEE to four 
 yEars, tHE Majority  

of couplEs Will  
MEEt onlinE“

t e X t  Kathrin Hövekamp
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We are 
in the picture!
We have accepted the challenge and taken up the 
pen to describe our vision and the mission of the 
TOMORROW FOCUS Group, defining all goals and 
the values we stand for every day. 

I L LU ST R AT I O N  Volker Schumann

Together, we can look back over a very successful 
financial year in 2011.  

It was a year in which we opened up new markets for 
our brands as well as consolidating and even expan-
ding our presence in existing markets.  
 A year in which our three operating segments 
grew in step with each other to deliver the Group’s 
best operating result since the company was foun-
ded over ten years ago.  
 A year in which we again strengthened our fi-
nancial position, creating a strong foundation for 
future organic and inorganic growth, and in which 
we were able to pay out our first ever dividend to 
shareholders.

Earnings per share up 31 percent
In the financial year 2011, our consolidated opera-
ting revenue showed an increase of 20 percent on 
the previous year to reach EUR 128.3 million. Con-
solidated EBITDA was up 18 percent at EUR 21.4 
million, consolidated EBIT increased by 33 percent 
at EUR 16.8 million and consolidated earnings per 
share was up 31 percent at EUR 0.21.

Advertising segment achieves outstanding 
rise in earnings
2011 brought an exemplary turnaround in the ear-
nings of the Advertising segment. With revenue up 
by a good 20 percent compared to the previous year, 
the segment achieved a significant improvement in 
EBITDA, which ended the reporting period EUR 4.1 
million higher at EUR 3.1 million.

This was partly due to the success of TOMORROW 
FOCUS Media, Germany’s second-biggest digital 
marketing specialist, which recorded an excellent 
performance despite simmering concerns over the 
German economy. 

The news portal FOCUS Online also made a sub-
stantial contribution to the results of the Advertising 
segment as a whole. In December 2011 the number 
of visits stood at over 36 million, a third higher than 

in the same month of 2010. All in all, FOCUS Online 
was able to report a very handsome year-end profit, 
making it in our view one of only a small number of 
successful German news portals. 

In 2011, the stock market and finance portal Finan-
zen100 established itself as Germany’s fastest-grow-
ing stock market news and information service. A cri-
tical factor in this success has been the widespread 
implementation of its ‘mobile first’ strategy. Around 
two thirds of all page visits are now made via mobi-
le applications such as the new Android app, which 
was downloaded over 100,000 times in just a few 
weeks.
 
Remaining with the Advertising segment, 
TOMORROW FOCUS AG sold a 35.86 percent stake 
in AdJug Ltd. to the international advertising group 
Dentsu Inc. After taking AdJug Ltd. to profitability 
at the end of the previous year, we decided the time 
was right to identify a strategic partner that could 
help drive the process of internationalisation. We 
found that partner in the shape of IgnitionOne, the 
New York-based digital technology unit of Dentsu 
Inc. TOMORROW FOCUS AG retains a 20 percent 
stake in AdJug Ltd. 

Internationalisation brings success at Holi-
dayCheck
2011 brought a rise of almost 20 percent in the re-
venue of the Transactions segment, which again  
reported strong EBITDA despite considerable invest-
ment in advertising and the internationalisati-
on of HolidayCheck AG.

HolidayCheck, the lea-
ding online travel agent 
in the German-speaking 
region, again deli-
vered abo-
ve-average 
growth. In 
s u m m e r     
2011, it    

Dear Shareholders,

Stefan Winners  
Chief Executive Officer

Dr. Dirk Schmelzer
Chief Financial Officer 

Christoph Schuh
Management Board Member
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Sadly, many online shops are let down by jumbled 
 navigation, unclear product pages and out-of-stock 
items. Help is at hand, though. Step forward,  
TFT’s online shop optimisation team! 

Howto
shopping

whenyo
ur

keep
nerve
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t e X t  Sabine Minar & Adrian Ebner        I l lU st r At I O N  Daniel Mackie



 There are just three days until Christmas 
and I still have not bought all of my pre-
sents. I am looking online for a bag for 
my sister. Have I already looked at this 
website? Yes, I have. Somehow all of the 

shops seem to look the same. 
 Finally you see ‘the one’! The perfect bag in 
five different colours. She will love it! I want it in 
red. Not available! Okay then, green is nice too. Not 
available either! I finally opt, rather disappointedly, 
for the purple one. „Why do they offer all of those co-
lours if I can‘t buy them?“, I growl under my breath. 
Right! Add to basket and go to checkout! Now the 
entire screen is filled with boxes, dropdown menus 
and checkboxes. Okay, enough is enough! Do I have 
to fill in ALL of that? Angrily I close my laptop and 
head into town. One hour 
and three miles of stomping 
around later, I am holding 
a bag in a long queue for 
the checkout of a clothing 
store. The woman in front of 
me says: „I‘ve already been 
waiting for half an hour... 
next time I‘m going to order 
online!“ 

Shopping can be fun
„The success of an online shop starts and ends with 
a clear structure, appealing content and a user-
friendly navigation,“ says Anian Leistner, a specia-
list in the field of e-commerce optimisation at TFT. 
This could have prevented my journey into town. 
Three factors come into play when optimising an on-
line shop: usability, user experience and conversion 
optimisation. However, in order to understand the 
interaction between these factors, we must first ex-
plain and define the individual areas.

Usability - oh how useful!
Usability is the ‘fitness for purpose’ or - when it 
comes to websites - their ‘ease of use’. Every user 
has certain expectations regarding the structure, 
layout and navigation of a website. If users do not 
find website or shop functions where they expect to 
find them, the ordering process is often disrupted 
and the user leaves the website. This does not only 
have a short-term negative effect on sales, it can also 
damage the company‘s image on the long-term. 

User experience - that was fun!
Whilst usability takes place directly when using a 
website, user experience also encompasses all emo-
tions, ideas and preferences as well as physiological 
and psychological behaviour which occur before, du-
ring and after use. Usability is therefore an integral 
part of the user experience. ‘Look’ (credibility, trust, 
harmony and atmosphere) and ‘feel’ (fun to use, in-
teraction and reaction) also play a decisive role. A 
good user experience makes shopping online fun. 
 Let us take, for instance, the way of presenting 
products. If you want to target women, the product 
presentation should be emotive and visually ap-
pealing and, as with a ‘real-world’ clothing store, 
users should be able to browse. A good example is 

the Tchibo website. However, if men are the target 
group, the ease of being able to find and compare 
products and obtain in-depth information and data, 
play an important role. 

Q U O T E

»The success of an online shop starts 
and ends with a clear structure, 
 appealing content and a user-friendly 
navigation.«
Anian Leistner, Senior Web Business Consultant TFT

11

Knowledge

tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG 2011

f
r

e
e

s
t

y
l

e



E
optimisation

Com
m

erce

12

Knowledge

tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG 2011

The features of different product types, be it DSL 
tariffs or electronic devices, must be clearly contra-
sted. An example of a shop in which men feel com-
fortable is cyberport.de

Conversion rate optimisation -  
I‘ll buy it now!
Conversion optimisation aims to turn interested 
customers into buyers. Whilst user experience en-
gineers view themselves as ‘user advocates’ and at-
tempt to create an optimal shopping experience for 
customers, the task of classical conversion optimisa-
tion engineers is to encourage customers to buy and 
this preferably during their first visit to the shop. Fi-
nancial ratios are used to assess the level of success: 
how has the conversion rate, i.e. the percentage of 
buyers among shop visitors, developed after the im-
plementation of the conversion optimisation tools? 
And have the sales revenue, the transaction values 
and the percentage of repeat customers increased? 

It‘s all in the mix -  
the holistic approach of TFT
In order to successfully establish yourself on the 
market, an optimal interaction between the three 
disciplines is necessary. However, conversion opti-
misation engineers often solely focus on the conver-
sion rate and therefore a quick sale. User require-
ments only play a secondary role for them. Although 
this increases sales on the short-term, it also leads 
to an increased number of returns and, in the worst 
case scenario, results in the customer switching to 
a competitor. This becomes particularly evident if 
we analyse, for instance, search results and catego-
ry pages. From a usability perspective, these should 
show the most relevant content for website visitors. 
However, this often does not include those products 
which generate the best conversion rate, the highest 
sales revenue or top transaction values. If you wish 
to retain customers on the long-term, optimisation 
rate engineers must raise the following questions: 
Did the customer really want the product? Will he 
or she return to the website? Will he or she give 
the online shop a positive rating? For the TFT team, 
the answers to these questions underline the real 
importance of usability and user experience. The 
demands of these two key issues must be harmoni-
sed with the objectives of conversion optimisation.  

„By offering a pleasant experience in our shop, we 
also wish to encourage those users who leave the 
website without buying anything to come back at 
a later date. This is considerably more sustainable 
than a sale which is purely driven by a marketing 
campaign,” says Anian Leistner. 
 Great, I say to myself as I sit in a traffic jam on 
my way back home. I am going to buy my next pre-
sents online. But this time, in an optimised and user-
friendly online shop!



Website optimisation for buecher.de
TFT’s optimisation team members helped to redesign the product detail pages 
on buecher.de leading to an impressive 10 percent increase in conversion rate.

the old version of the product detail page was highly 
 fragmented, and users were distracted from the key item  
on the page, i.e. the actual product, by too many links.

before after

In collaboration with buecher.de, tft developed a new 
 version of the product detail page that places greater 
 emphasis on the actual item and the opportunity to buy it. 
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4,000,000 visits
In February 2012 Finanzen100 had a reach of almost 
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 B uying and selling is the name of the 
game at the Frankfurt Stock Exchange, 
one of the world‘s biggest financial 
markets. For 2011, the stock exchange 
reported a turnover of EUR 1.48 trilli-

on, and 3.9 million Germans traded shares last year. 
There was a particularly large rise in the number of 
short-term or day traders. According to estimates, 
there are up to 70,000 users of online platforms who 
speculate with currencies every day. Access to first-
class information at any time online and through mo-
bile applications, as well as the ability to act prompt-
ly if the need should arise is therefore essential for 
users of Finanzen 100, the fast-growing financial and 
stock market information portal of the  TOMORROW 
FOCUS Group.
 Information at your fingertips anywhere and at 
any time means that more and more information is 
accessed via smartphones, particularly in the area 
of stock exchange trading. The creators of the on-
line services offered by Finanzen 100 realised this 
at an early stage. In addition to two apps for the 
iPhone and the iPad, they also created what has now 
become the most successful financial market app 

At Finanzen 100 half a million users simply cannot wait to check out the latest stock 
exchange prices – with increasing frequency and also by smartphone. Developer  
Dirk Wunderlich and his colleagues have created apps that get top marks from users.  
A  constant flow of new features and extremely easy usability are attracting more  
and more customers. 

Intricate apps at  Finanzen100
t e X t  Katharina Kirsch         P H OtO s  Rudolph Damen

visits in million

for Google’s Android operating system. More than 
2,000 ratings in the Android app store, all of them 
outstanding, serve as a testimonial that the young 
team from Cologne get it right practically every time.
Finanzen100 developer Dirk Wunderlich has been 
a member of the team from the outset and master-
minded the Android app. Finanzen100 had only just 
launched the iPhone app when Dirk Wunderlich set 
his sights on the next development. The compu-
ter scientist first got some sceptical looks from his 
colleagues when he advocated building a pionee-
ring app for Android smartphones. After all, almost 
everyone had an iPhone or a Blackberry, and no 
one - including the competition - really believed in 
yet another operating system. The young team ne-
vertheless supported Dirk Wunderlich‘s pioneering 
spirit. His ambition had been awakened. The expe-
rienced developer could really let himself go with 
the Android, as the open system offers plenty of 
scope for creativity.
 The biggest challenge proved to be achieving 
the right balance between features and usability. 
What functions should the website offer without 
comprising the clarity and user-friendliness of a 
mini application on a smartphone screen? The cu-
stomisable portfolio feature proved particularly tri-
cky to program. „Clarity is one of the unique selling 
propositions of our offer. For smartphones we had 
to go one step further with what we had learned 
from market research into websites,“ says Dirk 
Wunderlich.
 The Finanzen 100 Android app went online in 
March 2011. Its reach exploded after just one month 
when the application was given a positive rating by 
an important Android website. Since then user fi-
gures for the Android app have climbed rapidly and 
have now surpassed the reach of the iPhone app.
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How was the app designed?
The main points when developing the app 
were always usability and a clear structure. 
Users should be able to operate the app in-
tuitively and not have to think about the in-
dividual functions. Due to the user-centred 
development we were able to get user feed-
back at a very early stage and to take it into ac-
count in further developments. Even now we 
can respond very rapidly to new requirements 
through an agile production process. This is 
refl ected in our very fast update cycles.

How do you take account 
of the feedback?
Users have had priority ever since the app was 
launched. We take all feedback very seriously 
and try to answer every question as quickly as 
possible. I often write back to users myself and 
this has resulted in some interesting contacts 
with other programmers. The market usually 
rewards fast response times to feedback and 
enquiries with good ratings.

What diff erences are there between 
the Android app and the Apple app?
We try to enhance the features of our apps in 
unison, if possible. Due to the technical diffe-
rences and the various requirements of Apple 
and Google, this is not always possible, of 
course. But the main functions, such as secu-
rities accounts, news, the search function, the 
watch list and the portfolio are very similar on 
both devices. However, for certain features, 
we also test different things in a very targeted 
way, so that we can then implement the best 
solution on other platforms. The GridBox, for 
instance, will certainly fi nd its way from the 
main page of the Android app to the website. 

What will your next projects be?
The next major project is to develop a mobile 
website at m.fi nanzen.100.de. Apart from this, 
we also intend to optimise our Android app 
for tablets.

Intricate apps at  Finanzen100

Dirk Wunderlich, 
Developer 

Finanzen100
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Dirk Wunderlich was already programming during his student days in Bonn, working for one of Germany‘s biggest fi nancial 
market websites at the time. later on he worked as a programmer for this website for some years. In 2008, when he was 
given the opportunity to build up an innovative stock market information portal in a young team with finanzen 100 Managing 
Director Oliver eckert, he immediately said yes. since then the native of rhinelander has been industriously developing ideas 
for the successful expansion of Germany‘s fastest growing stock market information portal.

How an app is created - 
Dirk Wunderlich describes the  production process

both devices. However, for certain features, 
we also test different things in a very targeted 
way, so that we can then implement the best 
solution on other platforms. The GridBox, for 
instance, will certainly fi nd its way from the 
main page of the Android app to the website. 

What will your next projects be?
The next major project is to develop a mobile 
website at m.fi nanzen.100.de. Apart from this, 
we also intend to optimise our Android app 
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Dirk Wunderlich was already programming during his student days in Bonn, working for one of Germany‘s biggest fi nancial 
market websites at the time. later on he worked as a programmer for this website for some years. In 2008, when he was 

Dirk Wunderlich, 
Developer 

Finanzen100

given the opportunity to build up an innovative stock market information portal in a young team with finanzen 100 Managing 
Director Oliver eckert, he immediately said yes. since then the native of rhinelander has been industriously developing ideas 

website at m.fi nanzen.100.de. Apart from this, 
we also intend to optimise our Android app 

Dirk Wunderlich was already programming during his student days in Bonn, working for one of Germany‘s biggest fi nancial 
market websites at the time. later on he worked as a programmer for this website for some years. In 2008, when he was 
given the opportunity to build up an innovative stock market information portal in a young team with finanzen 100 Managing 
Director Oliver eckert, he immediately said yes. since then the native of rhinelander has been industriously developing ideas 



In the past, the television set has always been a pas-
sive  device that provides us with information and 
 entertainment at home but without user interaction. 
Those days are gone. Television is going smart! 
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 The television set has undergone several 
enhancements and improvements sin-
ce 1936. More channels and the remo-
te control were introduced during the 
1950s. The 1960s brought colour to our 

television screens. In the 1970s additional informati-
on became available in the form of teletext, and the 
introduction of pay TV extended the range of chan-
nels in the 1980s. The 1990s concentrated around 
Dolby Surround. Innovative power increased after 
the turn of the millennium and brought with it both 
HD and 3D television, and the Internet browser. Ne-
vertheless these developments have, to date, been 
nothing more than model updates.
 However there are signs of revolution in your li-
ving room. The digital environment has changed so 
significantly that our televisions are quickly becoming 
somewhat extinct. Let us take the example of the re-
mote control. This is a device with an exceedingly 
poor user interface: a huge amount of buttons for very 
few functions. Teletext offers terrible graphics and is 
anything but intuitive. The 16 million teletext users 
sitting in front of their television sets in Germany the-
refore appear to be very patient - even though they 
are used to a very different quality on their tablets and 
smartphones. The future therefore lies with smart TV.

Your smartphone on the wall
A Smart TV can be compared to a large smartphone 
hanging on the wall. Smart TVs are sleek, fast and 
always online. In addition to the standard television 
channels, there are an exten-
sive video on demand (VoD) 
offer, a start-up screen with 
your favourite content, so-
cial media interaction with 
friends and useful apps. Te-
letext is replaced by Hybrid 
Broadcast Broadband TV 
(HbbTV) which efficiently 
combines broadcasting and 
Internet services. This means 
that it is possible, for examp-

le, to open content from multimedia libraries directly 
and watch this at a later stage. Red-button apps re-
gularly appear on the screen and provide additional 
information when clicked. The Smart TV is operated 
using a new smart remote control or a multi-screen. 
The multi-screen combines Smart TV with additional 
end devices such as smartphones and tablets. You can 
quickly and easily send content back and forth bet-
ween devices. A tap on the smartphone will display 
the images that have just been taken, for example, on 
the television screen.
 The introduction of Smart TVs in households is 
opening the television up to a wide range of new pla-
yers. The television is no longer purely a projection 
screen for TV channels. Everything that offers online 
content is compatible with the Smart TV. The televisi-
on is a projection screen for EVERYONE: publishing 
companies, web portals, dating agencies, travel agen-
cies, social media platforms, VoD providers, search 
engines and much more. It also offers completely new 
advertising opportunities. An advertiser‘s app can be 
placed behind an advertisement, for example, and 
lead to direct customer contact. The user can there-
fore not only WATCH TV but also interact with it.

Smart TV kit
CELLULAR has been running its own Smart TV busi-
ness unit since May 2011. This unit combines the 
expertise of designers and technical developers. The 
CELLULAR team focuses on Smart TV and multi-
device applications, HbbTV offers and high-perfor-

mance back-ends, as 
well as special user inter-
face guidelines adapted 
to Smart TVs. Especially 
for media customers, the 
team has just developed 
a Smart TV kit with the 
aim of implementing 
intuitive Smart TV, red-
button and multi-screen 
apps within the shortest 
amount of time.  

A host of companies 
present their latest de-
velopments in the smart 
tV sector at the 2012 
International Consumer 
electronics show (Ces), 
the leading Us trade 
fair for the electronic 
entertainment industry.
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Interview with Birger Veit,  
Managing Director at CELLULAR:

When will Smart TV conquer the German market?
Birger Veit: “There are a number of driving forces behind 
the final breakthrough in Germany. On the one hand, 
we have Apple and Google that have invested heavily 
in new Smart TV technologies in the past 12 months. 
On the other hand, hardware manufacturers, such as 
Samsung, Sony and Sharp, have presented their new 
generation of Smart TV sets at the International Consu-
mer Electronics Show (CES), and these will be available 
in Germany in the summer. At the moment, there are a 
number of incentives for consumers to buy new devices: 
the European Football Championship and the Olympic 
Games in London, a couple of weeks later.” 

How will viewing habits change with Smart TV?
Birger Veit: “Linear TV and video on demand will have 
an equal footing in future. We will be saying goodbye to 
having to watch programmes at a specific time. Smart 
TV users create their own television schedule. In future, 
the only thing to lure people back to their standard te-
levisions at set times will be major live events, such as 
football. In addition, social and participation television 

will play an important role, i.e. we will be able to sha-
re our viewing experience with friends via social media 
platforms.”

What Smart TV projects is CELLULAR  
currently  working on?
Birger Veit: “We are currently developing Smart TV sites 
for several media brands and online platforms, such as a 
large TV guide for the media magazine TV SPIELFILM. 
Users will be able to comfortably access TV SPIELFILM 
on their Smart TV and on their iPhone. A wide range of 
useful features will be added and enhance the functions 
of television. For the TV channel Pro7 we are conceiving 
cross-media events, played on Smart TVs as well. For 
example, the audience was able to cast a vote, via Smart 
TV, during the Voice of Germany show.”

What Smart TV application would CELLULAR  
like to develop in the future?
Birger Veit: “We would like to develop an optimal en-
vironment for a television series: hidden stories, actor/
actress biographies, all episodes stored in an archive 
and available as video on demand, social media integra-
tion and a powerful online shop function to order out-
fits, homeware, etc. directly - for example, the gorgeous 
dress worn by X or the elegant crockery at Z‘s party.”

the multi-screen connects smart tV with other user terminals such as 
 smartphones and tablets. Content can simply be moved around between  
the different devices. 

Birger Veit, Managing Director at  
CellUlAr GmbH and smart tV expert.
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elitePartner has been carrying out the elitePartner single study since 2005 at six-monthly intervals. the aim of the study is 
to gain an insight into the views and wishes of singles and to discover relevant trends in the search for a partner and love. 
More than 11,000 singles were interviewed in the 13th round of the study.

Most popular day

41%
Saturday

74%

How long do you need to find  
whether you could hit it off?

Most prefered dating time

A single study of   

Likeable  
or not?
that is all that matters on the first date. 
People soon know whether they could 
fall for each other. endless dates can 
become an ordeal if you notice after five 
minutes that things are not quite right.

Ideal for the first date:
1. Meeting for lunch
2. Going for a walk
3. Latte Macchiato

None of the women 
interviewed would 
add their date to their 
 Facebook contacts  
after the first meeting.

Monday   3%
Tuesday   4%
Wednesday   6%
Thursday   8%
Friday  29%
Sunday   9%

21%  23%

5% 5%
31%

59%

A couple of  
seconds

Morning                           Noon                           Afternoon                           Evening  

A couple of minutes A couple of  
hours

A couple of 
meetings

49%  43% 16%  18% 15%  16%
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 T he noise from the construc-
tion site for the hotel exten-
sion wakes you up at 6 am. 
The pool is covered in a la-
yer of algae. And the food is 

giving you stomach cramps every day. 

What should you do if you fi nd your-
self in such a situation?
nina: First go to the reception desk and 
report your complaints. The hotel must 
be given the opportunity to improve. In 
the event of noise disturbance or other 
serious complaints, you can request 
a new room. If the hotel is not proac-
tively searching for a solution, the next 
point of call is your local tour guide. 
Set a deadline for a solution to the 
problem(s). If, for example, your holiday 

After stressful weeks and months in the offi  ce, 
you are eagerly awaiting a well-deserved holiday. 
But things do not quite go to plan... 

What to do when your 
 holiday goes wrong?

will last one week, a deadline of one day 
is appropriate.

And if nothing changes?
nina: In this case you could inform your 
tour guide in written form that you can-
cel your holiday booking. However you 
will then have to organise the rest of the 
holiday yourself. Of course, this is not a 
good solution. Usually it works like this: 
after returning from your holiday, you 
will request a reduction of the purchase 
price from the tour operator.

How do I get my money back?
nina: First of all you need to document 
everything. Take photos and videos and 
create a list of defi ciencies. You should 
get this countersigned by the tour 
guide. It is very important that the local 
tour guide is informed at the holiday 
destination, otherwise there will be no 
entitlement to compensation. If the tour 
guide refuses to accept your complaints, 
take a witness with you to the meeting. 
For illness resulting from the hotel food, 
go to a doctor at the holiday destination 
and get a doctor‘s certifi cate. The claims 
must be presented to your tour operator 
within one month of returning from your 
holiday. You should use a registered let-
ter with return receipt. Describe each of 
the complaints in detail and indicate the 
expected compensation amount.

Will the travel agent fully reimburse 
the price paid for the holiday?
nina: This is quite unlikely. There are 
different reductions depending on the 
type of complaint. The Frankfurt Table, 
a guideline that lists the percentage that 
may be reimbursed for specifi ed short-
comings in tourism and travel service, 
can be used as a reference.

If you do not want to end up sharing your 
hotel room with other unwelcome ‘guests’, 
you would be well advised to do some 
research fi rst on HolidayCheck’s website.

Nina Heinemann tests hotels for Holiday-
Check. she has inspected more than 230 
hotels over the last four years.

»you can fi nd more 
useful travel advice in 

the  HolidayCheck blog in 
German«

The QR (Quick Response) code is a two-dimensional bar code. With the help of an app, it can be read 
by a smartphone and takes the user directly to the required URL (Uniform Resource Locator).

nina:

he noise from the construc-he noise from the construc-

If you do not want to end up sharing your 
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 T o fi nd out how satisfi ed pati-
ents are with their physician, 
we conduct regular checks 
using the jameda barome-
ter. Based on the German 

school mark system, patients can submit 
a rating from 1 (excellent) to 6 (poor) in 

a range of categories. One important 
category is ‘waiting times’. After all, if 
your throat feels rough or your teeth are 
aching, waiting for an appointment can 
be torture! According to the patients’ 
rating, Bavaria tops the German league 
table here with an average mark of 1.8. 

By contrast, when it comes to wai-
ting times at least, satisfaction levels in 
neighbouring Thuringia are much lower 
with an average score of 2.12. Overall, 
however, as the national average score of 
2.02 demonstrates, German patients are 
pretty satisfi ed with their physicians.

Where do I have to wait longest 
for a physician‘s appointment?

1.80
Bavaria

12470

1.98
Rhineland Palatinate

3121

2.00
Hamburg

1684

2.00
North Rhine Westphalia

17059

2.00
Schleswig-Holstein

2070

2.02
Saxony-Anhalt

1236

2.02
Lower Saxony

5257

2.02
Hesse

5721

2.04
Mecklenburg Western Pomerania

863

2.07
Saxony

2692

2.09
Brandenburg

1079

2.10
Bremen

537

2.12
Thuringia

1313

1.98
Saarland

928 1.94
Baden-Wuerttemberg

8238

2.07
Berlin

3858

  
German federal state

  
National average score

  
Number of respondents 

K E y

PAT I E n T  B A R O M E T E R 

.
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End of the road for German Internet  companies? 
Are we about to be taken over by Google, 
 Facebook & Co.? 

 T he dominance of US Internet groups is obvious. 
With a market capitalisation of more than USD 
500 billion, Apple is one of the world‘s most va-
luable companies. Google dominates searches 
in the World Wide Web and Facebook, which 

boasts 845 million users, is the world‘s biggest social network. 
Have Internet companies based in Germany or other Europe-
an countries any chance at all of long-term survival or even of 
becoming an Internet giant themselves? This was the question 
discussed by the members of TOMORROW FOCUS AG‘s first 
company panel, made up of Adam Bird (Director of McKinsey 
& Company), Cornelius Patt (CEO and founder of zooplus), Dr 
Konrad Hilbers (Professor at Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität 
- LMU - in Munich), Dr Martin Spann (Professor at Ludwig-Ma-
ximilians-Universität - LMU - in Munich) and Andreas Tümmler 
(Managing Director at Corporate Finance Partners), and mode-
rated by Stefan Winners (CEO of TOMORROW  FOCUS AG). 
The panel participants were unanimous in their opinion that it 

is particularly German Internet companies that develop good 
business models with international potential, but that they usu-
ally fail to expand beyond the German-speaking area. Instead, 
they often opt to sell their own business, usually to US compe-
titors and usually at too early a stage. The probable reason was 
thought to be the greater risk aversion in this country. Business 
flops can virtually ruin one‘s future career, it was said. In the 
opinion of the panel participants, many talented young peo-
ple therefore prefer a career in a large company rather than 
starting their own business. In addition, start-ups in the USA 
are supported by business angels with sound financial backing. 
The venture capital available in the USA is 25 times greater 
than in Germany, it was said. However, there is a glimmer of 

5

»the full panel discussion 
led by stefan Winners can 
be viewed (in German) on 
the tOMOrrOW fOCUs 

youtube channel.«

The QR (Quick Response) code is a two-dimensional bar code. With the help of an app, it can be read 
by a smartphone and takes the user directly to the required URL (Uniform Resource Locator).

Expert discussions
TOMORROW FOCUS AG was represented by two 
company panels at the Medientage (Media Days) 
 trade fair in Munich for the first time in 2011.
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hope coming from German universities. Thanks to the Bologna 
reform, teaching has adopted a more international approach, 
graduates are younger and, above all, they have been trained in 
analytical thinking. So it is possible to develop a pool of talent 
as in Silicon Valley, it was thought. The panel members believe 
that there are already signs of some initial success. In Europe, 
there are more and more innovative Internet business models 
with strong network effects and ‚Berlin Valley‘ already has the 
second highest number of Internet start-ups worldwide.

The future of brand advertising: what role does 
the Internet play for brand advertising?

Tomorrow Focus AG‘s second company panel, chaired by Fo-
cus editor Dr Holger Schmidt, debated the future role of the In-
ternet for brand advertising. Marketing experts Tina Beuchler 
(Head of Media Communication at Nestlé Germany), Dr Hans-
Peter Ketterl (Head of Advertising, Media and Product Place-
ment at BMW Germany), Andreas Nassauer, (Head of Group 
Media Marketing Services and Media at Deutsche Telekom), 
Manfred Kluge (CEO of Omnicom Media Group Düsseldorf), 
Michael Trautmann (Managing Director at kempertrautmann) 

and Christoph Schuh (Management Board Member at Tomor-
row Focus) were of the opinion that although television is still 
the most important medium for image advertising, the im-
portance of the Internet as a supplementary medium to build 
up a brand is growing all the time. This synergy between the 
various media was confirmed by Christoph Schuh. Experience 
has shown that several points of contact with a brand are nee-
ded until the final purchase decision is made. It is therefore 
becoming more and more important to refine the cross-media 
evaluation of the advertising impact. 
 On the other hand, the question of whether brand adverti-
sing works in a social media context split the panel members 
into two camps. While some of them clearly endorsed the use 
of social media due to the direct way in which customers are 
addressed, others tended to be sceptical. In their opinion it still 
remains to be seen what effects brand advertising has in social 
media channels. However, all panel members agreed on one 
point: Smart TV will be the next big challenge for brand adver-
tising. The panel members found that there are many oppor-
tunities, but also a number of risks. The precondition for video 
campaigns is that consumers have a huge time budget. But this 
budget must first be acquired.
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As part of a joint venture with the Ludwig-
Maximilians-Universität (LMU) in Munich, 
Burda Digital, ProSiebenSat1 Digital and 
 TOMORROW FOCUS AG have set up an 
 Internet Business Cluster (IBC) that aims  
to identify talented young people and 
strengthen Germany’s position as a leading 
digital hub.

IBC

t e X t  Sabine Minar & Anna Frank      P H OtO s  Susanne Mölle      

I l lU st r At I O N  Tim Flach
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 T o keep up with the rapid development of the 
Internet, classical media companies worldwide 
have developed into cross-media companies in 
recent years. With new technology and services 
being generated virtually overnight a need is 

arising for fl exible and specialised employees who are wil-
ling to learn. And new qualifi cations are being called for all 
the time. The ‚war for talent‘ is therefore in full swing.
 With big names like Google, Facebook and Microsoft, 
hundreds of start-ups and, above all, with fi nancial investors 
worth billions, Silicon Valley in the USA not only dominates 
the global Internet industry, but is also the most powerful 
magnet for young talent. This is due to its unique blend of 
expertise and entrepreneurship. 
 German and European companies therefore have a lot 
of catching up to do, to promote young talent and entrepre-
neurship and also to facilitate interaction between academia 
and industry!

Getting into the fast lane
Identifying the problem is one thing, doing something about 
it is quite another. Burda Digital, ProSiebenSat.1 Digital and 
TOMORROW FOCUS in cooperation with Ludwig-Maximi-
lians-Universität (LMU) in Munich have decided to tackle 
the problem and have set up the Internet Business Cluster 
(IBC). Together the three companies have a portfolio worth 
billions comprising more than 60 Internet companies and 
are therefore among Germany‘s leading digital players. 
The university departments ‘Business Informatics and New 
Media’ under Professor Thomas Hess and ‘Electronic Com-
merce and Digital Markets’ under Professor Martin Spann 
enjoy international renown in the digital world and are well-

known for their academic expertise in relation to the Inter-
net economy.
 „Our aim is to build up a strong digital cluster in Ger-
many. As a fast-growing Internet company with numerous 
vacancies we also want to give motivated young people with 
high potential the chance to apply what they have learned,“ 
says Stefan Winners, CEO of Tomorrow Focus AG.
 The primary purpose of this alliance is clearly to 
strengthen the effi ciency and competitiveness of Germa-
ny as a digital location on a sustainable basis, to facilitate 
interaction between academia and industry and, above all, 
to discover young talent with outstanding entrepreneurial 
skills. The IBC therefore supports three practical research 
projects and specially recruits academic staff for this pur-
pose. In addition, interested students are offered various 
project courses, seminars and internships in the companies 
belonging to the IBC. Furthermore, a guest professorship 
for an academic of international standing is offered every 
summer along with fi reside discussions and workshops. The 
advantages are obvious: everyone benefi ts – students, the 
university and the companies.

A question of talent
For Stefan Winners the motives for supporting this project 
and the talent of the next generation are obvious. „We want 
to show students who we are, what we do and what makes 
us tick, through an interactive exchange. Personal contact 
with our experts and staff is particularly important in this 
context.“ Students should not only have an excellent educa-
tion and a pronounced entrepreneurial spirit, but also crea-
tivity and active cooperation in a diverse and dynamic team. 
The projects on offer, such as an examination of the online  
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1 stefan Winners welco-
mes visitors to the lMU 
lecture with skype founder 
Niklas zennström as part 
of the IBC and the DlD12 
conference. 

2 fOCUs Online editor-in-
Chief Daniel steil shows 
students around the 
portal’s newsroom.

3 Christoph schuh holding 
a lecture on the subject 
of ‘online advertising in 
the media mix’ at the 
ludwig-Maximilians-Uni-
versität (lMU) in Munich, 
Germany.

4 tft’s web business 
consultant Anian leistner 
introduces students to web 
analysis.

5 M-commerce seminar 
at tOMOrrOW fOCUs 
AG in Munich, Germany. 
twenty students present 
their results.

6 Marc Al-Hames shares 
his expertise in the evalu-
ation of Internet business 
models at the ludwig-
Maximilians-Universität 
(lMU) in Munich. 

7 students from the faculty 
of electronic Commerce 
and Digital Markets during 
a visit to tOMOrrOW 
fOCUs AG 

1 2

3 4

5

6



and mobile advertising portfolio or the identifi cation of trend  
products, not only allow young talent to be discovered, but 
also generate valuable stimulus from research. 

A packed lecture theatre
A special highlight was the public lecture of Skype founder 
and Internet pioneer Niklas Zennström at LMU in Munich 
on 23 January 2012. The hosts were IBC and the DLD12 
(Digital Life Design) Conference which was being held in 
Munich at the same time. The lecture was followed by so 
many interested students that even the stairs in the lecture 
theatre were turned into seats. Among the celebrities in the 
audience were Professor Dr Hubert Burda and Martin Zeil, 
Bavarian State Minister of Economic Affairs, Infrastructure, 
Transport and Technology and Deputy Minister President. 
TOMORROW FOCUS CEO Stefan Winners had the task of 
welcoming the guest of honour. He then handed over the 
microphone to XING founder and Internet investor Lars Hin-
richs who moderated the questions. 
 From Niklas Zennström the students learned at fi rst 
hand how a large and internationally successful corporate 
group can emerge from a fi xed idea. As is so often the case, 
it all started with an everyday problem, an excessive tele-
phone bill. Niklas Zennström developed the idea into Skype 
in 2002. Ten years later users can telephone free of charge 
via Skype. It sounds so simple in theory. So Niklas Zenn-
ström frankly told about the self-doubts that plagued him 
and his team when putting the idea into practice and about 
the diffi culties they had in fi nding investors.  
 He also gave the students some valuable advice for In-
ternet start-ups. Universities play an important role here as 
they bring students closer to the fundamental principles of 
economic effi ciency. After all, you need to know what fi gures 

you are putting your signature to, adds Niklas Zennström 
with a smile on his lips. 

A look at the practical side
Another exciting IBC project was the visit of 20 students 
from the university department ‘Electronic Commerce and 
Digital Markets’. TOMORROW FOCUS AG set seven topics 
from the fi eld of social commerce which the students wor-
ked on and fi nally presented at the offi ces of TOMORROW 
FOCUS in Munich.  
 In return the students were given an insight into the prac-
tical side of the work during a talk held by TFT on the sub-
ject of conversion and web analysis, and during the following 
tour through the FOCUS Online newsroom with Editor-in-
Chief Daniel Steil who explained the online media landscape 
and talked about what life is like on an editorial board. 
 The visit to LMU was made by Christoph Schuh, Mem-
ber of the TOMORROW FOCUS Management Board and 
Marc Al-Hames, Head of Corporate Development. Christoph 
Schuh held a talk on the subject of online advertising in a 
media-mix at the ‘Electronic Commerce and Digital Markets’ 
department. Marc Al-Hames shared his expertise on the eva-
luation of Internet business models. 

7

»Qr code for the video 
of the lecture with 
Niklas zennström«

The QR (Quick Response) code is a two-dimensional bar code. With the help of an app, it can be read 
by a smartphone and takes the user directly to the required URL (Uniform Resource Locator).
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Mobilecamp 2011
From 7 to 9 October 2011 it was time for 
the big event. Mobile developers, desi-
gners, concept creators and fans got 
together at the Elbcampus in Hamburg-
Harburg, Germany, for Mobilecamp 
2011. CELLULAR not only attended as 
a local sponsor, but also introduced the 

work of a full-service agency in the mo-
bile sector during the three-day event. 
In many interesting talks and work-
shops the participants had the oppor-
tunity to exchange ideas, digest some 
new food for thought and jointly indul-
ge their passion for all things mobile.

In January 2012 TOMORROW FOCUS AG hosted its traditional dinner for members 
of the German Internet and media sector during the DLD (Digital Life Design) 
Conference. This was the 7th time that this event had taken place and it has now 
become one of the most important evening highlights of the DLD Conference. 
This year‘s TOMORROW FOCUS online dinner was held for the first time at the 
‘Garden’ restaurant of the ‘Bayerischer Hof’ hotel. It is a venue where prominent 
members of the Internet sector meet up with investors, journalists and customers 
of TOMORROW FOCUS AG to exchange ideas and make new contacts. 

tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG lets its 
staff have their say at the annual 
employee’s Day. this year, almost 
400 employees from all of the 
 tOMOrrOW fOCUs Group loca-
tions arrived in Munich, Germany, 
to find out about the latest develop-
ments in the group of companies 
and particularly, to pose direct 
questions to Management Board 
Members and Managing Directors. 
the day began with status and stra-
tegy presentations from the Mem-
bers of the Management Board, 
stefan Winners, Christoph schuh 
and Dr Dirk schmelzer, as well as 
the Chairperson of the supervisory 
Board, Dr Paul-Bernhard Kallen. 
the group companies then infor-
med the audience on best-practice 
projects. A relaxed end to the day 
was marked with a traditional sum-
mer party on Prater Island located 
in the middle of the Isar river.

The TOMORROW FOCUS 
Online Dinner

KEy EvEnT FOR THE SECTOR

Ask the 
 Management 
Board

EMPLOyEE’S DAy 2012 
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85 percent of Germans never click 
on banner ads. Nevertheless, online 
advertising still works. The results 
from current studies carried out by the 
digital marketer TOMORROW FOCUS 
Media show that online advertising 
is often more memorable than other 
forms of media advertising.
 Up until now, the success of online 
advertising has been put down to the ‘click’ 
which the digital media industry has long 

regarded as the dominant measurement 
parameter – even for large-scale image 
campaigns. In 2011, TOMORROW 
FOCUS Media invested heavily in 
advertising effectiveness research and 
proved - not least with the latest study 
on the advertising effectiveness beyond 
the click - that other performance factors 
were necessary for the evaluation of 
branding campaigns. At the same time, 
the digital marketer established the new 

Reporting Plus campaign which presents 
decisive variables such as the visibility of 
the advertising material, willingness to 
buy, brand awareness, recognition and 
identifi cation.
 At dmexco, Germany’s largest 
trade fair for digital marketing and 
advertising, TOMORROW FOCUS Media 
symbolically laid the ‘ad click’ to rest 
and asked experts about their opinion. 
You can fi nd the answers in the video. 

 The ‘click’ is dead
Tiny Post-its reading ‘The click is dead!’ could be found everywhere – 
all over counters, stands and doors – at the dmexco 2011, Germany’s 
largest digital marketing and advertising trade fair. But who and above 
all what was behind the stunt?

»Qr-Code to the video«

The QR (Quick Response) code is a two-dimensional bar code. With the help of an app, it can be read 
by a smartphone and takes the user directly to the required URL (Uniform Resource Locator).

31

engage

tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG 2011



ACTION.

32



f
r

e
e

s
t

y
l

e



Intuition at work – HolidayCheck 

 Warning! Attempted 
manipulation!’ You 
cannot miss the stri-
king red label next 
to the photograph 

of the pool at the Minamark Beach Re-
sort in Hurghada. And just in case there 
were any doubts, a message opens at 
the same time advising users that Holi-
dayCheck has evidence of bogus ratings 
submitted for the hotel. It is a timely 
warning for those who may be planning 
their holiday through the site – and just 
one example of the dedication shown by 
HolidayCheck’s quality assurance team. 
 HolidayCheck has always kept an 
eye on the ratings entered by its users. 
In the early days, every single rating 
was checked before it was added to the 
site – child’s play when you are talking 
about a handful of entries each day. 
Since then, however, the number of ra-
tings has shot up, and the task of che-
cking falls to an eighty-strong team in 
the Content Quality Assurance depart-
ment, helped by a filter application and 
some very sophisticated algorithms. 
Led by Tobias Hammer, the team cer-
tainly has its hands full. Around two 
thousand ratings are submitted every 
day, and in the high season that figure 
can easily double to four thousand. The 
staff also have to view and check count-
less photographs, videos and enqui-
ries. It is a mammoth task. For a long 
time now, not just users submit their 

ratings. Increasingly, hotel owners and 
PR agencies try to use the portal for 
their own (occasionally dubious) ends. 
The job of Tobias Hammer’s team is to 
make sure these entries do not distort 
the ratings of individual hotels. 
 HolidayCheck’s success depends 
on the quality of the entries posted 
on the site. “We need genuine and in-
formative ratings, not ratings that are 
either purely subjective or that are not 
based on personal experience,” says 
Tobias Hammer. Out of all the ent-
ries received, ten percent are rejected 
straight away simply because they do 
not comply with the terms and condi-
tions. The rest are checked meticulous-
ly with the help of the filter software. 
The team has 48 hours to identify 
and delete any bogus ratings. It 
is important because such ent-
ries inevitably create resentment 
among users. If holidaymakers 
return dissatisfied with the hotel 
and the level of service provided, 
the result can be a deluge of ne-
gative ratings and complaints. Ho-
lidayCheck is determined to stop that 
happening – and not just in its own 
interest.
 Ratings are critical to the hotels‘ 
survival, too. “There is a lot of pressu-
re. If a hotel’s ranking falls below 70 
percent, it may well find it difficult to 
attract bookings or get included in a 
tour brochure,” says Tobias Hammer. 

The fact that HolidayCheck has now become the top 
German-language hotel ratings platform is thanks in 
no small part to its users. Unfortunately, though, not 
all users play by the rules, and HolidayCheck also 
has to deal with bogus ratings and dubious entries.

t e X t  Barbara Kaspar          P H OtO s  Susanne Mölle
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Cooperation rather  
than  confrontation
In the first few years, there was a lot 
of resistance to the ratings, although 
most hotel owners can now see the 
advantages. They can upload pictures 
and text for each hotel in their own 
area of the site and can also comment 
on their ratings. It helps them to es-
tablish contact with potential guests 
and allows them to provide first-hand 
information and remedy any problems 
as soon as they arise. HolidayCheck 
has been running workshops for some 
time on how to deal with comments 
and suggestions from guests, with 
advice on strategies for improving the 
number of ratings.
 As a result, hotels are now much 
more inclined to cooperate with Holi-
dayCheck and report any suspicious 
approaches made to them. One owner 
received an email from an agency war-
ning that the hotel’s reputation was in 
danger and that it risked a decline in 
sales. The agency claimed it could help 

boost the hotel’s reputation by submit-
ting bogus ratings on a number of por-
tals – for a fee, of course. The owner 
had been targeted by a so-called ‘re-
putation agency.’ “We don’t hesitate to 
take legal action,” was HolidayCheck’s 
response to the agency in question.
 In most cases, users and hoteliers 
rub shoulders in an entirely peaceful 
fashion on the HolidayCheck portal, 
although it is not always possible to 
avoid confrontation between those who 
have submitted negative ratings and 
aggrieved hotel owners, some of whom 
react by threatening an injunction if 
the user comment is not removed. 
When this happens, the Complaints 
Management team will try to mediate 
impartially between the hotel and the 
author of the rating. If the matter does 
go to court, however, it is often the ho-
tel that loses out. Most courts find in 
favour of the user, taking the view that 
ratings are intended to allow people to 
express their opinion freely – providing 
they are worded objectively and do not 

constitute slander or an attack on the 
hotel’s reputation. 

Tracking down bogus entries
Bogus entries are usually picked up first 
by the content team. First of all, a de-
dicated software checks the text for in-
sulting words or for typical advertising 
brochure language – a key indicator 
that the hotel owner may have penned 
the effusive entry. After this automatic 
screening process, any suspicious ent-
ries are re-read by the forty-strong con-
tent review team. If any inconsistencies 
are spotted, the team then contacts the 
author of the rating. Should the person 
appear suspicious, they may request 
evidence (e.g. a booking confirmation 
or bill) that he or she did indeed stay 
at the hotel. In such cases, that proof is 
often not forthcoming.
 More and more frequently, as well 
as dealing with reputation agencies 
and owners who submit ratings for 
their own hotel, the quality assurance 
team at HolidayCheck have to keep 

Members of HolidayCheck‘s  
Content Quality Assurance team  
in  Bottighofen, switzerland.
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up with the tricks employed by mar-
keting agents. 
 Many bogus entries come from ho-
tels in the Alps. “Austria is a popular 
holiday region. There are lots of hotels, 
and many make a living from tourism,” 
says Quality Control team leader Flori-
an Schneider. The pressure on hotels to 
maximise occupancy is high. “Also in 
the Mediterranean region, in Turkey, in 
Egypt and wherever tourism is well de-
veloped, people will often do whatever 
they can themselves to boost numbers.” 
It is in these countries that the team 
come across the most energetic attemp-
ts to influence ratings – probably, sug-
gests Florian Schneider, because the 
managers are not actually aware that 
they are doing anything wrong. 

The mini-label with a big impact
HolidayCheck now has a number of 
weapons in its armoury to tackle the 
problem of cheating. One of these in-
volves labelling hotel ratings that have 
clearly been manipulated. Lillyland 

Beach Hotel in Hurghada, Egypt, now 
appears on the site with the level-one 
message ‘Warning! Suspected mani-
pulation!’ Minamark Beach Resort, 
also in Hurghada, has the same label. 
It is a very effective tool, because tour 
operators keep a watchful eye on their 
hotel ratings. If a hotel receives a poor 
rating or is suspected of cheating, it 
runs the risk of losing business from 
major tour operators, such as TUI. So 
the decision to try and manipulate a 
rating can have serious consequences.
HolidayCheck is fully aware of its re-
sponsibility in this area. Whenever it 
labels an entry as suspicious or bogus, 
the team simultaneously notifies the 
hotel’s management. “We contact the 
hotel and discuss the situation. That 
way, the hotel owner can do its own 
research, too,” says Florian Schneider. 
In many cases, the reasons for submit-
ting the entry turn out presumably to 
have been well-intentioned. One hotel 
owner discovered that the ratings iden-
tified as bogus by HolidayCheck had 
been placed by an over-zealous emplo-
yee. Once the issue was clarified, the 
warning label was removed.
 The aim of these measures is to 
reinforce the site’s already high stan-
ding in terms of credibility and authen-
ticity. Following media news on bogus 
hotel ratings, a veritable flood of arti-
cles and TV reports on the subject was 
disseminated. As head of the content 
team, Florian Schneider is annoyed 

by the fact that the fake ratings shown 
by TV broadcasters were not particu-
larly realistic. “Attempts at cheating 
by owners and agencies are intended 
to place their hotels in a better light, 
and we have been very successful at 
uncovering these using all the means 
at our disposal. By contrast, all that 
matters to the TV broadcasters is get-
ting their fake ratings on the site at any 
price. Mostly, this involves combining 
a number of existing ratings to make 
up a new one that often makes no sen-
se at all, such as ‘Hamburg hotel with 
mountain view’. Statements like that 
are just not realistic, so we can’t be 100 
percent sure of tracking them down.” 
 Despite its success, HolidayCheck 
is not resting on its laurels. The Con-
tent Quality Assurance team is still 
working to improve the customer log-
in process, refine its filters and develop 
new algorithms for use in the rating 
process. Another idea for the future is 
to label ratings that have proven reli-
able. “There’s always something else 
you can try. You have to keep adapting 
and be open to the possibility of a com-
plete change,” says Florian Schneider. 
After all, HolidayCheck wants to have 
its service externally certified and pass 
the crucial test – the comparison sur-
vey conducted by the German consu-
mer organisation ‘Stiftung Warentest’. 
The aim is to repeat its performance in 
2010, when HolidayCheck emerged as 
the winner.
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FP breaking news: 
„NEWS FLASH @@@ 
NICOSIA: Gaddafi cap-
tured (Commander of 
the National Transitio-

nal Council and Libyan media)“ (Quote 
will be presented graphically.). Reuters 
follows two minutes later: „LIBYA /
GADDAFI (BREAKING NEWS) interim 
government - Gaddafi captured = Tri-
poli, 20 Oct. (Reuters) - According to 
the interim government, Libya‘s long-

situation.“ The jobs are soon allocated. 
The journalists need to turn their hand 
to any subject, but each have their own 
special fields where they can deliver 
with particular speed and expertise. In 
the meantime the newsroom is abuzz 
with the details of the capture which 
the agencies are now spitting out by 
the minute. 
 Gaddafi‘s capture, shortly follo-
wed by reports of his death, is a major 
challenge for the newsroom, launched 

standing ruler, Muammar al-Gaddafi, 
has been captured. Both his legs have 
been injured, they say.“ (Quote will be 
prepared graphically.)
 On this afternoon Florian Festl is 
the managing editor. It is up to him 
to put the news online in a matter of 
minutes. While Florian Festl is typing, 
Editor-in-Chief Daniel Steil and the 
political journalists rush into the news-
room. „I‘ll get down to the biographical 
profile.“ „I‘ll take care of analysing the 

Early in the morning of 20 October no one at the editorial board of  
FOCUS  Online even dreamed that the day would bring a sensation.  
At 13.21 hours the computers in the newsroom sounded the alarm.  

 Around the world 

in 24 hours 

Giving you a head start

24h

A
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last September and the new centrepi-
ece of FOCUS Online. The boss is the 
managing editor. It is he who decides 
what goes online, when it goes online 
and where it appears on the website. 
He can see how users respond to the 
articles by the viewing fi gures for each 
article, each video and each picture 
gallery, and he adjusts the page accor-
dingly. At the same time, he keeps an 
eye on the TV news channels and the 
online reporting of the competition 
which he follows on four screens. 
 Many of the images shown on 20 
October and on the days that followed 
were not images he wished to show 
to users of FOCUS Online. The victors 
drag Gaddafi ‘s bloodied body through 
the dust in a way that no hunter would 
treat wild game. They put the corpse 
on show and celebrate their victory. 
 The newly appointed managing 
news editor keeps an eye on the fl ood 
of agency reports – the death of Gadda-
fi , a denial of the report and each bloo-
dy detail of the fi ghting in Gaddafi ‘s 
stronghold Sirte. On a normal day he 
deals with around 2000 reports. Two 
editors process the agency reports un-
der his direction, with a clear heading, 
a teaser, images, videos and links. 

A test of strength
In summer, Daniel Steil joined the 
team as the new Editor-in-Chief. Until 
then there were no permanent mana-
ging editors. The news editors swit-
ched between the jobs of managing 
editor, carrying out research for their 
own articles and processing agency 
news. In addition, the managing edi-
tor also had to act as managing news 
editor. „Thanks to specialisation and 
the new allocation of tasks, our team 
has become faster; we have more ex-
clusive, self-researched articles,“ says 
Daniel Steil.
 2011 was a test of strength for 
FOCUS Online with the new organi-
sation and the changes in personnel. 

searched backgrounds and articles on 
fi nance, health, the digital world and 
travelling with concrete practical tips. 
„The target group of FOCUS Online are 
active working adults who are highly 
success-driven and have with a thirst 
for knowledge. We help these movers 
and shakers to stay on track; for them 
we are at the pulse of the action with 
fascinating news every minute,“ says 
Oliver Eckert.
 Days with sensational news, like 
20 October 2011, mean a lot of page 
views for FOCUS Online. „But we 
can‘t sit back and relax,“ says Daniel 
Steil. So on this evening as well they 
are planning how to develop the vari-
ous topics. The journalists are prepa-
ring an interview with a specialist who 
was in Libya during the war. And the 
work even goes all through the night. 
Recently FOCUS Online was one of the 
fi rst online editorial boards in Germany 
to introduce night editors to update the 
pages each and every night. This goes 
on until the early shift arrives at 6 a.m. 
and everything starts all over again.

On the following pages you can see how 
the editorial staff of FOCUS Online dealt 
with the Costa Concordia desaster.

More than 30 editors had to be trained 
just for the new newsroom concept. 
In addition to changes in the editori-
al board, management also pushed 
ahead with radical reforms to the rest 
of the company. After joining the team 
in November 2010, Managing Director 
Oliver Eckert, for example, introdu-
ced a Marketing department for the 
fi rst time and repositioned the Product 
Development division. The sale of ad-
vertising space is now supported and 
promoted by a new specialised team 
of channel managers. „We demanded 
a lot of the team - but it was worth the 
effort,“ says Oliver Eckert. 
 That sounds a lot like PR, but it is 
true. In 2011 FOCUS Online not only 
tackled the greatest reorganisation of 
its history, but enjoyed its biggest suc-
cess. FOCUS Online has become pro-
fi table and with more than 46 million 
visits in January 2012 it had the best 
month ever - an increase of 54 percent 
in comparison with January 2011.
 For Managing Director Oliver 
Eckert the numbers prove that the 
concept was right. „Focus Online gi-
ves its users a head start.“ It includes 
a page with exactly the right mix of 
topics: hard facts and a rapid fl ow of 
information on politics, business and 
sport. This is ensured by carefully re-
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„I did a Mediterranean cruise on that ship last May (...). We did a safety drill as soon 
as we left savona although the passengers didn‘t show that much interest. you know 
what it‘s like from fl ying, people don‘t really listen.“in the focus Online Community on this 

day, 175 comments concern the Costa 
Concordia. One of the readers writes:

2146 comments

One topic, one team!
Monday, 16 January 2012: At FOCUS Online the big story of the day is the 
 grounded cruise ship ‘Costa Concordia’. 

11:00 13:0012:00 14:00 15:00

16.49

13.13

11.56

Knowledge editor Christa Steinlein 
interviews the Director of the German 
Federal Bureau of Maritime Casualty 
Investigation. Should not a captain be 
the last person to leave a ship?

Knowledge editor Christa Steinlein 
interviews the Director of the German 
Federal Bureau of Maritime Casualty 
Investigation. Should not a captain be 

To cast some light on the confused 
events, FOCUS correspondent Eva 
Kallinger sends a summary from 
Rome. She has top access to original 
sources.

News editor Florian Festl talks with 
Costa Concordia passenger Bernhard 
Sperger on the phone. He listens to a 
fi rst-hand account of the fear felt by 
the passengers.

 Around the world 

in 24 hours 

Giving you a head start

24h
40
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Posts and news on the Costa Concordia disaster are shared and exchanged through 
focus Online‘s social media pages. A constantly increasing number of social media 
users access the news portal. On facebook, fOCUs Online gains an average of 70 
new fans each day.

The head of the newsroom is the managing editor. 
Today Jens Bauszus is checking what goes on the 
page, when and where. On the monitors he keeps an 
eye on the competition. Computer programs show 
him the current numbers of visitors.

The head of the newsroom is the managing editor. 
Today Jens Bauszus is checking what goes on the 
page, when and where. On the monitors he keeps an 
eye on the competition. Computer programs show 
him the current numbers of visitors.

16:00 18:0017:00 19:00 20:00

page visits

600.000

200.000

400.000

0

19.15

Video editors Oliver Markert and Michael 
Netsch search for video material on the 
web and among agencies and put it to-
gether to form compact and informative 
news videos.

0

Video editors Oliver Markert and Michael 
Netsch search for video material on the 
web and among agencies and put it to-
gether to form compact and informative 

Travel writer Corinna Schneider questions 
experts from the German automobile club, 
ADAC, and the European Cruises Associ-
ation. What can passengers do to protect 
themselves in such a situation?

17.09

Travel writer Corinna Schneider questions 
experts from the German automobile club, 
ADAC, and the European Cruises Associ-
ation. What can passengers do to protect 

total of 1,25 Mio. visits that day
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jameda established itself as the market leader in spring 2011. 
With a complete relaunch of the site’s functionality and design, 
the aim is now to set it apart even further from the competition.

Great teamwork, 
perfect timing
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 It’s 6.48 in the morning on 16 
December 2011. Michael Nowak, 
Chief Technology Officer (CTO) at 
Germany’s top physician ratings 
portal jameda, puts the finishing 

touches to what has probably been the 
company’s greatest challenge since 
it was founded only a few years ago. 
jameda’s revamped site is now live on the 
web with a new design and host of brand 
new functions. “We were just incredib-
ly relieved at being able to relaunch the 
site just in time, and I was looking for-
ward to getting some sleep. The whole 

know which physicians have more ex-
perience of their particular illness and 
will be prepared to travel further to find 
a suitable practice. The mother of an 
eight-year old with tooth decay needs 
a dentist who is good with children 
and can take their mind off the drill. 
In short, to make sure patients find the 
right physician, it is not just a case of 
searching for a particular speciality or 
location. You need to add in a few more 
criteria. “We were clear right from the 
start that the next stage of develop-
ment had to focus in greater depth 

early on in 2011 and was being used by 
more patients than any other portal to 
find and rate physicians. The aim now 
was to build on this market-leading po-
sition by offering a superior product. At 
the same time, the team wanted to con-
solidate this success by introducing a 
new corporate design that would make 
the site really stand out from its com-
petitors. CEO Philipp Goos believes 
jameda was at just the right stage in its 
development for a complete relaunch: 
“Once you reach a certain corporate 
size, it gets increasingly difficult to 

project was a massive development, and 
it wasn’t until a few days later, when we 
got our first feedback from users, that we 
could be really sure it had been a suc-
cess,” says Michael Nowak.
 The project had begun to take sha-
pe exactly 218 days earlier, on 12 May 
2011, when the relaunch team, hea-
ded by CEO Dr Philipp Goos and CTO 
Michael Nowak, held its first meeting 
to define the specific objectives of the 
project. It soon became clear that this 
would be a relaunch on a huge scale.
 There were several good reasons 
for taking on such an ambitious re-
launch project. On the one hand, jame-
da had taken a clear lead in its field 

on patients’ different needs,” explains 
product manager Fritz Edelmann. So 
with help from the Group’s technical 
and creative arm, Tomorrow Focus 
Technologies (TFT), the team decided 
to home in on what visitors to the site 
really wanted and adopt a user-centred 
design for the entire relaunch.
 The design process began with a 
patient survey, the aim being to find 
out when people use jameda, what 
they expect and want from a physician 
search, and what they are looking for in 
their choice of physician. The answers 
to these and other questions were ana-
lysed by the jameda development team 
together with users.    

implement such far-reaching changes 
efficiently, and with jameda growing so 
rapidly, we will soon be at that point. 
That’s why we felt it was the ideal and 
probably the last opportunity to go for 
a relaunch on this scale.”

Patient-led search at heart of 
jameda’s relaunch 
Patients looking for a physician have 
different needs. Successful city dwel-
lers in their thirties will look for a 
surgery around the corner when they 
have a cold. They want someone who 
will prescribe the appropriate medici-
ne quickly and without any fuss. Those 
with chronic conditions will want to 

CtO and jameda co-founder Michael Nowak (centre) heads the relaunch team. Product Manager fritz edelmann (left) is responsible for site 
functionality. Art Director Jan richter (right) is in charge of the colour scheme and the logo.

Great teamwork, 
perfect timing
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The survey results lie at the heart of 
the new portal and were taken into 
account in the new physician search 
design, for example. Following the re-
launch, patients can now filter and thus 
narrow down the list of hits, according 
to their needs, as often as they wish 
until they find the right physician. The 
system includes filters that allow users 
to search, as before, by location and 
specialism. In addition, they can now 
refine their search to identify practices 
with work-friendly opening hours, spe-
cific qualifications and training of the 
physician, or particularly good ratings 

A distinctive look 
The challenge facing Art Director Jan 
Richter was to create a distinctive new 
corporate design that would be instant-
ly recognisable. And the ‘new jameda’ 
certainly is striking with its catchy logo 
and a wider range of colours, including 
strong greens and blues. Both help to 
make the site stand out much more. 
The designers have been busy tidying 
up, too. The home page is much leaner, 
drawing visitors immediately to the 
physician search in the centre. 
 “The 218-day relaunch was incre-
dibly intensive for the whole jameda 

This involved working closely with 
users and analysing their behaviour 
during the rating process based on 
prototypes of the new jameda portal. 
The developers took out anything that 
might distract users and restructured 
the way ratings were entered. Patients 
now have to start by providing a brief 
account of their experience before 
going on to award a score for each of 
the stipulated criteria. “By making the 
written section obligatory, there was a 
risk that the number of ratings would 
fall considerably,” says Phillip Goos. 
“Still, we felt that giving individual 

in categories such as waiting times, 
child-friendliness and parking. 

Quantity and quality 
“I’m very satisfied. The treatment and 
facilities were excellent, although I 
had to wait ages for an appointment.” 
For jameda users, feedback such as 
this from patients on their experience 
at a particular practice is crucial when 
it comes to choosing a physician. 
According to the patient surveys, per-
sonal observations are actually more 
important than a simple rating. Con-
sequently, one of the main aims of the 
relaunch was to encourage users to 
give more detailed written feedback. 

team. Now we can breathe a sigh of 
relief and take pride in what we have 
achieved. There is one thing we are all 
sure of. We are not only the biggest but 
also the best physician ratings portal 
in Germany by a long way,” concludes 
Phillip Goos.
 

reasons for a rating was so important 
that we decided to take the risk in any 
case.”
 Fortunately, the team’s concerns 
proved unnecessary. The restructu-
ring of the rating process was so suc-
cessful that the inclusion of an obli-
gatory written section did not lead to 
fewer ratings. In fact the opposite oc-
curred. “Since relaunch, the number 
of ratings submitted by users on jame-
da has shot up by 20 percent overall. 
What’s more, the number of ratings 
containing written feedback is up by 
as much as 60 percent,” says Markus 
Reif, Head of Search Engine Optimisa-
tion and Cooperations. 

Developer Marian sollmann (left) is responsible for mobile apps and the new site layout. Head of seO and cooperation expert Markus reif 
(right) is responsible for ensuring that jameda and the physicians listed on the site appear right up in the search engine rankings.
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1  Homepage
first impressions count. Just one glance at the homepage and it is  immediately
obvious what jameda is and what it does. the search bar is located in a 
prominent position so that visitors can get started right away.

2  Physician ratings
Whenever you submit a rating, you will now have to complete the free-text
box fi rst before moving on to the fun scoring section.

3  Physician detail page
the redesigned physician detail pages are more compact and clearly 
structured. this makes it easier for physicians to provide information 
about themselves and their practice specialisms.

4  Detail card
the overview card contains a list of physicians in your area. Using the 
new fi lter bar, users can gradually fi ne-tune their search until they fi nd 
the most suitable practice for their particular requirements.

1 3

2 4
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AMICA‘s next top model: AMICA 

Online brought Gabriela Zakova 

to the Lena Hoschek catwalk! 

In a Facebook poll, the winner 

came out on top against other 

 up-and-coming models.

AMICA Online reports from fashion 

events around the world. The Berlin 

 Fashion Week Special was sponsored by 

the Schumacher fashion label this year.

For those who want to  holiday 

in celebrity style - see the 

travel page for useful tips.

The latest beauty products regularly arrive 

in the editorial offi ce. The editorial team get 

to try these products out for themselves!

tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG 2011
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Live in style 
Online

A popular category: Body 

& Diets. The editorial 

team present the latest 

slimming products and 

reveal celeb secrets to 

staying in shape.
The Love & Life team offer 

advice on love matters. 

Psychological tests and 

expert interviews answer 

burning questions such as 

‘Why was he unfaithful?’

Kerstin Kotlar and Veronika Schaller report 

on getting up close and personal with the 

celebs. Kerstin Kotlar interviewed Bettina 

Zimmermann, whilst Veronika Schaller met 

the sexiest man alive - Hugh Jackman.

What is in and what is not?

All is revealed in the fashion 

column. You can chat about the 

latest trends in the Fashion blog.

The AMICA iPad 

app was released 

in August 2011. 

Pictures lead 

the reader to the 

latest stories and 

allow for an intu-

itive navigation of 

the website.
with
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TFT carries out relaunch 
of top Swiss news portal 
Blick.ch.

 T OMORROW FOCUS Tech-
nologies (TFT) has carried 
out a full relaunch of the 
Swiss news portal blick.ch 
for its rapidly expanding 

readership. The result is a highly mo-
dern news portal with improved usa-
bility and greater technical flexibility 
thanks to the new content management 
system. On this basis TFT, together 
with its implementation partner unitB, 
not only realised the classical website, 
but also the mobile services for smart-
phones and tablets. In addition to the 
related migration of 175,000 articles 
and more than one million images, TFT 
is also responsible for guaranteeing 
highly scalable operation.

A real 
 eyecatcher

WHICH CArD sUIts Me? 

fOCUs Online has improved 
the services and advice offered 
at its Cardscout.de website and 
has optimised these features for 
mobile terminals. At cardscout.de 
users can compare more than one 
hundred credit cards and find the 
best one to suit them.

the top priority for the new site is to enhance the user’s 
experience by offering an immediate overview of the most 
important events and the latest news.

B R I E F  A n D  C O n C I S E

InTRAnET 2.0 

Realtime communication for 
the staff: TFT has developed 
a new social media intranet 
for the TOMORROW FOCUS 
Group in cooperation with the 
Group Communication unit 
of  TOMORROW FOCUS AG. 
now every member of staff can 
post, share, comment on and 
link contents or set up groups. 
now it is easier for staff at the 
various locations to network and 
exchange ideas. 38 discussion 
groups on topics such as social 
media, user experience and SEO 
were already formed in the first 
three weeks. Knowledge can 
therefore be exchanged across 
the entire company, a process 
from which everyone stands to 
benefit. The platform has been 
designed in such a way that it 
can also be used by other com-
panies as a white label solution. 
Its success speaks for itself. The 
use of the new intranet has more 
than doubled in comparison with 
the previous version. 

for sports fans, the live centre offers 24-hour coverage and results. you can follow every match or race 
on Blick.ch, with special articles (including previews, live ticker and match reports) and all the statistics 
on the top players and games.
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Lakeside 
establish-
ment 
In July 2011 a special 
 building project got off 
the ground in Bottig-
hofen, Switzerland. 
 HolidayCheck was erec-
ting a new office building 
on the banks of Lake 
Constance in order to 
bring together the staff 
who had previously been 
divided up among diffe-
rent offices. The progress 
of the building work 
could be  followed via 
webcam. 

F Av O U R I T E  T v  S H O W 

TV in your pocket

 Commissioned by Austria‘s 
leading telecommunica-
tions company A1, the full-
service agency  CELLULAR 
designed and mobilised 

the television platform A1 TV App. 
The three key features of mobile tele-
vision were therefore combined: the 
programme guide with an overview of 

more than 150 channels; live television 
which transmits normal television pro-
grammes in a high-resolution and wit-
hout interruption, as well as the A1 vi-
deo store with more than 1,000 movies. 
The app is available for Android, iPho-
ne and iPad. You can therefore receive 
optimal mobile access to your favourite 
television show on almost any device.
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We are 
in the picture!
We have accepted the challenge and taken up the 
pen to describe our vision and the mission of the 
TOMORROW FOCUS Group, defining all goals and 
the values we stand for every day. 

I l lU st r At I O N  Volker Schumann





 T he Philosopher Plato belie-
ved that men and women 
were originally bound to 
each other in a circle with 
four hands and feet and 

two faces. After Godfather Zeus cut 
this human circle in two out of jealousy 
of their combined strength, they lon-
ged to be reunited with their other hal-
ves. Although the underlying concept 
of this myth - the search for our other 
half - is as prominent today as it was 
100 or even 1000 years ago, the me-
thods used to search for partners are 
constantly changing. One of the most 
signifi cant changes in recent years 
came with the new wave of digitalisa-
tion. Nowadays, around seven milli-
on people use online dating websites 
every month. And they are successful 
in their search. More than 3.5 million 
Germans are living with a partner who 
they met on the internet. The trend is 
increasing. „In three to four years, the 
majority of couples will meet online“, 
says Dr Jost Schwaner, Managing Di-
rector at ElitePartner. 

EliteMatching: scientifi cally-
based partner searches
One of the main reasons to look for a 
partner online is the wide variety of 
singles looking for a relationship - not 
least due to the potential within their 
own social circles wearing thin. The 
partner search on ElitePartner starts 
with EliteMatching. Based on the re-
sults of a personality test, a computer 
algorithm matches the singles who are 
particularly compatible. This compati-
bility is expressed in matching points: 
the higher the points, the greater the 
chances of a long-term, happy relati-
onship. So what are the exact criteria 
to determine who is compatible with 
whom? Does the proverb ‘birds of a 
feather fl ock together’ come into play 
here or do opposites really attract?

Birds of a feather 
fl ock together?
According to Professor Dr Burghard 
Andresen, a scientifi c consultant on 
the topic of matchmaking at ElitePart-
ner, both of these principles must be 
taken into consideration for the part-
ner search, but in quite different areas. 
„The principle of opposition partially 
applies to the physical features, mainly 
those associated with the genes of the 
immune system and sexual orientati-
on, whilst the principle of similitude 
plays a role with respect to personali-
ty traits, attitudes and values. We are 
more likely to be happy with someone 
with whom we are compatible in the-
se areas,“ says Dr Andresen. A healthy 
distance according to the principle of 
opposition has a positive effect on the 

When serious online matchmaking agencies fi rst came about in Germany, they 
were largely viewed with scepticism and prejudice. Couples who met over the 
 internet were frequently teased and therefore often kept it a secret. Since then, 
searching for a partner online has become as natural as online banking.

 in the 
 Internet era

Dr Jost Schwaner
Managing Director 
at elitePartner

„IN THREE TO FOUR 
 YEARS, THE MAJORITY 

OF COUPLES WILL 
MEET ONLINE“

t e X t  Kathrin Hövekamp
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relationship, for example concerning 
the issues of proximity/distance, self-
suffi ciency/neediness and subordinati-
on/dominance. However, the principle 
of similitude is important with regard 
to the ability to communicate, be em-
pathetic, deal with confl ict and cope 
with stress. We simply get on better 
with a partner if they more or less have 
the same attitude and goals as us - if 
we are on the same wavelength.
 A computer algorithm that predicts 
whether two people are going to fall in 
love? Sounds too good to be true. And 
indeed we do have to be aware of the li-
mitations of such a process, according 
to Professor Dr Andresen: „Of course, 
a computer will not be able to predict 
whether there will be chemistry or not. 
This is up to the couple themselves to 
fi nd out - and so it should be. However, 
a good compatibility test can increase 
the likelihood of two people coming 
together, falling in love and building 
a fulfi lling and stable relationship with 
one another.“ Rather than placing too 
much emphasis on online communica-

tion, Dr Andresen recommends mee-
ting each other quickly to kick-start the 
reality check. This is the only way in 
which to fi nd out how you really feel 
about the other person. Anna and Se-
bastian, who met via ElitePartner, also 
have a word of advice for all online da-
ting website users: „Don‘t email back 
and forth for weeks on end, simply ar-
range to meet up and have a coffee. In 
our fi rst meeting we realised that the 
abstract ‘matching points’ were actu-
ally a mirror image of our shared in-
terests, likes and dislikes, and hopes 
for the future.“

Will we have to give a  saliva 
sample to fi nd our dream 
partner in future?
As in Anna and Sebastian‘s case, 
sometimes there is immediate chemi-
stry, in other cases there is absolutely 
none - despite having so many ‘mat-
ching points’. A bit of luck therefore 
also plays a role in the online partner 
search. In order to give this luck a hel-
ping hand, the online dating industry 

is constantly working towards further 
developing their strategies. „Today we 
are only able to express the relevant re-
lationship dimensions of our personali-
ty in writing using the ‘matching que-
stionnaire’. However, there are many 
more sensory impressions that come 
into play when choosing a partner, for 
example, a person‘s individual scent 
or voice“, says Dr Jost Schwaner. Face 
matching, DNA matching and colour 
matching are just a few of the many 
processes attempting to fi nd further 
dimensions of compatibility. However, 
Dr Schwaner warns against placing 
too much importance on each of these 
approaches: „The online dating indus-
try will have to fi nd ways in which to 
combine several approaches in order 
to complete the necessary picture for a 
relationship. Individually, the methods 
sold as salutary compatibility pro-
cesses are not much more than hot air 
but in combination they can bring us 
closer to the truth. However, no combi-
nation in the world can ever guarantee 
true chemistry.“

HEY BABY, 
OUR HEARTS ARE 
BEATING IN THE 
SAME RHYTHM.

... BUT DEFINITELY 
NOT IN THE SAME 

 ALGORITHM!
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Klaas Müller (left) and tim Buchholz (right) are 
the mobile heads at tOMOrrOW fOCUs Media.
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 Supported by a massive ran-
ge of mobile apps, Internet-
enabled smartphones on 
affordable fl at-rate contracts 
with almost universal co-

verage through a UMTS or 3G network 
have played a key role in the expansion 
of the mobile Internet. So far, however, 
the anticipated boom in mobile adverti-
sing has not materialised. TOMORROW 
FOCUS Media plans to change things 
and, to speed up the process, has its 
own team of creative people working on 
various forms of mobile advertising. 

Smartphones power ahead
Users are increasingly looking up online 
information via high-performance mini-
computers with high-resolution screens, 
innovative user interfaces and full Inter-
net access – with smartphones leading 
the way. More than half of all Germans 
now have a mobile phone of this kind, 
on which in the dying days of the WAP 
era surfi ng is suddenly fun, thanks to 
optimised browsers and customised 
apps. However, while the online adver-
tising market was established and struc-
tured a long time ago around stationary 
Internet access, in the mobile segment 
marketing companies such as TOMOR-
ROW FOCUS Media face a fragmented 
market that lacks standards. This is in 
large part owing to the huge number 
of display sizes, so that device-specifi c 
use – such as zooming in on content – 
sometimes results in conventional on-
line advertising media no longer being 
visible. Tim Buchholz, Product Manager 

Mobile at TOMORROW  FOCUS Media, 
explains: “For this reason we are taking 
care to ensure that our new advertising 
forms allow maximum visibility on all 
mobile channels.”

Mobile experts
An experienced video image specialist, 
Tim Buchholz is also a lecturer at Deut-
sche Dialogmarketing Akademie (the 
German dialogue Marketing Academy), 
and at TOMORROW FOCUS Media he 
is in charge of the design, implemen-
tation and market introduction of new 
mobile advertising formats. TOMOR-
ROW FOCUS Media brought Tim Buch-
holz on board to structure the mobile 
advertising formats and create mobile 
standards. On the technical side, he is 
backed up by IT specialist and mobi-
le expert Klaas Müller, among others. 
As Ad Technology Manager Mobile, 
Klaas Müller links the various mobile 
offerings and develops new formats as 
well as special forms of advertising. As 
he says, the mobile offerings are stan-
dardised across all portals, products 
and mobile terminals. Alexandra Tho-
mas, Head of Product and Publisher 
Management at TOMORROW FOCUS 
Media, explains: “There is now more 
emphasis on large-format advertising, 
interactivity and motion sensitivity. The 
more playful and attractive the design 
of an ad, the greater the attention it 
receives and the more effective is the 
advertising.” Carsten Sander, Director 
Ad Technology at TOMORROW FOCUS 
Media, explains this by the behaviour 

of mobile users: “Users are much more 
‘unique’ when using smartphones. They 
are out and about with their devices, 
use content related to their geoposition, 
and are looking for entertainment here 
and there.”
 There is plenty of space for the vario-
us forms of advertising: the  TOMORROW 
FOCUS Media portfolio now comprises 
16 mobile portals. According to ‘mobile 
facts’ 2011, which is published by AGOF 
(the German Working Group for Online 
Media Research), it has a monthly reach 
of more than 3.39 million unique mobi-
le users, and this number is increasing. 
The advertising reach, targeting poten-
tial and formats have developed in line 
with the trend towards mobile surfi ng. 
In barely one and a half years, mobile 
use has increased by almost 25 percent, 
and more than 20 percent of all partici-
pants in a recent study by TOMORROW 
FOCUS Media say their use of stationa-
ry Internet access is consequently lower 
than before.
 The mobile team is currently wor-
king to optimise processes so that boo-
kings for advertising customers are 
even easier. “This is a huge job,” said 
Carsten Sander. “We’re actually putting 
in as much basic work as for Web 1.0.” 
However, the pioneering work achieves 
wide-ranging results, so the marketing 
activities of TOMORROW FOCUS Me-
dia can actively advance the continu-
ing mobile trend.

Mobile advertising 
 encourages pioneering spirit
Although mobile Internet use is booming, mobile advertising is still in 
its infancy. TOMORROW FOCUS Media is pioneering the way forward.
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Quick question...
The innovative power of the Internet is immense and the market is constantly 
reinventing itself. Those who do not pace with innovations will soon lose out. 
But what will the next Internet craze be? We asked our employees for their 
opinions.

“Facebook is just the fi rst step: the digital age will make us more social; we will 
comment, share, and interact with other people even more than now. We can 
already see this happening with music; we’re able to listen to songs at no cost on 
legal music services such as Spotify and Simfy. All our friends know what we like 
and get ideas from us. Of course, this exchange of ideas used to happen offl ine too, 
but interaction is much easier in the digital world. In a few years we’ll probably take 
it completely for granted that we can watch fi lms via the web, read e-books and play 
games legally and perhaps even at no cost – and that all our friends can participate.”

Claudia frickel, Editor in the digital division of foCus online

timo salzsieder, Chief technology offi  cer of toMorroW foCus Ag

Idea of sharing

“Personal digital assistants will develop on the Internet: just like personal coaches 
now, these will be able to improve the user’s quality of life by means of intelligent 
search and recommendation tools. There will no longer be any need to enter de-
tailed, complex search words to achieve this; information about the user will be 
paired by matching mechanisms and semantic rules.“

Marek Claussen, online product Manager at Elitepartner

“Every product designed around users and their needs can be a success. If you 
can also ensure your product fi ts into a particular time and place, you have the 
potential to start a (well-founded) craze. I think this combination will probably be 
easiest to create on a mobile device – but let’s see what will happen!”

Marc Al-hames, head of Corporate development at toMorroW foCus
User oriented

“In the future, our everyday lives will be shaped by the merging and intelligent 
use of personal data from online and offl ine sources – supported by all kinds of 
Internet-ready technologies, such as NFC (near fi eld communication) and RFID 
(radio frequency identifi cation). This trend will be driven by mobile communica-
tions, social media and e-commerce.”

Personal data

Hype?!Hype?!

Digital assistants 
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“Anyone who really knows what the next craze will be should run with the idea. So 
I’d prefer to say which craze I feel is taking a nose dive, and why: fi rst, Google+, 
because Google simply cannot make users feel as much at home in the search fi eld 
as they do in Facebook. And cloud computing, because even in Ireland USPs (un-
interruptible power supplies) and hard drives break.”

gereon steff ens, development team leader at finanzen100

“There will be a lot of interest in crowd funding and micro or P2P (peer-to-
peer) credit portals. People’s lack of trust in the banking and fi nancial sector 
will give rise to new possibilities in this business.”

Mark C. reinold, technical director at Elitepartner

“I think there’ll be a defi nite trend towards multi-screen content. There will be net-
working between various appliances and devices (e.g. smartphones, tablets, PCs and 
televisions). The boundaries between the appliances will become blurred, and we 
will be able to consume content across all platforms. The biggest and most exciting 
challenge is to fi nd a way of processing content optimally for the individual devices 
or appliances and creating a compelling experience for users across all platforms.”

Jakob-Matthias Maul, project Manager at CEllulAr

Multi-screen

Not Google+

“The ‘Internet of Things’ will become a reality. Our everyday lives will be made 
easier by our being able to control our coffee machines or washing machines via 
smartphone, and having a fridge that sends us a message in the supermarket to tell 
us we need milk.”

Alexandra thomas, head of product & publisher Management at 
 toMorroW foCus Media

Internet of things

“I think there’s going to be increased sharing of personal items and joint use 
of resources via the Internet. The technical term for this is ‘collaborative con-
sumption’. You no longer have to own things – it’s suffi cient to have access to 
them. An example of this is using private accommodation agencies for travel, or 
sharing a car and the costs connected with running it. The Internet facilitates 
this exchange.”

dominik heier, Manager product & innovation at holidayCheck

Consumption

”I think the smartphone will become a multi-function device. Our most recent 
Mobile Effects study included a survey of people’s smartphone use at home. Fewer 
than 12 percent of those surveyed said they never use their smartphone at home. 
The majority of the other respondents said they simply fi nd it handy to access the 
Internet via smartphones at home. And 15 percent said they are already using their 
smartphones to control other appliances such as TV and hi-fi  systems.”

sonja knab, head of research & Analytics at toMorroW foCus Media

Multi-function

What do you think? 
Talk to us at www.facebook.com/TOMORROWFOCUS

Peer-to-Peer
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As head of Corporate development at toMorroW foCus Ag, Marc Al-hames is always 
on the look-out for exciting companies and interesting business models. in the video clip, 
Marc explains what  toMorroW  foCus Ag can do for internet  start-ups and entrepre-
neurs and what exactly it can off er as an investor.

You are looking for TOMORROW FOCUS AG!

zum video

t e X t  Sabine Minar

Go to ‚Start‘ if you operate a 
legal and ethically sound 
Internet business.

START

Looking for a 
business partner?

zum videozum video

Sabine Minar

Go to ‚Start‘ if you operate a 
legal and ethically sound
Internet business.

START

Looking for a Looking for a 
business partner?business partner?
Looking for a 
business partner?
Looking for a Looking for a 
business partner?
Looking for a 

NOYES NOYES YES

The QR (Quick Response) code is a two-dimensional bar code. With the help of an app, it can be read 
by a smartphone and takes the user directly to the required URL (Uniform Resource Locator).

TOMORROW FOCUS AG is a strategic investor in sustai-
nable, Internet-based business models. If you have set 
up your own site, we can help you by providing fi nancial 
resources, expertise and a well-established network. 
Follow the instructions to see whether you could bene-
fi t from a partnership with TOMORROW FOCUS AG:

NOYES NOYES

NOYES YES

YES

NOYES
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You are looking for purely 
fi nancial backing.

Are you looking for a partner who can
enhance the profi le of your brand?

Go to ‚Start‘ if you operate a 
legal and ethically sound 
Internet business.

START Are you looking for a partner who can
enhance the profi le of your brand?

Go to ‚Start‘ if you operate a 
legal and ethically sound
Internet business.

START

NO NOYES NOYES

Are you looking for a partner who 
can help to boost your traffi  c?

Are you looking for a partner who can 
help you to scale up your technology 
 quickly and effi  ciently? 

Are you looking for a partner who can 

Are you looking for a partner with 
the expertise required to turn business 
models into cash?

Are you looking for a partner who 
can off er you a network of strong, 
decentralised companies?

NOYES NOYES

NO NOYES

NO

NOYES
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A large office, plenty of vacation and a parking place in the first row? Or would 
they prefer a good boss, pleasant colleagues, exciting projects and the  opportunity 
for advancement? We have interviewed two of our up-and-coming young 
 talents on this subject.

What do talented 
young people want? 

Talent
1

Talent
2

I N t e rV I e W  Sabine Minar          P H OtO s  Susanne Mölle

Benedict Gründig, Master of Media trainee Kathrin Hövekamp, PR trainee 
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What makes a good employer in 
your opinion? 
Kathrin Hövekamp: “I wouldn‘t say no 
to a Jaguar as my company car in the 
fi rst year, but if I were to use it to tra-
vel to a job that I didn‘t like, it would 
only give me sporadic pleasure. To feel 
really at ease with an employer I need 
exciting tasks that stretch my abilities 
to exactly the right degree. I also need 
clever colleagues and an open working 
atmosphere that enables me to try out 
new things. If I then work for a superi-
or who values my work and helps me 
along with constructive criticism, I‘m 
happy.”

What do you particularly like about 
your job?
Kathrin Hövekamp: “I defi nitely like the 
variety it brings. Four trainee place-
ments also means getting to know PR 
approaches, subjects and target groups 
of four different locations. Group Com-
munications, Brand Communications, 
Investor Relations and Social Media - 
the year gives me a 360° view of the 
discipline.”

What have been the best projects 
during your time as a trainee?
“The social intranet project right at the 
beginning was naturally a great start. 
The concept, the project management, 
and particularly the close cooperation 
with the graphics and technical teams 
were a lot of fun. You‘ll have to ask me 
again in nine months about the other 
placements ;).”

What did you originally want to 
become?
Kathrin Hövekamp: “A goldsmith; so-
mething to do with the media”

What do you want to become now?
Kathrin Hövekamp: “A communications 
and brand strategist in a responsible 
position with creative scope, preferab-
ly in the Internet sector.”

What occurs to you fi rst when you 
think of the TOMORROW FOCUS 
Group?
Kathrin Hövekamp: “Diversity”

Kathrin (25) fi rst of all worked for two years as 
an intern in the Group Communications and In-
vestor relations department before becoming a 
Pr trainee in October 2011. At the beginning of 
the one-year trainee programme she immedia-
tely took on project management responsibility 
for the introduction of the new social media 
intranet of tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG. 

since february she has been on a three-month 
stint with the Pr team of elitePartner in 
Hamburg, Germany. After that she will spend 
another three months with HolidayCheck in 
switzerland. 

Kathrin studied Media and Communication 
science in Augsburg, Germany, taking her 
Master‘s degree in Communication science at 
ludwig-Maximilians-Universität (lMU) in Mu-
nich. During her academic studies she gained 
editorial experience with the radio stations ‘Hi-
tradio Antenne 1’ and ‘radio fantasy’, as well 
as the newspaper ‘Nürtinger zeitung’. she also 
freelanced for sociogramma Market research. 

KAtHrIN HÖVeKAMP

Pr trAINee WItH

tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG
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What makes a good employer in 
your opinion? 
Benedict Gründig: “Innovative capabi-
lity, fl at hierarchies and fl exibility are 
important for me, and also the chan-
ce to develop my individual talents, of 
course. A good work-life balance is na-
turally another important factor.”

What do you particularly like about 
your job?
Benedict Gründig: “The trainees pro-
gramme gives you an in-depth in-
sight into the different departments 
of  TOMORROW FOCUS Media and a 
good understanding of the cross-func-
tional interdependencies between the 
different departments. The external 
placements enable you to gain valua-
ble knowledge about corporate struc-
tures and missions, and give you the 
opportunity to make many new and 
interesting contacts.”

What have been the best projects 
during your time as a trainee?
Benedict Gründig: “I do not want to 
speak of ‘best projects’ here. Each 
placement in the programme offers 

interesting and challenging tasks. The 
best thing about them is that they are 
so diverse and offer so much variety.”

What did you originally want to 
become?
Benedict Gründig: “A football presenter”

What do you want to become now?
Benedict Gründig: “A more or less ac-
ceptable guitar player. Careerwise, I‘d 
like to work in a position where I can 
get new things moving, where I can 
shape, change and improve things and 
am not tied up with merely operative 
tasks. I think that TOMORROW FOCUS 
Media offers you wonderful opportu-
nities of achieving this goal due to its 
progressive corporate philosophy.”

What occurs to you fi rst when you 
think of the TOMORROW FOCUS 
Group?
Benedict Gründig: “That TOMORROW 
FOCUS also recruits staff by means of 
Skype interviews. You see, I was wor-
king in New York when I applied and 
this is why my fi rst interview was con-
ducted online.”

If you could realise a project of your 
choice for the TOMORROW FOCUS 
Group, what would this be?
Benedict Gründig: “I‘d like to make 
 TOMORROW FOCUS Media THE mo-
bile premium marketer in Germany.”

Benedict Gründig (26) has been supporting 
 tOMOrrOW fOCUs Media as a Master of Media 
trainee since October 2011. the cross-media 
trainee programme in cooperation with fOCUs 
 Magazin Verlag, the tV marketer sevenOne 
 Media and the media agency MeDIAPlUs 
promotes young talent of an unconventional kind. 
the aim is to train communication strategists and 
media consultants with strong leadership skills. 

During four months, Benedict Gründig will suc-
cessively undergo training at tOMOrrOW  fOCUs 
Media‘s Marketing, research and Analytics, 
Product and Publisher Management, and sales 
departments. He will then spend two months with 
each of the cooperation partners. Benedict studied 
media planning, development and consulting at 
the University of siegen in Germany and Univer-
sidad Autónoma de Barcelona in spain. Benedict 
has worked at the sales Offi ce of the multimedia 
company Axel springer in New york, and com-
pleted internships with the magazine publisher 
Gruner + Jahr and the German  broadcasting 
company zDf.

BeNeDICt GrÜNDIG

MAster Of MeDIA trAINee WItH 

tOMOrrOW fOCUs MeDIA
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The Christian Liebig Foundation builds schools in Africa, 
supports educational and training programmes, provides 
information and raises awareness. 

 Hope very often begins 
with a tragedy. On 7 
April 2003, Christian 
Liebig was killed in 
a missile attack in 

Baghdad, Iraq. The FOCUS editor 
was one of more than 600 embe-
dded journalists being attached 
to the US Army military units in-
volved in this armed conflict. Du-
ring his visits to Africa, Christian 
Liebig came to know and love the 
Dark Continent. Helping the peo-
ple who live there and enabling 
them to lead better lives was 
therefore of great importance to 
him. The activities of the Chri-
stian Liebig Foundation include 
the construction of schools, their 
provision with materials, and see-
king means through which to give 
children in need a good school 
education. TOMORROW  FOCUS 
supports the Foundation with do-
nations towards their various edu-
cational and training programmes.  

trAINING BAKery IN MOzAMBIQUe 

the Christian liebig foundation worked with the 
 Heiner Kamps foundation ‘Bread against Misery’ 
(Brot gegen Not) to build a training bakery in Na-
maacha, southern Mozambique.

Give children the gift  
of a better future
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It has been another record-breaking and award-winning year 
right across the TOMORROW FOCUS Group.

Going for gold!

The data security of its members is a 
top priority for ElitePartner. The con-
sumer and product-testing organisa-
tion Stiftung Warentest confi rms that 
ElitePartner is an industry leader in 
this fi eld: Following extensive testing 
of eight dating agencies and six part-
ner-matching websites, ElitePartner 
was the only provider to receive top 
marks for data security.

Share prices in free fall, major banks fi -
ling for insolvency. The world economy 
is shaken by the fi nancial market crisis. 
What just a few years ago would have 
passed as a draft screenplay for a sci-
ence fi ction thriller had become crisis-
stricken reality by 2011 at the latest. At 
increasingly shorter intervals investors‘ 
confi dence was shaken by wave after 
wave of negative news on the stability 
of Euro markets. 2011, the year of the 
Euro crisis, therefore brought a lot of 
hard work for a fi nancial and stock mar-
ket information portal like Finanzen100.
August, which was simply jam-packed 
with news, was by far the month with 
the most traffi c for the Cologne-based 

team. With risk premiums for Italian and 
Spanish bonds climbing steadily and 
the credit rating of the USA suffering 
a downgrade, almost 600,000 unique 
users were showing an interest in the 
new information portal. In the Finan-
zen100 Android app, traffi c also dou-
bled, in comparison with the previous 
month, during the August of this crisis 
year. The Android app was downloaded 
more than 100,000 times in 2011. 
On the whole, the team in Cologne re-
sponded to their readers‘ growing thirst 
for information so successfully that Fi-
nanzen100 developed into Germany‘s 
fastest growing stock market informati-
on portal in 2011.

Stiftung Warentest: 
ElitePartner receives top marks

Finanzen100 - 
Euro down, traffi  c up 

Top markTop mark

1
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Going for gold!

For the fi rst time, jameda recorded 
over two million physician searches 
a month towards the end of summer 
2011 (source: Omniture, October 
2011). What is more, in a survey con-
ducted by the German market research 
organisation GfK comparing the re-
ach fi gures of the country’s biggest 
physician search and rating portals, 
it emerged that jameda now reaches 
more than twice as many patients as 
its nearest rival. Good news indeed for 
the jameda team, which already has 
its sights fi rmly set on the next target: 
three million unique visitors!

Record for FOCUS Online
In January 2012 FOCUS Online had more than 
46 million visits according to the current fi gures 
of the German Information Society for Measuring 
the Distribution of Advertising Media (Informati-
onsgemeinschaft zur Feststellung von Werbeträ-
gern e.V. - IWV). That‘s a record! The number of 
visits has grown by 53 percent year-on-year.

The consumer magazine Clever Reisen 
(travel smart) tested seven hotel review 
websites in January. HolidayCheck.de 
was the only website to be awarded a 
‘very good’ rating and was therefore 
the test winner. The magazine looked 
at factors such as the total number of 
hotel reviews, the number of hotels 
reviewed worldwide and the number 
of countries in which hotels had been 
reviewed. The services offered by the 
seven hotel review websites were also 
compared. HoldayCheck.de received 
extra points for listing hotels for which 
fake reviews had been submitted or 
those which were strongly suspected 
as having such reviews.

jameda surges past 
two  million mark

In the mobile facts study of the Working 
Group for Online Media Research (Ar-
beitsgemeinschaft für Onlineforschung 
- AGOF), the app of the TV Spielfi lm 
media magazine for iPhones took fi rst 
place in terms of reach with 916,000 
unique mobile users each month, which 
is equivalent to one in seven possible 
app users. The TV Spielfi lm App was 
developed by  CELLULAR and is marke-
ted by TOMORROW  FOCUS Media.

App-solutely fi rst rate! HolidayCheck is 
the test winner

In January 2012 FOCUS Online had more than 
46 million visits according to the current fi gures 
of the German Information Society for Measuring 
the Distribution of Advertising Media (Informati-
onsgemeinschaft zur Feststellung von Werbeträ-
gern e.V. - IWV). That‘s a record! The number of 
visits has grown by 53 percent year-on-year.

million
46

Jameda

Best Awards
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together, we can look back over a very successful 
financial year in 2011.  

It was a year in which we opened up new markets for 
our brands as well as consolidating and even expan-
ding our presence in existing markets.  
 A year in which our three operating segments 
grew in step with each other to deliver the Group’s 
best operating result since the company was foun-
ded over ten years ago.  
 A year in which we again strengthened our fi-
nancial position, creating a strong foundation for 
future organic and inorganic growth, and in which 
we were able to pay out our first ever dividend to 
shareholders.

Earnings per share up 31 percent
In the financial year 2011, our consolidated opera-
ting revenue showed an increase of 20 percent on 
the previous year to reach eUr 128.3 million. Con-
solidated eBItDA was up 18 percent at eUr 21.4 
million, consolidated eBIt increased by 33 percent 
at eUr 16.8 million and consolidated earnings per 
share was up 31 percent at eUr 0.21.

Advertising segment achieves outstanding 
rise in earnings
2011 brought an exemplary turnaround in the ear-
nings of the Advertising segment. With revenue up 
by a good 20 percent compared to the previous year, 
the segment achieved a significant improvement in 
eBItDA, which ended the reporting period eUr 4.1 
million higher at eUr 3.1 million.

this was partly due to the success of tOMOrrOW 
fOCUs Media, Germany’s second-biggest digital 
marketing specialist, which recorded an excellent 
performance despite simmering concerns over the 
German economy. 

the news portal fOCUs Online also made a sub-
stantial contribution to the results of the Advertising 
segment as a whole. In December 2011 the number 
of visits stood at over 36 million, a third higher than 

in the same month of 2010. All in all, fOCUs Online 
was able to report a very handsome year-end profit, 
making it in our view one of only a small number of 
successful German news portals. 

In 2011, the stock market and finance portal finan-
zen100 established itself as Germany’s fastest-grow-
ing stock market news and information service. A cri-
tical factor in this success has been the widespread 
implementation of its ‘mobile first’ strategy. Around 
two thirds of all page visits are now made via mobi-
le applications such as the new Android app, which 
was downloaded over 100,000 times in just a few 
weeks.
 
remaining with the Advertising segment, 
tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG sold a 35.86 percent stake 
in AdJug ltd. to the international advertising group 
Dentsu Inc. After taking AdJug ltd. to profitability 
at the end of the previous year, we decided the time 
was right to identify a strategic partner that could 
help drive the process of internationalisation. We 
found that partner in the shape of IgnitionOne, the 
New york-based digital technology unit of Dentsu 
Inc. tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG retains a 20 percent 
stake in AdJug ltd. 

Internationalisation brings success at Holi-
dayCheck
2011 brought a rise of almost 20 percent in the re-
venue of the transactions segment, which again  
reported strong eBItDA despite considerable invest-
ment in advertising and the internationalisati-
on of HolidayCheck AG.

HolidayCheck, the lea-
ding online travel agent 
in the German-speaking 
region, again deli-
vered abo-
ve-average 
growth. In 
s u m m e r     
2011, it    

Dear Shareholders,
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Stefan Winners  
Chief executive Officer

Dr. Dirk Schmelzer
Chief financial Officer 

Christoph Schuh
Management Board Member
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established several impressive new records with  
the twomillionth rating and 22 million visits (up 30 
percent).
 there was further success in the internationali-
sation of HolidayCheck AG. Visits to the Polish site 
at HolidayCheck.pl were over 50 percent up on the 
previous year, while visits to the french portal at Ho-
lidayCheck.fr shot up by over 200 percent year on 
year.  

eliteMedianet GmbH, which operates the online da-
ting agency elitePartner.de, achieved a modest rise 
in revenue in 2011 and a further increase in profita-
bility against a background of fierce competition in 
the sector. According to the company itself, this has 
helped to strengthen elitePartner’s leading market 
position ahead of Germany’s other premium dating 
agencies.  
 the physician recommendation portal jame-
da.de also put in a strong performance in 2011 
with consistent rises in its traffic and subscription 
figures.

Demand for m-commerce and e-commerce 
solutions remains buoyant
revenue and eBItDA in the technologies seg-
ment ended the year around 23 and 21 per-
cent up respectively on the previous year thanks 
to positive results from both companies in the  
segment. 

tft GmbH, one of Germany’s leading digital tech-
nology and creative agencies, can also look back 
on a successful year 2011. As well as expanding its 
existing business, the company has now success-
fully established itself as a provider in the field of 
e-commerce.

Cellular GmbH, one of Germany’s top full-service 
agencies for mobile and smart tV solutions, bene-
fited once again from continued strong demand for 
mobile applications and from the growing appeal of 
smart tV applications.

HolidayCheck plans further 
internationalisation
Despite the prevailing caution surrounding the eco-
nomic outlook, the financial year 2012 has started 
in promising fashion with all three operating seg-
ments achieving renewed year-on-year growth. 
  

More specifically, we still expect the transactions 
segment to deliver a significant increase in reve-
nue. HolidayCheck AG is again set to provide the 
momentum here with good prospects of double-
digit growth in revenue in Germany, Austria and 
switzerland. the company intends to push ahead 
with plans for further internationalisation, both or-
ganically and through acquisitions. 

eliteMedianet GmbH, which has made an excellent 
start to financial 2012 with elitePartner.de, is keen 
to encourage the overdue consolidation of German-
language online dating agencies through a series of 
comprehensive and targeted marketing campaigns, 
and thus to strengthen its own market position.  

Alongside efforts to achieve a further improvement 
in its reach figures, jameda GmbH plans to intensify 
its sales activities in order to generate substantial 
revenue growth. If it can sustain its current sales 
record, jameda will reach profitability by the end 
of 2012.
 We are therefore confident that we can maintain 
our established pattern of growth.

TOMORROW FOCUS Media expands mobile 
marketing activities
Despite a fairly weak outlook for the economy as a 
whole, the Advertising segment has maintained its 
encouraging pattern of growth into the early part 
of 2012. 

the premium online marketing specialist tOMOrrOW 
fOCUs Media is concentrating on efforts to attract 
new customers in order to strengthen its position 
as Germany’s second-biggest online provider in 
this field and ideally to establish itself as the mar-
ket leader. At the same time, as the market for mo-
bile content matures, the company is significantly 
expanding its related activities, the aim being to 
achieve a rapid improvement in its current position 
as Germany’s fifth-biggest mobile marketing firm. 

fOCUs Online’s targets include closing the reach 
gap even further on its competitor spiegel Online 
and once again achieving a substantial year-end 
profit. Over the course of the year, editor-in-Chief 
Daniel steil and his editorial and development team 
will be presenting some interesting new ideas on 
how these targets can be achieved. 

78

letter to shareholders

tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG 2011



finanzen100 will need to show that the rapid im-
provement in its reach figures can be followed by 
strong growth in advertising income. It has every 
chance of doing so. finanzen100 is gradually clim-
bing up the list of Germany’s biggest finance and 
stock market portals based on reach and hence on 
attractiveness to advertisers.

Smart solutions for Internet-capable 
televisions
Plans are also in place to achieve further revenue 
and earnings growth in the technologies segment 
over the current financial year. 
 the challenge facing tft GmbH is to build on 
the positive revenue and earnings trend of 2011, 
in part by winning new customers in the field of  
e-commerce solutions.

Cellular GmbH should again benefit from the popu-
larity of mobile applications. special, newly formed 
teams have been tasked with boosting the volu-
me of new orders for m-commerce and smart tV  
solutions.

Good prospects for 2012
Based on the latest developments in our different 
business segments, we are very confident that we 
can achieve renewed growth in 2012 – both organic 
and through acquisitions in the transactions and 
Advertising segments. 

In 2011, despite identifying over a hundred poten-
tial acquisitions, the asking price in each case was 
too high and we took a conscious decision not to 
proceed. By contrast, valuations are now at a more 
sensible level, and with over eUr 40 million in cash 
resources and a consistently positive net cash flow, 
we are in good position to buy as and when the 
right opportunity arises.

We are certain that in 2012 we can make good pro-
gress towards our long-term strategy of boosting 
revenue to eUr 250 million and eBIt to eUr 30-40 
million by the year 2015.

TOMORROW FOCUS AG plans dividend 
increase to EUR 0.06 per share
Despite our plans for investment, we want to en-
sure that our shareholders again benefit from the 
company’s success in the form of a dividend. fol-
lowing last year’s first-ever dividend payment of 
eUr 0.05 per share, this year, together with the 
supervisory Board, we intend to propose a figure 
of eUr 0.06 per share to our shareholders at the 
annual general meeting.  

yours sincerely
the Management Board
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Despite a generally difficult stock market situation, 
tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG once again maintained 
regular and transparent contact throughout the 
whole of 2011 with investors, analysts and both 
business and stock market journalists. the Ma-
nagement Board presented the company at a total 
of seven road shows in Geneva, london, Paris, 
zurich and elsewhere. there were further oppor-
tunities to present the company at two investor 
conferences in frankfurt/Main and london and at 
two in-house investor events held in the German 
cities of frankfurt/Main and Munich
 the Management Board also took part in que-
stion and answer sessions with well-known busi-
ness and stock market media organisations. Over 
the year, tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG featured in 
reports by Bloomberg, Boerse.ArD.de, Börsenra-

dio Network, Börse Online, Börsenzeitung, Der 
Aktionär, Deutsches Anlegerfernsehen DAf, dpa, 
euro am sonntag, financial times Deutschland, 
frankfurter Allgemeine zeitung, Handelsblatt, 
Nebenwertejournal, VDI Nachrichten and others. 

tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG is committed to the 
equitable treatment of all investors. All relevant 
information, such as presentations at key events 
for investors, is also published on the Internet.  

Investors can find a comprehensive range of in-
depth background information about tOMOr-
rOW fOCUs AG on the Internet. In particular, 
the video content available on our website at 
www.tomorrowfocus.de is an excellent source of 
information for those interested in the company.    

Investor Relations
– busy schedule of road shows amid tough stock market conditions

TOMORROW FOCUS AG  |  Neumarkter straße 61  |  81673 Munich, Germany
www.tomorrow-focus.de     www.facebook.de/tomorrowfocus     www.twitter.com/tomorrowfocus
www.youtube.com/tomorrowfocus

Investor & Public Relations Contact
Armin Blohmann
tel.: +49 (0) 89 9250-1256
fax: +49 (0) 89 9250-2403
e-Mail: a.blohmann@tomorrow-focus.de

Sabine Minar
tel.: +49 (0) 89 9250-1208
fax: +49 (0) 89 9250-2403
e-Mail: s.minar@tomorrow-focus.de

Question-and-answer  
session with the  

shareholders:  
CEO Stefan Winners  

at the 2011 AGM
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2011: TOMORROW FOCUS AG outperforms the TecDAX 
TOMORROW FOCUS AG

TecDAX

financial results 
announced for 

2010

Annual General 
Meeting

2011

financial results 
announced for first 

quarter of 2011

financial results  
announced for second 

quarter of 2011

sale of majority 
share in AdJug 

ltd.

financial results 
announced for third 

quarter of 2011

BASiC DATA SHARE PRiCE DEV. 2011 CLOSiNG PRiCE

German securities code (WKN): 549532 Starting price 2011: 3.38 € 2005: 2.09 €

iSiN: De0005495329 Low 2011: 3.05 € 2006: 2.45 €

Stock exchange symbol: tfA High 2011: 5.37 € 2007: 3.14 €

Stock exchange segment: Prime standard Closing price 2011: 3.35 € 2008: 2.55 €

Designated Sponsor: HsBC trinkaus increase for year: -0.9% 2009: 3.35 €

indices: CDAX, technology All share, Prime All share increase in TecDAX: -19.5% 2010: 3.61 €

Number of shares: 53,012,390 no-par-value bearer shares Closing price 19/03/2012: 4.00 € 2011: 3.35 €

Market capitalisation on 19/03/2012: 212.0 million eUr 

Key TOMORROW FOCUS share data

figures based on year-end closing prices for the tOMOrrOW fOCUs share on Xetra

Shareholder structure 
at 31 Dec 2011 (rounded)

Burda Digital 
GmbH 
63.61%

free float  
33.35%

Management Board  
and supervisory Board 
3.04% 

2006  105.0 million EUR

2007  134.6 million EUR

2008  120.2 million EUR

2009  177.6 million EUR

2010  191.4 million EUR

2011  177.6 million EUR

Market capitalisation 

figures based on year-end closing prices for the tOMOrrOW fOCUs share on Xetra
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Declaration of the Management Board and the 
Supervisory Board of TOMOROW FOCUS AG  
in respect of the recommendations  of the 
Government Commission on the German 
Corporate Governance Code pursuant to 
Section 161 of the German Stock Corporation 
Act (Aktiengesetz, AktG)

the Management Board and supervisory Board of 
tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG hereby declare that the 
company has complied with the recommendations 
of the Government Commission on the German Cor-
porate Governance Code announced by the federal 
Ministry of Justice on 26 May 2010 in the official sec-
tion of the electronic federal Gazette (Bundesanzei-
ger), with the following exceptions:

1.  for the time being, the company intends to re-
frain from applying the recommendation to offer 
shareholders the option to submit a postal vote 
(Number 2.3.3 sentence 2). 

2.  the D&O insurance policy for the supervisory 
Board does not include a deductible (Number 
3.8, paragraph 3). 

3.  Up to the present, the calculation of variable 
compensation components has not taken both 
positive and negative developments into ac-
count (Number 4.2.3, paragraph 2, sentence 4).

4.  the reference parameters used when calculating 
variable components of compensation may be 
adjusted retroactively under certain specifically 
defined conditions (Number 4.2.3, paragraph 3, 
sentence 3). 

5.  Calculation of the settlement cap in the case of 
early termination (of the service agreement) of 
a member of the Management Board is not ba-
sed on the total compensation for the previous 
year and the anticipated total compensation for 
the current year (Number 4.2.3, paragraph 4, 
sentence 2).

6.  No age limit is specified for members of the 
Management Board (Number 5.1.2, paragraph 
2, sentence 3).

7.  the supervisory Board does not specify con-
crete objectives regarding its composition 
(Number 5.4.1 paragraph 2). Consequently, it 
is not possible to comply with the associated 

recommendations in Number 5.4.3. 
8.  the supervisory Board does not form commit-

tees (Numbers 5.3.1, 5.3.2 and 5.3.3).
9.  the supervisory Board does not receive any 

performance-related compensation (Number 
5.4.6).

10.  the compensation of the Deputy Chairperson 
of the supervisory Board is not considered in 
the specification of compensation for supervi-
sory Board members (Number 5.4.6, paragraph 
1, sentence 3).

11.  Half-yearly and quarterly financial reports are 
not discussed by the supervisory Board with 
the Management Board before publication 
(Number 7.1.2, sentence 2).

Notes on deviations from the German Corpo-
rate Governance Code recommendations

1. tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG already offers its share-
holders an option to exercise their voting rights 
through a proxy designated by the company. share-
holders are therefore already able to submit their 
votes before the general meeting of shareholders is 
held. It follows that the additional option to submit 
a postal vote would not make it easier still for share-
holders to exercise their voting rights. for the time 
being, tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG intends to refrain 
from applying the recommendation to offer share-
holders the option to submit a postal vote.  
 2. tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG does not agree that 
the imposition of a deductible would have any effect 
in improving the attitude to work of, or the responsibi-
lity taken by, the members of the supervisory Board. 
there is, therefore, no deductible in the D&O insu-
rance policy for the supervisory Board.
 3. to date, with regard to the current service con-
tracts of members of the Management Board, the cal-
culation of variable compensation has not taken both 
positive and negative developments into account. the 
reasons for this deviation from the recommendations 
of the Code are that tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG is not 
obliged to comply with the new legislation on the 
structure of variable compensation components until 
such time as the existing methods of calculating vari-
able compensation for the Management Board chan-
ge and that existing service contracts for the Manage-

Corporate governance report
All actions taken by the management and control bodies of TOMORROW FOCUS AG are governed by the  
principles of responsible and efficient corporate governance.
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ment Board cannot be amended immediately.  
tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG will comply fully with the 
statutory provisions of section 87 of the German stock 
Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz, AktG) with regard to 
all future Management Board service contracts and 
will take both positive and negative developments 
into account in the calculation of variable compen-
sation components. Notwithstanding the above, the 
supervisory Board is of the opinion that the structure 
and level of the compensation of all members of the 
Management Board are commensurate and geared 
towards the sustainable development of the company.
 4. from the financial year 2011 onwards, mem-
bers of the company’s Management Board will recei-
ve long-term incentives in the form of a share price-
based ‘Performance share Plan’ awarded in annual 
tranches. Members of the company’s Management 
Board are allocated a number of virtual shares in 
the company based on the degree to which eBtA 
targets have been met. these virtual shares are sub-
ject to a vesting period of three years, after which 
the members of the company’s Management Board 
may receive a cash payment. Under the terms of this 
programme, the target eBtA figure for the ongoing 
financial year and future financial years may be ad-
justed retroactively if significant changes are antici-
pated on account of specific transactions and if the 
company reaches a written agreement to that effect 
with members of the Management Board either du-
ring the ongoing financial year or before commen-
cement of the financial year. In this context, changes 
are regarded as significant if the target eBtA figure 
varies from the original target figure for the financial 
year in question by more than 5 percent on account 
of a specific transaction (acquisitions or equity hol-
dings). there is no automatic entitlement to an ad-
justment. this provision aims to ensure that target 
eBtA figures are calculated in a manner that is fair 
on both sides in the event of a new acquisition or 
equity holding. 
 5. existing service agreements of the Manage-
ment Board provide for a settlement cap of two ye-
ars’ compensation in the case of early termination. 
Given that the current members of the Management 
Board have been with tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG for 
many years, the company does not deem it neces-
sary to apply the recommendation of the Code, 
according to which the settlement cap is based on 
the total compensation for the previous year and, 
where applicable, the anticipated total compensati-

on for the current year. In the view of the supervi-
sory Board, the existing rules in the service agree-
ments of the Management Board comply with the 
requirement for commensurate remuneration. It 
therefore sees no need for change. furthermore, if 
such an agreement is made in advance to calculate 
the settlement cap on the basis of the total compen-
sation for the previous year and, where applicable, 
the anticipated total compensation for the current 
year, this might not adequately reflect the concrete 
circumstances that subsequently lead to the early 
termination of service or other aspects of the situa-
tion in particular cases at the time of termination.
 6. tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG’s corporate policies 
deviate from the recommendation of the German 
Corporate Governance Code by not stipulating any 
age limit for Management Board members, which it 
feels would arbitrarily restrict tOMOrrOW fOCUs 
AG’s supervisory Board in its choice of suitable 
Management Board members.
 7. the supervisory Board of tOMOrrOW  
fOCUs AG does not specify concrete objectives re-
garding its composition. Consequently, it is not possi-
ble to comply with the associated recommendations 
in Number 5.4.3. Up to the present, when submit-
ting proposals for election to the supervisory Board,  
it has been guided solely by the suitability of can-
didates with the aim of ensuring that the supervi-
sory Board is made up of members who between 
them possess the knowledge, skills and professional 
experience to perform their duties in the correct 
manner. In the view of the supervisory Board, this 
method has proven successful, and it therefore sees 
no need to change the current practice.
 8. the tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG supervisory 
Board has six members and is proportionate to the 
company’s size. tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG does not 
believe that the formation of committees consisting 
of members of this six-person board would impro-
ve its efficiency, which is why no committees are 
formed. the supervisory Board as a whole also 
handles issues of accounting, risk management and 
compliance, the necessary independence required 
of the auditor, the issuing of the audit mandate to 
the auditor, the determination of focal points for the 
audit and the fee agreement. 
 9. At the Annual General Meeting of tOMOr-
rOW fOCUs AG on 1 June 2011, a resolution was 
adopted to amend the Articles of Association of the 
company in such a way that with effect from   
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the financial year beginning on 1 January 2011 the 
compensation payable to members of the supervi-
sory Board would consist entirely of a fixed salary.
In removing the variable component of compensa-
tion, the aim is to strengthen the independence of 
the supervisory Board. experience shows that the 
volume of work and the liability risk of members of 
the supervisory Board do not develop in line with 
the business performance of the company and the 
corresponding movements in the company’s sha-
re price. these indicators were previously used 
to calculate the variable compensation payable to 
members of the supervisory Board. In the view 
of tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG, it is often in difficult 
times, when the share price and therefore variable 
compensation may fall, that the supervisory Board 
is called upon to perform its supervisory and advi-
sory roles with particular attention. the exclusion 
of a variable component is supported by many of 
those involved on different sides of the corporate 
governance debate and accords with international 
best practice in this area. the new rule adopted by 
the Annual General Meeting reflects this view.
 10. Although the Chairperson of the superviso-
ry Board, by virtue of his/her function, has a consi-
derably higher workload, the Deputy Chairperson’s 
workload is no higher than that of the other super-
visory Board members. for this reason the Depu-

ty Chairperson of the supervisory Board does not 
receive a different level of remuneration from that 
received by the other members of the supervisory 
Board.
 11. the company refrains from discussing half-ye-
arly and quarterly reports with the supervisory Board 
before their publication. for reasons of time and be-
cause of legislation covering insider dealing, it is the 
view of the company that respective discussions would 
lead to delays in providing information to the capital 
markets.

since issuing its last declaration of conformity in 
April 2011, tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG has observed 
all the recommendations of the latest version of the 
Code (26 May 2010) with the exception of points  
1 to 3 and 5 to 11 above.

Munich, Germany, December 2011

Dr. Paul-Bernhard Kallen stefan Winners
On behalf of the  On behalf of the

supervisory Board Management Board

Management and control structure

Roles of the Management Board and Supervisory 
Board
tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG is a company under German 
law, which also forms the basis of the German 
Corporate Governance Code. One of the fundamental 
principles of German stock corporation law is the 
dual management system involving two bodies, the 
Management Board and the supervisory Board, each 
of which is endowed with independent competences. 
tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG’s Management Board and 
supervisory Board cooperate closely and in a spirit of 
trust in managing and controlling the Company. 
 
tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG’s Management Board cur-
rently comprises three members. As an executive 
body, they are jointly responsible for managing the 

Company’s business operations in the best interests 
of the organisation with a view to achieving a  
sustained increase in shareholder value. the  
allocation of duties and responsibilities to the indi-
vidual Board members is presented separately in 
this section. 
the supervisory Board advises and supervises the 
Management Board in the management of the Com-
pany. It is involved in strategic and planning decisi-
ons and all decisions of fundamental importance to 
the Company. In accordance with the terms of refe-
rence, decisions taken by the Management Board 
on major transactions such as the annual budget, 
major acquisitions or divestments require the ap-
proval of the supervisory Board. the Chairperson of 
the supervisory Board coordinates the work of the 
supervisory Board, chairs its meetings and repre-
sents its interests in all contact with outside bodies.
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the Management Board provides the supervisory 
Board with comprehensive up-to-date information 
in writing and at regular meetings about the bud-
get, the development of business and the situation 
of the Group, including risk management and com-
pliance. An extraordinary supervisory Board mee-
ting may be convened if required when events of 
particular relevance occur. the supervisory Board 
has adopted rules of procedure governing its work. 
In the run-up to supervisory Board meetings, the 
representatives of shareholders and employees 
meet separately, where necessary.

tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG has taken out a D&O in-
surance policy for all members of the Management 
Board and supervisory Board.  

Composition of the Supervisory Board
In accordance with the Articles of Association,  
tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG’s supervisory Board com-
prises six members with identical periods of office. 
the current members of the supervisory Board were 
elected at the general meeting of shareholders on 1 
June 2011. factors taken into account in nominating 
candidates for election to the supervisory Board are 
the knowledge, skills and expertise required to im-
plement the tasks as well as diversity. the supervi-
sory Board does not include any former members 
of the Management Board. It comprises a sufficient 
number of independent members not maintaining 
any personal or business relationship with the Com-
pany or its Management Board. the supervisory 
Board has been elected for a period of five years 
that will expire at the end of the 2016 annual gene-
ral meeting. the supervisory Board of tOMOrrOW 
fOCUs AG does not form any committees.
Management and supervisory Board members are 
obliged to act in tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG’s best 
interests. In the last financial year, there were no 
conflicts of interest requiring immediate disclosure 
to the supervisory Board. None of the Management 
Board members of tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG sat on 
the supervisory boards of incorporated firms out-
side the Group. 

Compensation report
the main details of the compensation systems ad-
opted and the compensation paid can be found in 
the Compensation report, which forms part of the 
Group Management report. 

Risk management
Details of the risk Management system employed 
by the tOMOrrOW fOCUs Group can be found 
in the risk report, which forms part of the Group 
Management report.

Transparency
tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG provides immediate, 
regular and up-to-date information about the 
Group’s economic situation and new developments 
to capital market participants and interested 
members of the public. the annual report, half-
year financial report and interim quarterly reports 
are published within the applicable time frames. 
the Company publishes media releases and ad hoc 
announcements, if required, on topical events and 
any new developments. All relevant information is 
published in German and english and is available in 
print form or via appropriate electronic media such 
as email or the internet. the company website at 
www.tomorrow-focus.de also provides information 
on tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG and the tOMOrrOW 
fOCUs share.

Accounting and auditing
tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG prepares its consolidated 
financial statements in accordance with the 
provisions of the International financial reporting 
standards (Ifrs) as applicable in the european 
Union. the single-entity annual financial statements 
of tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG are prepared in 
accordance with the German Commercial Code 
(HGB, Handelsgesetzbuch). the consolidated 
financial statements are prepared by the 
Management Board, audited by the auditors and 
approved by the supervisory Board. 

the consolidated and single-entity financial 
statements of tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG are audited 
by PricewaterhouseCoopers Aktiengesellschaft 
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, frankfurt am 
Main (Munich office), the auditors elected by the 
2011 general meeting of shareholders.
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Germany’s robust economic growth in 2011 pro-
vided the ideal foundation for a very satisfactory 
rise in both revenue and earnings at tOMOrrOW 
fOCUs AG. there were particularly strong perfor-
mances in the Advertising segment from our digital 
marketing specialist tOMOrrOW fOCUs Media 
and the news portal focus Online. thanks to a  
significant improvement in earnings, the segment 
was able to report a successful turnaround. Within 
the transactions segment, there was a major in-
crease in capital expenditure on the internationali-
sation of HolidayCheck. Nevertheless, the segment 
maintained a high level of earnings, driven by po-
sitive operating results. the technology segment, 
made up of Cellular and tft, also contributed a 
healthy set of revenue and earnings figures.

Overall, the tOMOrrOW fOCUs Group achieved 
another substantial rise in revenue and operating 
profit. this is due to its sustainable business stra-
tegy and above all to the high level of commitment 
shown by its employees and managerial staff and 
by the Management Board.  

Main issues discussed by the Supervisory Board
the supervisory Board of tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG 
performed the activities incumbent upon it under 
German law and the company’s articles of associ-
ation during the financial year 2011. It conferred 
regularly with the Management Board and diligent-
ly supervised its activities. Both verbally and in wri-
ting, the Management Board kept the supervisory 
Board informed about the business plan, the latest 
business situation, future strategy, risk management 
and all major events affecting the company. the  
supervisory Board was directly involved in all deci-
sions of fundamental relevance to the Group.

All resolutions proposed by the Management Board 
were approved by the supervisory Board after  
detailed examination.
 A total of four regular supervisory Board mee-
tings were held on 24 March, 31 May, 11 October 
and 12 December 2011. three decisions were taken 
by written circulation on 11 January, 14 february 
and 28 July 2011.
 the main issues discussed at the regular su-

pervisory Board meetings were the development 
of revenue, earnings, employment levels and the 
financial and cash position of tOMOrrOW fOCUs 
AG and the Group.
 On 11 January 2011, by means of written circu-
lation, the supervisory Board approved a proposal 
to restructure the company’s borrowings.
 On 14 february 2011, again by means of writ-
ten circulation, the supervisory Board approved a 
proposal to bring forward the appointment of Dr 
Dirk schmelzer to the position of Chief financial 
Officer of tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG by one month to 
1 March 2011.
 At its meeting on 24 March 2011, the super-
visory Board discussed the development of the 
company’s business in the financial year 2010 and 
examined the financial statements and manage-
ment report of tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG and the 
Group for the year ending 31 December 2010. It 
also looked at the anticipated strategic and organi-
sational development of the tOMOrrOW fOCUs 
Group for the year 2011. the Management Board 
then reported on the AdJug Group and the current 
status of the sale process. Jörg trouvain and fried-
rich von scanzoni, respectively CeO and Managing 
Director International at HolidayCheck AG, reported 
on the latest business situation and the progress 
made in the company’s internationalisation. the 
supervisory Board also discussed a proposal for 
the renting of new business premises by Cellular 
GmbH in Hamburg, Germany. to conclude, the  
supervisory Board adopted the agenda for the 2011 
annual general meeting. 
 At the supervisory Board meeting on 31 May 
2011, one day before the annual general meeting 
of shareholders, the Management Board reported,  
inter alia, on current market developments and on 
the situation of the tOMOrrOW fOCUs Group 
including its prevailing cash situation. It also pre-
sented a detailed report on the results of a strategy  
review. the Management Board went on to inform 
the supervisory Board in detail about the progress 
of the AdJug sale, especially with regard to the offers 
received. the supervisory Board gave its approval 
for a number of resolutions, including a proposal to 
enter into exclusive sale negotiations with Dentsu 
Inc. this was followed by a report from Matthias 

Dear Shareholders, 
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Papet, Managing Director at HolidayCheck france, 
on the company’s debut in the french market.
 On 28 July 2011, the supervisory Board  
approved a proposal to sell a 35.86 percent stake 
in AdJug to Dentsu Inc. this decision was taken by 
written circulation. 
 the meeting held on 11 October 2011 included 
an assessment by the Management Board of the  
latest market and business conditions. the  
Management Board also gave a detailed explana-
tion of tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG’s current M&A 
activities. the supervisory Board adopted a reso-
lution in principle to devise a long-term incentive 
programme covering the years 2011 to 2015, both 
for the Management Board and selected senior  
employees at tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG, as well as for  
Managing Directors of the Group’s subsidiaries. 
 the supervisory Board meeting held on 12 
December 2011 again included an assessment of 
the latest market and business conditions and the 
status of the company’s M&A activities. the Ma-
nagement Board presented its business plan for 
tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG covering the financial 
year 2012, including details of the anticipated cash 
situation. the plan was discussed at length and 
then approved by the supervisory Board.  
 the supervisory Board subsequently examined 
the issue of compliance with the latest version of 
the German Corporate Governance Code dated 26 
May 2010. It approved the Declaration of Confor-
mity with the German Corporate Governance Code 
drawn up together with the Management Board 
and, as recommended by the Code, conducted a 
detailed review of its own efficacy.

Outside the regular supervisory Board mee-
tings, the Chairperson of the supervisory Board 
was in personal or telephone contact with the 
Management Board several times a month in  
order to remain up to date with developments in 
the business situation and significant business 
transactions. the Chairperson of the supervisory 
Board also held separate strategy meetings with 
the Management Board to discuss the outlook 
and future strategy of individual business areas. 

Composition of the Supervisory Board
Helmut Markwort and Jean-Paul schmetz stepped 
down from the supervisory Board following elec-
tions held at the annual general meeting on 1 June 
2011. Annet Aris and Philipp Welte were elected to 
succeed them on the supervisory Board.

Composition of the Management Board
Dr Dirk schmelzer became Chief financial Officer 
of tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG on 1 March 2011. In this 
newly created role he will be responsible for fi-
nance, Controlling, Investor relations and Human 
resources. the appointment was formally made by 
the supervisory Board at its meeting on 28 septem-
ber 2010.  
 On 19 December 2011, tOMOrrOW fOCUs 
AG’s Chief executive Officer, stefan Winners, infor-
med the supervisory Board that he does not intend 
to extend his contract beyond 31 December 2012, 
when it is due to expire. the supervisory Board 
wishes to thank stefan Winners for his outstanding 
work. 
 the supervisory Board will appoint a new CeO 
over the course of 2012. 

Dr. Paul-Bernhard Kallen, Chairperson of the Supervisory Board
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Committees
the long-term incentive programme was approved 
in principle at the supervisory Board meeting on 11 
October. At the same meeting, a decision was taken 
to form a committee made up of the Chairperson 
Dr Kallen and members of the supervisory Board 
Dr rittstieg and Professor Dr leberfinger. the com-
mittee was set up to negotiate the specific contrac-
tual details with the Management Board.  
 On 14 December, a committee was formed 
made up of the Chairperson Dr Kallen and mem-
bers of the supervisory Board Philipp Welte and 
Martin Weiß. this committee was tasked with the 
selection of a recruitment consultant to manage 
the search for a new CeO. 

Corporate Governance  
No member of the supervisory Board attended fewer 
than half of the supervisory Board meetings.
 No conflicts of interest of the members of the 
supervisory Board arose in connection with their 
membership of the tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG super-
visory Board.
 At its meeting on 12 December 2011, the su-
pervisory Board examined the efficacy of its acti-
vities as required by the German Corporate Gover-
nance Code.
 the Management Board and supervisory Board 
made a joint declaration of conformity pursuant to 
section 161 of the German stock Corporation Act 
(Aktiengesetz, AktG) on 12 December 2011. the 
declaration was made permanently available to the 
public on the company’s website. reference is also 
made to the Corporate Governance report informa-
tion included in the 2011 Annual report.

Annual financial statements and consolidated  
financial statements 
tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG prepared its annual  
financial statements and management report in 
accordance with the statutory requirements of the 
German Commercial Code (Handelsgesetzbuch, 
HGB). the consolidated financial statements and 
the Group management report were prepared in 
accordance with International financial repor-
ting standards (Ifrs).
 the statutory auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers 
Aktiengesellschaft Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft 
(PwC), frankfurt am Main, Germany (Munich of-
fice) audited the annual financial statements and 
the management report of tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG 

for the financial year from 1 January to 31 Decem-
ber 2011 and the consolidated financial statements 
and the Group management report for the same  
financial year. the auditor was requested at the 
time of its appointment to place the main emphases 
of the audit on the realisation and correct accrual 
of revenue; the impairment value of goodwill in the 
consolidated financial statements and of equity in-
vestments in the single-entity financial statements; 
the recognition and valuation of intangible assets 
in the consolidated financial statements, the calcu-
lation and impairment value of deferred tax assets 
and liabilities; the final consolidation of the AdJug 
Group; and the completeness of the information 
provided in the notes to the financial statements. 
 Pursuant to section 317, paragraph 4 of the 
German Commercial Code (Handelsgesetzbuch, 
HGB), the auditor carried out an inspection and 
found that the Management Board has put in place 
a monitoring system, that the company fulfils the 
statutory requirements for early detection of risks 
that might jeopardise the existence of the company 
and that the Management Board has taken suitable 
steps to identify new developments and counteract 
risks at an early stage.
 the auditor submitted the declaration of inde-
pendence required under the German Corporate 
Governance Code to the supervisory Board and 
disclosed the audit and consultancy fees charged 
for the corresponding financial year. 
 the auditor detailed the audit principles in 
the audit report. It ascertained that tOMOrrOW  
fOCUs AG complied with the statutory require-
ments of the German Commercial Code (Handels-
gesetzbuch, HGB) and/or Ifrs. the auditor did not 
raise any objections in connection with the audit. 
 the annual financial statements and the conso-
lidated financial statements received the auditor’s 
unqualified approval. the single-entity financi-
al statements, consolidated financial statements,  
single-entity management report, Group manage-
ment report and the auditor’s report were made 
available to all members of the supervisory Board. 
the financial statements were discussed in detail 
at the supervisory Board’s balance sheet meeting 
on 23 March 2012 in the presence of the auditor, 
who also provided a report. the supervisory Board 
went on to consider the findings of the audit on the 
impairment value of goodwill in the consolidated 
financial statements and of equity investments in 
the single-entity financial statements before going 
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on to discuss the final consolidation of the AdJug 
Group.
 the single-entity financial statements, the ma-
nagement report, the consolidated financial state-
ments and Group management report were presen-
ted to the supervisory Board for examination. the 
supervisory Board scrutinised in particular the final 
consolidation of the AdJug Group as well as the me-
thod of calculating the recognition and impairment 
value of deferred taxes.

No objections were raised after conclusion of this 
examination. the supervisory Board therefore ap-
proved the result of the examination at its meeting 
on 23 March 2012. the single-entity and consolida-
ted financial statements prepared by the Manage-
ment Board were endorsed and adopted by the su-
pervisory Board. the supervisory Board approved 
the management report and the Group manage-
ment report and agreed with the assessment of the 
company’s future development.

Scrutiny of the dependency report pursuant to 
section 314, paragraphs 2 and 3 of the German 
Stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz, AktG)
At its meeting on 23 March 2012, the superviso-
ry Board examined the report drawn up by the  
Management Board of tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG 
pursuant to section 312 of the German stock Cor-
poration Act (Aktiengesetz, AktG) on the disclosure 
of related-party transactions in the financial year 
2011 (dependency report).  

No objections were raised following this exami-
nation. the Management Board explained the ad-
vantages and possible risks associated with the 
transactions specified in the dependency report to 
the members of the supervisory Board, who then  
examined and weighed them against each other. 
the supervisory Board also requested an explanati-
on of the principles according to which the services 
provided by the company and the consideration  
received are determined. 

the auditor also examined the dependency report 
and issued the following audit opinion:

“following our statutory audit, it is our considered 
judgment that:
1. the factual information contained in the report is 
accurate; 

2. in terms of the legal transactions shown in the re-
port that were conducted under the circumstances 
known at the time, the consideration paid by the 
company was not inappropriately high.” 

the auditor submitted the audit report to the  
supervisory Board. the dependency report and  
audit report were made available to the supervisory 
Board in good time. the statutory auditor attended 
the meeting of the supervisory Board on 23 March 
2012 and outlined the most important results of its 
audit of the dependency report.

the supervisory Board, for its part, examined the 
Management Board’s dependency report and the 
audit report produced by the statutory auditor. 

the supervisory Board agreed with the audit  
findings and approved the report based on 
the concluding results of its own examina-
tion on 27 March 2012. following the con-
cluding result of the audit, there are no  
objections from the supervisory Board to the  
declaration of the Management Board at the end of 
the dependency report.

Thanks
the supervisory Board would like to thank the  
Management Board and all employees of the  
tOMOrrOW fOCUs Group for their excellent 
work in 2011 and wishes the company’s manage-
ment and workforce renewed success in 2012.

Munich, Germany, March 2012

On behalf of the supervisory Board

Dr. Paul-Bernhard Kallen
Chairperson
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1. Corporate structure and core business 

tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG is based in Munich, Ger-
many, and is an independent Internet group.the 
Group’s business activities are divided into three 
operating segments: transactions (formerly e-Com-
merce), Advertising (formerly Portal) and technolo-
gies; and a non-operating segment: Holding.
 the transactions segment includes Holiday-
Check AG, eliteMedianet GmbH and jameda GmbH. 
 the Advertising segment comprises 
finanzen100 GmbH and tOMOrrOW fOCUs 
Media GmbH (formerly tOMOrrOW fOCUs 
Portal GmbH). Up to 31 July 2011, the AdJug 

Group was also consolidated in this segment. 
from 1 August 2011 onwards, it has been conso-
lidated at equity and its contribution to earnings 
recognised in the fi nancial result. 
 
since the fi nancial year 2011, jameda GmbH has 
been consolidated in the transactions segment. It 
was previously allocated to the Advertising seg-
ment on account of its advertising-based business 
model. 

the technologies segment is made up of 
tOMOrrOW fOCUs technologies GmbH and 
Cellular GmbH.

TOMORROW FOCUS Group management report 
for the fi nancial year 2011

Business segments of 
TOMORROW FOCUS AG

TRANSACTIONS
transaction-based and 

subscription-based 
business models

HolidayCheck AG 
93.75 %*

elitemedianet GmbH 
100 %* tOMOrrOW fOCUs 

technologies GmbH
100 %*

   jameda GmbH
100 %*

TECHNOLOGIES
Integrated services for mobile 

and stationary solutions

   Cellular GmbH
100 %*
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2. General information about the 
management report

Defi nitions  
All mentions of ‘tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG’, 
‘tOMOrrOW fOCUs Group’, ‘the group of com-
panies’ or ‘the Group’ in this management report 
relate to the tOMOrrOW fOCUs Group.  

Forward-looking statements
this management report contains statements and 
information about the future which are based on 
the assumptions and estimates of the Management 
Board of tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG. All statements 
contained in the management report which are not 
based on past facts are forward-looking statements. 
these statements refl ect our current expectations 
and assumptions after consideration, among other 

things, of the general economic framework and sec-
tor-specifi c developments, opportunities to recruit 
and promote the loyalty of employees, online com-
petition and competition in the Internet and media 
sector, business strategy implementation, the deve-
lopment and launch of new products and services, 
opportunities to exploit intellectual property, the 
regulatory and political environment, adaptation 
to technological progress, market acceptance of 
our products and services, risks relating to terro-
rist attacks and war, specifi c environmental risks 
and their potential consequences for parts of the 
company, the integration of acquired companies 
or assets, the satisfaction of customer expectations 
and other risks and uncertainties. When used with 
reference to the tOMOrrOW fOCUs Group, typi-
cal phrases and words such as ‘intend’, ‘estimate’, 
‘expect’, ‘believe’, ‘plan’, ‘reckon’, ‘estimate’, ‘will’, 
‘should’, ‘would’, ‘want’, ‘are confi dent that’, etc., 
indicate that a statement is forward-looking and ba-
sed on present expectations, assumptions and esti-
mates. Although we feel that these expectations are 
realistic, we cannot guarantee their correctness. 
Assumptions can be affected by a vast number of 
internal and external risks and uncertainties, which 
may cause the actual results to be considerably 
more positive or negative than the forward-looking 
statements or forecasted results. We recommend 
that readers do not rely on these statements to an 
inappropriate extent. the tOMOrrOW fOCUs 
Group does not intend nor is it under any obligati-
on to update or correct forward-looking statements.

internal control system
revenue and profi ts are some of the parameters 
which tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG analyses monthly 
and compares with the original business plan and 
the twice-yearly extrapolation forecast to control 
and monitor the development of individual sub-
sidiaries.  
 In addition, further key performance indicators 
are calculated each month for control purposes and 
are used within all the operating companies of the 
tOMOrrOW fOCUs Group. external indicators 
such as infl ation rates, interest rates, general eco-
nomic trends and market-specifi c business deve-
lopments are also regularly analysed for company 
management purposes. In addition, there are regu-
lar scheduled meetings and shareholder meetings 
with the individual subsidiaries. 

ADVERTISING
Advertising-based 
business models

tOMOrrOW fOCUs 
Media GmbH

100 %*

finanzen100 GmbH
100 %*

* Participating interests of tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG in percent
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3. Macro-economic situation

German economy shows further signs of 
recovery
According to Deutsche Bank’s Global Market re-
search unit, Germany’s real gross domestic product 
rose by 3.0 percent in 2011 compared to the previ-
ous year.   
 A report on the economic situation in the tO-
MOrrOW fOCUs Group‘s key market segments in 
2011 is provided below. 

Transaction-based services play increasingly 
important role
the German market for transaction-based online 
services aimed at private consumers (B2C) is bene-

fiting from the trend towards increasing use of the 
Internet. According to the 2011 Allensbach Compu-
ter and technology Analysis (ACtA), the number of 
online buyers has been growing remarkably steadi-
ly for years. In 2004, 45 percent of the population 
between the ages of 14 and 64 had used the Inter-
net to buy products or services; in 2011 the figure 
reached 69 percent. 

According to the online travel market facts and fi-
gures 2011 published by the German Association 
of Internet travel Marketing (Verband Internet rei-
severtrieb e.V. - VIr), use of the Internet to book 
holidays has grown at an even faster rate than its 
use to search for information about holidays. the 
survey forecasts that 29 percent of all Germans over 

C h A N g E s  ov E r  p r E v i o u s  y E A r  ( i N  p E r C E N t )

German GDP growing again

source: German federal statistics Office (DestAtIs)
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Strong growth in online  
holiday bookings

Base: German population 14+; by January of the year 
source: rA 2001-2011 face-to-face, fUr
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Strong growth in number of  
online buyers

Base: German population from 14 to 64 years
source: Allensbach Computer and technology Analysis (ACtA) 2004 to 2010
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2010    3.6

2011    3.0
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the age of 14 will have made an online booking in 
2011. the corresponding figure for 2009 was 24 
percent and for 2007 19 percent. total market re-
venue (online and offline) for 2011 is estimated at 
eUr 49.71 billion. Almost half of this figure (eUr 
24.6 billion) is attributed to the online sector. the 
figures include all travel services, e.g. flights, hotels 
and package tours.

In the view of the company, the market for dating 
platforms on the German-language Internet is also 
likely to have shown moderate growth in 2011. 

Clear growth in online advertising 
Nielsen Media research expects total gross expen-
diture on advertising in Germany to be eUr 29.6 
billion in 2011, which constitutes a eUr 1.2 billi-
on increase (around 4.4 percent) over the previous 
year‘s figure. tV was once again the most important 
advertising medium, generating gross advertising 
income of eUr 11.1 billion in Germany during 2011 
(2010: eUr 10.9 billion). the German newspapers 
take second place with advertising income of eUr 
5.2 billion (2010: eUr 5.4 billion), followed by con-
sumer publications, which generated advertising 
income of eUr 3.6 billion (2010: eUr 3.4 billion). 
Gross advertising expenditure for the classic online 
advertising covered by the Nielsen surveys (not in-
cluding affiliate network and keyword advertising) 
was eUr 3.2 billion in 2011. the gross figure for 
year-on-year growth is around eUr 0.8 billion or 
approximately 35 percent. the corresponding fi-
gure for 2010 was also around 35 percent. 

tOMOrrOW fOCUs estimates that the gap bet-
ween gross and net growth did not widen any fur-
ther in 2011. As a result, the net rate of growth in 
percentage terms is at roughly the same level.

Continued growth in iT services market
According to the forecast issued by the German 
Association for Information technology, telecom-
munications and New Media (Bundesverband für 
Informationswirtschaft, telekommunikation und 
neue Medien - BItKOM), the German It services 
market achieved a market volume of eUr 35.5 bil-
lion in 2011, around 3.8 percent up on the previous 
year. the Management Board regards this assess-
ment as realistic. 

Market share of online advertising is increasing

* classical online advertising without affiliate networks and search engine marketing; source: Nielsen Media research, gross advertising expenditure in 2010 and 2011

M A r k E t  s h A r E s  o f  A dv E rt i s i N g  M E d i A  i N  2 0 10  A N d  2 0 1 1  ( i N  p E r C E N t )

Poster 3.7%  (2010: 3.4%)

radio 4.7% (2010: 4.8%)

Internet* 10.8% (2010: 8.2%)

Other types of media 2.0% (2010: 2.2%)

Advertising spots 11.5% (2010: 11.7%)

Popular magazines 12.2% (2010: 12.5%)

 (2010: 38.4%) television 37.5%

 (2010: 18.8%) Daily press 17.6%

r E v E N u E  i N  E u r  b i l l i o N

2008  34.4

2009  32.5

2010  33.0

 2011*  34.2

IT services market is steadily growing

*forecast; source: BItKOM – ICt market figures November 2011
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4. Significant measures and events  

Transactions segment
TOMORROW FOCUS AG completes takeover of 
jameda GmbHg 
Under a notarised agreement dated 28 January 
2011, tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG acquired the re-
maining shares in jameda GmbH. At the same 
time, Dr Philipp Goos was appointed to the positi-
on of Managing Director of the company. jameda 
GmbH operates the physician ratings portal jame-
da.de. 
 the remaining 49.01 percent of the company’s 
shares were acquired by focus Magazin Verlag 
GmbH in a deal worth eUr 826 thousand including 
the settlement of shareholder loans. As a result, tO-
MOrrOW fOCUs AG now holds 100 percent of the 
shares in jameda GmbH. 

Advertising segment
TOMORROW FOCUS AG sells 35.86 percent 
of stake in AdJug Ltd.
In August 2011, tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG sold 
35.86 percent of its stake in AdJug ltd. to the media 
and advertising group Dentsu Inc., which acquired 
a total holding of 80 percent in the company. the 
share held by tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG fell accor-
dingly to 20 percent.
 tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG continues to be repre-
sented on AdJug’s five-strong international board 
with one seat. this position is occupied by Chri-
stoph schuh, Member of the Management Board at 

tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG. AdJug founders Michael 
stephanblome and satish Jayakumar remain in 
charge of operational management at AdJug ltd.  
 the deconsolidation of AdJug ltd. produced 
a positive contribution of around eUr 1.5 million 
to the earnings of tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG. A put/
call agreement was reached covering the remaining 
shares in AdJug ltd. Providing specific revenue and 
earnings targets are met, this will generate further 
contributions to the Group’s consolidated earnings. 
since 1 August 2011, tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG‘s 
investment in AdJug ltd. has been recognised at 
equity.

Administration
TOMORROW FOCUS AG agrees refinancing deal 
worth EUR 36.5 million
In April 2011, tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG successful-
ly restructured its borrowings by means of a eUr 
36.5 million financing package that included the 
issue of a 5-year bonded loan for eUr 26.5 milli-
on. Placement of the bonded loan was arranged by 
landesbank Baden-Württemberg (lBBW) as the 
sole bookrunner.
 As part of the early refinancing package, higher-
interest loans were repaid on attractive terms or 
prematurely extended. A four-year loan totalling 
eUr 10 million was agreed with a major German 
bank.
 the loans are unsecured and are not subject 
to financial covenants that could allow a lender to 
cancel a loan with immediate effect if stipulated  
financial indicators are not met. 

2011 annual general meeting accepts proposal for 
first-ever dividend and elects new Supervisory Board
the 2011 annual general meeting of tOMOrrOW 
fOCUs AG was held in Munich, Germany, on  
1 June. All the items on the agenda requiring  
approval were adopted by large majorities.
 the shareholders who attended the meeting 
voted on a number of resolutions and were una-
nimous in approving a proposal to distribute the 
company’s first-ever dividend of eUr 2.7 million, 
equivalent to eUr 0.05 per qualifying notional  
no-par-value share.   
 elections to the supervisory Board were also 
held at the annual general meeting. While existing 
Members Dr Paul-Bernhard Kallen, Dr Andreas 
rittstieg, Prof Dr leberfinger and Martin Weiss 
were confirmed in office, Helmut Markwort and 

At the beginning of 2011, TOMORROW FOCUS AG took over the remaining shares in 
jameda GmbH, which operates a physician rating portal by the same name.
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Jean-Paul schmetz stepped down as planned at 
the end of the general meeting. In their place, the 
shareholders elected two new members at the an-
nual general meeting: Annet Aris, Professor at the 
Institut européen d’Administration des Affaires (IN-
seAD) in fontainebleau, france, and Philipp Welte, 
Management Board Member Publishing at Hubert 
Burda Media Holding Geschäftsführungs-GmbH, 
Munich, Germany. following the general meeting, 
the supervisory Board re-elected Dr Paul-Bernhard 
Kallen to the position of chairperson.

Stefan Winners to resign as CEO on 31 December 
2012 and to join Management Board of 
Hubert Burda Media 
tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG’s Chief executive Officer, 
stefan Winners, informed the supervisory Board on 
19 December 2011 that he does not intend to renew 
his contract with the company when it expires on 
31 December 2012. 
 At that point, stefan Winners, who took up the 
position of CeO at tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG in June 
2005, will join the Management Board of Hubert 
Burda Media Holding, with specific responsibility 
for the Burda Digital division. 
 the supervisory Board of tOMOrrOW fOCUs 
AG will make every effort to find a suitable replace-
ment as CeO over the course of 2012.

5. Earnings, financial position and assets 
of the TOMORROW FOCUS Group

Earnings position of the TOMORROW FOCUS Group 
the consolidated revenue of the tOMOrrOW fO-
CUs Group for the financial year 2011 showed a 
year-on-year increase of 6 percent from eUr 128.2 
million to eUr 135.9 million. this was primarily 
achieved by a strong performance in all three business 

segments. revenue from the transactions segment 
rose 5.4 percent to eUr 90.1 million, while the Adver-
tising segment put on 2.0 percent to reach eUr 32.6 
million. the technologies segment ended the year up 
22.5 percent at eUr 13.2 million.

the 2011 revenue figures for the tOMOrrOW  
fOCUs Group as a whole and for the Advertising 
segment include revenue of eUr 7.6 million from 
the AdJug Group. tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG sold 
part of its majority holding in the AdJug Group 
on 1 August 2011. the corresponding revenue for 
the financial year 2010 was eUr 11.1 million. the 
2010 revenue figures for the tOMOrrOW fOCUs 
Group as a whole and for the transactions segment 
include revenue of eUr 10.2 million from Playboy 
Deutschland Publishing GmbH, which was sold on 
31 October 2010. 

After adjusting for both AdJug and Playboy, the 
consolidated revenue of the tOMOrrOW fOCUs 
Group for the financial year 2011 showed a year-
on-year increase of 20.0 percent from eUr 106.9 
million to eUr 128.3 million

Group earnings before interest, taxes, depreciati-
on and amortisation (Group EBiTDA) fell by 10.7 
percent to eUr 21.4 million in the financial year 
2011 from eUr 24.0 million in the previous year.

Group earnings before interest and taxes (Group 
EBiT) stood at eUr 16.8 million for the financial 
year 2011 compared to eUr 15.9 million in the  
previous year. this is equivalent to a rise of 5.6  
percent.

the consolidated financial result of the tOMOrrOW
fOCUs Group for the financial year 2011 was  

Philipp Welte, Management Board Member Publishing at Hubert Burda Media Holding 
Geschäftsführungs-GmbH

Annet Aris, Professor at the Institut Européen d’Administration des Affaires (InSEAD
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minus eUr 3.7 million compared to minus eUr 2.8 
million in the previous year. this was mainly due to 
higher interest payments on borrowings following 
an increase in liabilities to banks. 

Group earnings before taxes (Group EBT) for the 
financial year 2011 were unchanged on the previ-
ous year at eUr 13.1 million.

Group earnings after taxes for the financial year 
2011 were eUr 11.2 million, up 5.9 percent on the 
previous year’s figure of eUr 10.6 million.

Group comprehensive income (loss) for the finan-
cial year 2011 declined by 24.8 percent to eUr 9.1 
million, compared to eUr 12.2 million in 2010. 

Consolidated earnings per share for the financi-
al year 2011 were eUr 0.21, down from the figure 
of eUr 0.22 in the previous year. However, if the 
above non-recurring items are included, consolida-
ted earnings per share rose from eUr 0.16 to eUr 
0.21.

2006

2007

2008

2009

2010

2011

 65.6

 74.9

 77.1

 92.2

revenue  
(eUr million)

 106.9**

 128.3*

 7.6

 15.5

 9.6

 12.6

eBItDA
(eUr million)

 18.2**

 21.4

 4.8

 11.7

 5.7

 8.9

eBIt
(eUr million)

 12.6**

 16.8

 4.3

 6.3

 2.3

 2.1

earnings after taxes 
(eUr million)

 7.2**

 11.2

 0.10

 0.15

 0.05

 0.05

earnings per share 
(eUr)

 0.16**

 0.21

Development of TOMORROW FOCUS Group revenue and earnings

*  adjusted to exclude revenue from the AdJug Group (deconsolidated in August 2011) 
**  adjusted to exclude revenue from Playboy Deutschland Publishing GmbH (deconsolidated in November 2010) and revenue from the AdJug Group 

(deconsilidated in August 2011); furthermore the figures have been adjusted for the one-off revenue from the sale of Playboy Deutschland 
Publishing GmbH and non-recurring depreciation of capitalised, self-produced software.
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there follows a breakdown of the earnings situation 
for financial 2011 in each of the business segments. 
eBItDA for the Transactions segment was down 
7.7 percent at eUr 21.9 million compared to eUr 
23.7 million in the financial year 2010. eBIt was 
9.2 percent lower at eUr 20.2 million (2010: eUr 
22.3 million). this decline was mainly due to incre-
ased eBIt charges of eUr 2.6 million following the 
internationalisation of HolidayCheck AG and the 
first-time inclusion in the transactions segment of 
jameda GmbH, which was still operating at a loss. 

eBItDA for the Advertising segment in the finan-
cial year 2011 showed an improvement from minus 
eUr 1.0 million in 2010 to eUr 3.1 million, while 
eBIt stood at eUr 1.2 million compared to minus 
eUr 6.7 million in the previous year. the main fac-
tor here was revenue and earnings growth at both 
tOMOrrOW fOCUs Media, the Group’s premium 
Internet marketing specialist, and the news portal 
focus Online. In addition, segment eBIt for 2010 
includes a non-recurring charge of eUr 2.5 million 
for the amortisation of capitalised, self-generated 
software. 

In the Technologies segment, both eBItDA and 
eBIt were up on the previous year: eBItDA at eUr 
1.7 million (2010: eUr 1.3 million) and eBIt at eUr 
0.7 million (2010: eUr 0.4 million). the increase 
was mainly due to the segment’s strong business 
performance.

eBItDA for the non-operating Holding segment 
declined to minus eUr 5.2 million from minus eUr 
0.1 million in the previous year. the lower figure for 
2011 is largely attributable to non-recurring income 
of eUr 5.1 million allocated to the Holding segment 
in 2010 following the sale of the stake in Playboy 
Deutschland Publishing GmbH, significantly excee-
ding the non-recurring income of eUr 1.5 million 
in 2011 from the sale of part of the company’s in-
terest in the AdJug Group.

Notes to other items in the statement of income
the tOMOrrOW fOCUs Group‘s other operating 
income declined from eUr 10.0 million in 2010 to 
eUr 5.4 million in 2011. In the previous year, this 
item contained non-recurring income of eUr 5.8 
million from the disposal of the company’s stake 
in Playboy Deutschland Publishing GmbH. Other 
operating income for financial 2011 includes a non-

recurring sum of eUr 1.5 million from the sale of 
part of the company’s stake in the AdJug Group.
Cost of materials at the tOMOrrOW fOCUs Group 
stood at eUr 23.7 million in financial 2011 compa-
red to eUr 26.7 million in the previous year. this 
fall was partly due to the sale of Playboy Deutsch-
land Publishing GmbH in 2010, which had previ-
ously generated materials costs of eUr 3.9 million.  

the tOMOrrOW fOCUs Group‘s personnel  
expenses for the financial year 2011 increased to 
eUr 41.1 million (2010: eUr 36.7 million). this 
was primarily due to the higher number of staff.

Depreciation and amortisation of intangible and 
tangible assets was down from eUr 8.1 million in 
2010 to eUr 4.6 million. the higher figure for the 
previous year was mainly due to non-recurring im-
pairment charges of eUr 2.5 million on self-gene-
rated software.

Other operating expenses at the tOMOrrOW 
fOCUs Group rose from eUr 52.2 million in 2010 
to eUr 57.0 million. the main factor here was a 
eUr 4.8 million increase in the marketing and sales 
costs of the transactions segment.

Actual taxes were eUr 0.4 million down on the 
previous year at eUr 2.0 million. this was due to a 
fall of eUr 0.3 million in tax payments at Holiday-
Check AG. the figure for 2010 includes eUr 0.2 
million in tax payments for Playboy Deutschland 
Publishing GmbH, which was sold in 2010.

Additional disclosures
tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG became the sole sharehol-
der of finanzen100 GmbH on 10 November 2010. 
As such, from this date onwards there is no disclo-
sure of minority interests. 

tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG became the sole sharehol-
der of jameda GmbH on 28 January 2011. As such, 
from this date onwards there is no disclosure of mi-
nority interests. Consequently, following the decon-
solidation of the AdJug Group on 1 August 2011, 
there is now no disclosure of minority interests.  
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Notes to the statement of cash flows
Net cash from operating activities in 2011 was lar-
gely unchanged on the previous year at eUr 17.4 
million (2010: eUr 16.8 million).

Net cash used in investment activities was down 
slightly from eUr 4.0 million in 2010 to eUr 3.2 
million. this was mainly due to a decline in net 
cash outflows for acquisitions that outweighed the 
decline in cash inflows from disposals. In financi-
al 2011, a total of eUr 0.5 million was spent on 
purchasing the remaining shares in jameda GmbH. 
By contrast, in the previous year, a total of eUr 4.1 
million was paid out for the remaining shares in 
finanzen100 GmbH and for the remaining instal-
ments owed for the purchase of 14 percent of the 
shares in HolidayCheck AG. In 2011, cash inflows 
from the disposal of shares in the AdJug Group (ta-
king into account its deconsolidation) stood at eUr 
2.9 million, whereas net cash inflows in 2010 from 
the disposal of Playboy Deutschland Publishing 
GmbH stood at eUr 5.1 million.

Net cash from financing activities was up eUr 
24.0 million at eUr 13.7 million. this was prima-
rily due to cash inflows of eUr 36.5 million in con-
nection with new borrowings. there were no new 
borrowings in the previous year. In 2011, loan re-
payments produced cash outflows of eUr 18.8 mil-
lion. this compares to a figure of eUr 9.0 million 
for loan repayments in the previous year. A further 
cash outflow of eUr 2.7 million in 2011 was due to 
the company’s first-ever dividend payment.  

Cash at the end of the year was up as a result from 
eUr 16.6 million in 2010 to eUr 44.3 million in 
2011.

The asset position of the 
TOMORROW FOCUS Group
Financial management objectives
the main financial management objective of the 
tOMOrrOW fOCUs Group is to safeguard liqui-
dity at all times in order to ensure that the Group is 
able to perform its day-to-day business operations. 
Another objective is the optimisation of profitability 
to attain the maximum possible credit rating with 
a view to obtaining favourable refinancing terms.  

Notes on the capital structure
On the asset side of the consolidated balance sheet, 
non-current assets were down 4.5 percent from 
eUr 119.5 million in 2010 to eUr 114.2 million as 
at 31 December 2011. this was mainly due to a re-
duction of eUr 6 million in the figure for goodwill 
following the sale of a 35.86 percent holding in the 
AdJug Group and the recognition at equity of the 
remaining 20 percent stake. Goodwill fell by a fur-
ther eUr 2 million as a result of a lower revaluation 
of the HolidayCheck put/call options. this led to an 
overall decline of eUr 9.9 million in the balance 
sheet items ‘Concessions, industrial property rights 
and similar rights as well as the licences there-
to’, ‘software developed in-house’ and ‘Goodwill’, 
while the item ‘At-equity investments’ showed an 
increase of eUr 3.2 million. ‘Other assets’ ended 
the year up eUr 0.7 million, largely on account of 
an amount receivable for the disposal of shares in 
AdJug ltd.

At eUr 70.2 million, current assets as at 31 Decem-
ber 2011 were 71.6 percent up on the previous 
year’s figure of eUr 40.9 million. the key factors 
here were an increase of around eUr 2.1 million 
in trade receivables to eUr 22.1 million reflecting 
a higher level of business activity and an increase 
of eUr 27.7 million in cash and cash equivalents to 
eUr 44.3 million, mainly as a result of new borro-
wings.
 
On the liabilities side of the consolidated balance 
sheet, equity was eUr 96.6 million as at 31 Decem-
ber 2011, which is 1.7 percent higher than the year-
end figure of eUr 94.9 million for 2010. this incre-
ase was mainly caused by a reduction of eUr 4.5 
million in the consolidated accumulated loss that 
outweighed a decline of eUr 2.1 million in other 
reserves. 
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the decline in the consolidated accumulated loss is 
calculated by subtracting the following items from 
consolidated net income for the year (eUr 11.3 mil-
lion): the dividend payment (eUr 2.7 million) and 
the recognised balance sheet figure for a contin-
gent purchase price component of eUr 4.1 million 
linked to the acquisition of the remaining shares 
in jameda GmbH on 28 January 2011. Cash flow 
hedges valued at eUr 2 million were set against 
other reserves. 

As a result of increased liabilities, the equity ratio 
as at 31 December 2011 fell to 52.4 percent compa-
red to 59.2 percent at the end of the previous year.

Non-current liabilities as at 31 December 2011 
were eUr 56.8 million, up 86.2 percent from eUr 
30.5 million as at 31 December 2010. 

the main reasons for this increase were a rise of 
eUr 23.4 million in liabilities to banks on account 
of new borrowings under a package of early refi-
nancing measures. In addition, other liabilities rose 
by eUr 3.8 million, primarily due to an overall in-
crease in earn-out obligations and higher person-
nel provisions as part of a long-term incentive pro-
gramme.

Current liabilities decreased year on year from 
eUr 35.0 million as at 31 December 2010 to eUr 
31.0 million as at 31 December 2011. the main 
factors here were reductions of eUr 5.0 million 
in liabilities to banks, eUr 1.5 million in trade pa-
yables and eUr 0.4 million in liabilities to affilia-
ted entities. these outweighed increases of eUr 
1.9 million in other liabilities and eUr 1.1 million 
in income tax liabilities. 

 81.3

 137.9

 138.7

 158.1

total assets  
(eUr million)

 160.4

 184.4

 47.4

 49.2

 63.3

 83.7

equity
(eUr million)

 94.9

 96.6

 33.9

 88.7

 75.4

 74.4

Debt 
(eUr million)

 65.5

 87.8

 58.3

 34.9

 46.6

 52.9

equity ratio  
(in percent)

 59.2

 52.4

 41.7

 65.1

 53.4

 47.1

Debt ratio  
(in percent)

 40.8

 47.6

Development of TOMORROW FOCUS Group key balance sheet figures
2006

2007

2008

2009

2010

2011
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the decline in current liabilities to banks is due to 
the repayment of loans. the increase in other liabi-
lities is predominantly attributable to higher perso-
nnel provisions.

the figure for overall liabilities ended the year up 
34.0 percent at eUr 87.8 million. 

Total assets increased by 14.9 percent from eUr 
160.4 million at the end of 2010 to eUr 184.4 
million as at 31 December 2011. the relationship 
between items in the balance sheet shows a shift 
towards a greater level of external financing. Cur-
rent liabilities are covered entirely by current as-
sets, while non-current assets are covered entirely 
by equity and non-current liabilities. 

Financial performance indicators
revenue, gross income, operating expenses and 
operating result are some of the parameters which 
tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG analyses and compares 
with the original business plan and the twice-ye-
arly forecasts so that it can control and monitor the 
development of individual subsidiaries. external 
indicators such as inflation rates, interest rates, ge-
neral economic trends, business development wi-
thin each market and forecasts are also regularly 
analysed for company management purposes in the 
tOMOrrOW fOCUs Group. the year–on-year de-
velopment of return on sales and return on equity is 
also monitored. As can be seen from the following 
year-on-year comparison, return on sales remained 
stable, while return on equity showed a slight in-
crease.

Non-financial performance indicators
In addition to an efficiently managed organisation, 
the following non-financial performance indicators 
make an important contribution to the long-term 
success of the tOMOrrOW fOCUs Group. 

Customer satisfaction 
taking customer needs into account is an elementa-
ry aspect of the tOMOrrOW fOCUs Group‘s busi-
ness philosophy. the objective is to create optimum 
added value for customers by working precisely, to 
deadline and delivering high quality results while 
remaining flexible and aware of costs. In all this, we 
never lose sight of our customers‘ interests. 
 Customer satisfaction is measured decentrally 
by each Group company to allow for their different 
customer structures. 
 Members of the German Online Marketing 
Group (Onlinevermarkterkreis - OVK), one of which 
is tOMOrrOW fOCUs, commission it to conduct 
a detailed customer satisfaction survey every year. 
the survey results (not published here for con-
tractual reasons) are evaluated in great detail by 
tOMOrrOW fOCUs, which then decides on and 
implements whatever measures are deemed neces-
sary to make further improvements in customer sa-
tisfaction.
 In addition, HolidayCheck is the first hotel ra-
ting platform to have been awarded a certificate 
from the quality review association tÜV süd and 
has come out on top in many comparison tests 
such as that conducted most recently by the Ger-
man consumer magazine ‘Clever reisen!’ in January 
2012.
 the premium dating agency elitePartner was 
also awarded a certificate by tÜV süd. 
 furthermore, from the financial year 2010 on-
wards, an annual customer satisfaction review will 
be conducted centrally for the major B2C brands 
operated by the tOMOrrOW fOCUs Group, such 
as HolidayCheck, elitePartner, fOCUs Online, 
jameda.de and finanzen100. Beginning in the fi-
nancial year 2011, this procedure has been exten-
ded to important B2B brands, such as Cellular and 
tOMOrrOW fOCUs technologies.

RATiO CALCULATiON 2011 2010

return on sales Group earnings after taxes ÷ consolidated revenue   8.2%   8.2%

return on equity Group earnings after taxes ÷ equity 11.6% 11.1%

Important financial performance indicators of TOMORROW FOCUS Group
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Employee skills  
the tOMOrrOW fOCUs Group generates the 
majority of its revenues through the know-how of 
its employees. that is why we provide employees 
with targeted development opportunities. they are 
encouraged to improve their personal and profes-
sional skills on a regular basis and to utilise their 
potential to the full.  
 to this end, a wide range of training seminars is 
offered for employees and managerial staff to sup-
port their professional development and strengthen 
their commitment to the company. target agree-
ment and feedback interviews (tAf) are held bet-
ween employees and superiors on an annual basis.
these measures form part of a corporate culture 
that is characterised by scope for creativity, flat 
hierarchies, and open and constructive communi-
cation.

Product and service quality  
the tOMOrrOW fOCUs Group is committed to de-
livering products and services marked by excellent 
quality and total customer orientation. to this end, 
regular in-house training is provided to the emplo-
yees of the Group. In addition outside inspectors 
regularly carry out checks in relation to the quality 
of services rendered by individual companies and 
brands of the tOMOrrOW fOCUs Group. By way 
of example, the websites www.holidaycheck.de 
and www.elitepartner.de were awarded the s@afer 
shopping certificate by the quality review associati-
on tÜV süd in recognition of their quality, security 
and transparency. We know that ongoing innovati-
on, which allows us to keep improving our products 
and services, is vital to our long-term success.

Knowledge of markets 
One of the main factors contributing to the sustai-
nable development of the tOMOrrOW fOCUs 
Group has been its extensive knowledge of the mar-
kets that are relevant to the company, and this will 
come to be even more important in the future. Con-
sequently, the tOMOrrOW fOCUs Group strives 
to recruit people with a good level of technical and 
industry knowledge for positions within the Group 
and to provide regular opportunities for professio-
nal development. Consulting firms specialising in 
the multimedia sector are also engaged to analyse 
the relevant markets.

6. Research and development activities

tOMOrrOW fOCUs technologies GmbH, one of 
the companies making up the tOMOrrOW fOCUs 
Group, is responsible for either implementing many 
of the Advertising segment’s development acti-
vities itself or for commissioning and monitoring 
them. research and development activities in the 
transactions and technologies segments are con-
ducted on a decentralised basis within the Group 
companies, and the relevant development costs are 
capitalised as self-created software. All other deve-
lopment costs are recognised as an expense under 
cost of materials. 
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7. Remuneration report

Remuneration report for the Management Board
the overall structure of the remuneration system for 
the Management Board is determined by the entire 
supervisory Board. there is therefore no commit-
tee within the supervisory Board that deals speci-
fically with the issue of remuneration for Members 
of the Management Board. the remuneration paid 
to the Members of the Management Board depends 
on the company‘s size and orientation, as well as its 
economic and financial position. It is also fixed at a 
competitive rate as an incentive for committed and 
effective work in a dynamic environment.  
 the remuneration of Management Board Mem-
bers includes a fixed element and a variable per-
formance-related element of between 20 percent 
and 35 percent. Around one third of this variable 
element is dependent on meeting individual perfor-
mance targets, while the other around two thirds 
are profit-related. the level and scope of each com-
ponent are specified by the supervisory Board for 
each new financial year. 
 from the financial year 2011 onwards, Mem-
bers of the company’s Management Board are now 
given long-term incentives in the form of a share 
price-based performance share plan awarded in 
annual tranches. Members of the Management 
Board are allocated a number of virtual shares in 
the company based on the degree to which eBtA 
(earnings before taxes and amortisation) targets 

have been met. these virtual shares are subject to a 
minimum holding period of three years, after which 
the Members of the company’s Management Board 
receive a cash payment (vested after the first year). 
A company car is also provided to Management 
Board Members. there are no further elements of 
remuneration.
 the annual general meeting held on 1 June 
2011 decided by qualified majority to apply the ‘opt 
out’ clause, thus exempting tOMOrrOW fOCUs 
AG from the statutory obligation to provide indivi-
dual disclosures up to and including the financial 
year 2015.
  In the financial year 2011, payments to the 
three-strong Management Board totalled eUr 
1.992 million (2010: eUr 1.105 million). this figure 
includes fixed remuneration of eUr 1.012 million 
and variable remuneration of eUr 0.980 million. 
there were only two Members of the Management 
Board in 2010. 

Shareholdings of Management Board Members
stefan Winners held a total of 113,816 tOMOr-
rOW fOCUs shares as at 31 December 2011. this 
corresponds to approximately 0.21 percent of tO-
MOrrOW fOCUs AG‘s shares.  
 Christoph schuh held a total of 138,128 tO-
MOrrOW fOCUs shares as at 31 December 2011. 
this corresponds to approximately 0.26 percent of 
tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG‘s shares.
 Dr Dirk schmelzer held a total of 46,000  

PERSONS SUBJECT  
TO DiSCLOSURE  
REqUiREMENTS

TRANSACTiON 
DATE TRANSACTiON

STOCK 
EXCHANGE qUANTiTy

SHARE PRiCE 
in €

Dr. Dirk Schmelzer 26 Apr. 2011 Purchase of shares Xetra 5,000 4.40

11 Aug. 2011 Purchase of shares stuttgart 5,000 3.80

14 Nov. 2011 Purchase of shares OtC 30,000 3.69

Christoph Schuh 31 May 2011 sale of shares Xetra 13,038 4.9099

01 June 2011 sale of shares Xetra 19,439 4.9662

08 June 2011 sale of shares Xetra 1,695 5.23

09 Aug. 2011 Purchase of shares Xetra 10,000 3.35

Stefan Winners 30 May 2011 sale of shares Xetra 689 4.95

30 May 2011 sale of shares OtC 13,816 4.8929

31 May 2011 sale of shares Xetra 5,000 4.90

01 June 2011 sale of shares Xetra 20,495 5.0024

03 June 2011 sale of shares OtC 10,000 5.0397

Transactions in TOMORROW FOCUS shares
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tOMOrrOW fOCUs shares as at 31 December 
2011. this corresponds to approximately 0.09 per-
cent of tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG‘s shares.

In 2011, tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG received the fol-
lowing disclosures of securities transactions invol-
ving Members of the Management Board pursuant 
to section 15a of the German securities trading Act 
(Wertpapierhandelsgesetz, WpHG).  

Other Management Board-related disclosures
the members of tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG‘s execu-
tive bodies and the executive bodies of all affiliated 
entities are exempted by tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG 
from third-party claims if such exemption is legally 
admissible. the company has third-party liability 
cover (D&O insurance) in respect of the members 
of its executive bodies and its executive officers. It 
covers personal liability for claims in respect of fi-
nancial loss arising from the managerial activities 
of directors and officers. there is a deductible of 
eUr 0.55 million on the above D&O insurance for 
Members of the Management Board. 
 there are no other pension commitments in re-
spect of Management Board Members.

Remuneration report for the Supervisory Board
the remuneration of the tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG 
supervisory Board is regulated in article 11 of 
tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG‘s articles of association, 
which stipulate a fixed amount of eUr 25,000 for 
every Member of the supervisory Board for each 
complete financial year and double this amount for 
the Chairperson. A pro rata sum is paid to Members 
of the supervisory Board who do not serve for a full 
financial year.  

the Members of the supervisory Board received 
the following remuneration in the financial year 
2011:

the company also incurred eUr 75 thousand in 
costs in connection with a service contract with 
a firm of lawyers in which one supervisory Board 
Member is a partner (2010: eUr 7 thousand). 

Shareholdings of Supervisory Board Members
At the end of the financial year 2011, the total number 
of shares in tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG held directly or 
indirectly by all Members of the supervisory Board 
stood at 1,356,514. With a total of 1,004,779 shares 
(including 531,250 held indirectly), Dr Paul-Bern-
hard Kallen, Chairperson of the supervisory Board, 
was above the established limit for individual disclo-
sure of 1 percent of the total shares issued.  

PERSONS SUBJECT TO DiS-
CLOSURE REqUiREMENTS

DATE OF THE
TRANSACTiON TRANSACTiON

STOCK  
EXCHANGE qUANTiTy

SHARE PRiCE 
in €

Philipp Welte 19 Aug. 2011 Purchase of shares Xetra 10,000 3.50

Dr. Paul-Bernhard 
Kallen 27 Dec. 2011 Donation made OtC 50,000 n/a

Christopherus 
 Kinderstiftung* 27 Dec. 2011 Donation received OtC 50,000 n/a

* tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG shares held by the Christopherus Children’s foundation are attributable to Dr Paul-Bernhard Kallen pursuant to section 15a paragraph 3 of the 
German securities trading Act (Wertpapierhandelsgesetz, WpHG). All transactions undertaken by the Christopherus Kinderstiftung (Children’s foundation) involving these 
shares must be disclosed pursuant to section 15a paragraph 1 of this Act.

Transactions involving TOMORROW FOCUS shares

Remuneration of the  
Supervisory Board 2011

SUPERViSORy BOARD 
MEMBER

COMPENSATiON
in €

Dr. Paul-Bernhard Kallen  

(Chairperson) 50,000.00

Dr. Andreas Rittstieg  

(Deputy Chairperson) 25,000.00

Prof. Dr. Stefan Leberfinger 25,000.00

Martin Weiss 25,000.00

Annet Aris 14,583.33

Philipp Welte 14,583.33

Helmut Markwort 10,416.67

Jean-Paul Schmetz 10,416.67
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Other disclosures relating to the 
Supervisory Board
tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG has third-party liability co-
ver (D&O insurance) without a deductible in respect 
of the Members of its supervisory Board. further 
information about this insurance is provided un-
der Other Management Board-related disclosures 
which forms part of this remuneration report.

Other disclosures
In line with the incentive programme devised for 
Members of the Management Board, senior em-
ployees of tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG and the ma-
naging directors of its subsidiaries also qualify for 
long-term incentives in the form of a share price-
based performance share plan awarded in annual 
tranches. Qualifying staff are allocated a number of 
virtual shares in the company based on the degree 
to which eBtA (earnings before taxes and amorti-
sation) targets have been met. these virtual shares 
are subject to a minimum holding period of three 
years, after which the holders receive a cash pay-
ment (vested after the first year).
 there are no stock option plans or similar secu-
rities-based incentive schemes for the supervisory 
Board or other employees at tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG. 

8. Employees 

the average headcount for the tOMOrrOW fO-
CUs Group in 2011 was 590 full-time equivalents 
(ftes). the corresponding figure for 2010 was 562 
ftes. On average, 19 people worked at tOMOr-
rOW fOCUs AG during the year (2010: 15), inclu-
ding the Members of the Management Board. 

the employees of the tOMOrrOW fOCUs Group 
worked in the following segments (average figures 
for the year): see table above

the tOMOrrOW fOCUs Group‘s personnel ex-
penses amounted to eUr 41.1 million in financial 
2011 following eUr 36.7 million in the previous 
year. 

9. Events of particular significance 
after the reporting date

No further events occurred after the year-end re-
porting date for 2011 that might be of particular 
significance for tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG.

Number of employees of TOMORROW FOCUS Group by segments

Administration 19 (2010: 15)

(2010: 187)  Advertising 148

(2010: 286)  transactions 337

 technologies 86 (2010: 74)
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10. Risk report

The TOMORROW FOCUS Group‘s risk 
management system
As holding company, the tOMOrrOW fOCUs 
Group is exposed to many different types of risk 
arising from the wide range of business activities 
of the individual companies making up the Group. 
these risks can result in the entire Group being un-
able to meet financial, operational or strategic busi-
ness objectives. the tOMOrrOW fOCUs Group 
therefore has to identify and analyse the risks and 
implement suitable measures to eliminate or miti-
gate these risks in order to safeguard its long-term 
business success.

Report and notes pursuant to section 315, 
paragraph 2, number 5 and section 289, 
paragraph 5 of the German Commercial Code 
(Handelsgesetzbuch, HGB)
the tOMOrrOW fOCUs Group has established  
a comprehensive risk management system that 
forms an integral part of the Group’s value-based 
control and planning system. furthermore, it is ful-
ly incorporated into the overall planning, control 
and reporting process covering all the relevant le-
gal entities and central functions, and aims to syste-
matically identify, evaluate, check and document all 
significant risks including any risks that may jeo-
pardise the company’s existence. Potential risks are 
usually assessed over a two-year planning period, 
although in discussions aimed at establishing its 
medium-term and strategic targets tOMOrrOW 
fOCUs AG also identifies and monitors long-term 
risks. With regard to defined risk categories, the 
risk management process involves identifying risks 
to the Group’s business areas, operating units, as-
sociated companies and central areas, assessing 
the probability of those risks and evaluating the 
possible extent of damage, generally in terms of 
their potential impact on eBIt. the communication 
and reporting of relevant risks are controlled using 
parameters established by management. those 
in positions of responsibility are also expected to  
devise and, where applicable, initiate measures to 
avoid, reduce and safeguard against risks. During 
the course of the year, control processes are in place 
to monitor the principal risks and the correspon-
ding measures taken to counter them. In addition 
to scheduled reporting, there is an internal Group  
requirement covering the reporting of unanticipa-

ted risks that may emerge. the department respon-
sible for central risk management prepares regular 
reports for the Management Board and supervisory 
Board on the risks it has identified. the risk ma-
nagement system allows the Management Board to 
identify significant risks at an early stage and adopt 
appropriate countermeasures. the internal audit 
team assesses the efficacy of the risk management 
system as defined in the risk management hand-
book by means of targeted inspections. It conducts 
sample tests to examine compliance with statutory 
requirements and internal Group directives, and in-
itiates appropriate measures where required.

With regard to the accounting process, the aim of 
the internal control and risk management system is 
to ensure the correctness and effectiveness of ac-
counting and financial reporting. It is an integral 
component of the accounting and financial repor-
ting processes within the tOMOrrOW fOCUs 
Group. Wherever accounting processes are out-
sourced to service providers, their control and risk 
management systems are adapted to the particular 
requirements of our organisation and monitored by 
us on an ongoing basis. 

the systems are supported by a finely woven net-
work of internal controls. the internal control sys-
tem was implemented under the supervision and 
responsibility of the Management Board and is de-
signed to provide adequate assurance that:

•  financial reporting is reliable and that the prepa-
ration of the consolidated financial statements com-
plies with the law and with established standards 
including the International financial reporting 
standards (Ifrs);  

•  financial statements and reports are complete;

•  authorisation processes are observed and imple-
mented in good time;

•  the cross-checking principle is fully implemen-
ted in relation to the allocation of It accounting  
systems and only authorised persons have access 
to critical functions;

•  the principles of the segregation of functions and 
of cross-checking are maintained with regard to the 
preparation of financial statements;  
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•  all transactions are recognised promptly and in 
due time so that the financial statements can be 
drawn up by the scheduled date;

•  intra-group transactions are fully recognised,  
reconciled and eliminated; and

•  matters of accounting significance or those sub-
ject to disclosure requirements in relation to con-
tractual agreements are identified and correctly 
shown in the financial statements.

In evaluating the internal control system, processes 
at the level of the single legal entities were inclu-
ded where they were deemed to be of significance 
for Group reporting purposes. the control targets 
were checked against the implemented controls 
and evaluated. the effectiveness of these systems 
is continuously reviewed, further developed and 
improved. systematic checks are performed to mo-
nitor compliance with the internal control system 
and to ensure that it remains up to date. the results 
of all accounting-related internal controls are sum-
marised in a report which is made directly available 
to the Management Board and supervisory Board.
 With regard to the accounting process, it should 
be noted that the internal control and risk manage-
ment system can only offer a relative degree of as-
surance. regardless of the care taken in designing 
the system, it does not provide an absolute safe-
guard that financial reporting objectives will be met 
or that significant accounting inaccuracies will be 
detected or avoided. 

Economic risks of the TOMORROW FOCUS 
Group
Uncertainties as a result of changes to the political, 
legal or social framework can have a negative im-
pact on the tOMOrrOW fOCUs Group‘s business 
operations, assets, financial and earnings positions. 
Germany, Central and Western europe are the tO-
MOrrOW fOCUs Group‘s core markets. While in 
the past they have proven to be relatively stable 
economic areas offering excellent development 
opportunities to the companies operating there, in 
2009 Central and Western europe experienced the 
worst economic crisis since the end of the second 
World War, one that produced swiftly increasing 
levels of debt among the states making up the eu-
ropean Union. It remains to be seen what measures 
are adopted by the individual states and the euro-

pean Union in response to these debt problems.  
As a result of such measures, there is a significant 
risk of serious political, legal and social uphea-
val. In turn, this could have major implications for 
companies operating in the region, including the  
tOMOrrOW fOCUs Group.  
 Natural disasters, epidemics or terrorist attacks 
can also result in economic, political and social  
instability. this, in turn, can have a negative impact 
on the local, regional and even the world economy 
and place constraints on the investment decisions 
of the tOMOrrOW fOCUs Group’s customers and 
their readiness to invest. However, the negative im-
pacts of events of this nature on the economy in 
recent years have been relatively short-lived, and 
therefore have no long-term significance for our 
business development. At the same time, we would 
like to emphasise that an event such as the out-
break of a global flu epidemic, resulting in a high 
number of deaths, could have an extremely serious 
effect on the world economy and on the companies 
operating in the world‘s markets. terrorist attacks 
such as those targeted at the Internet‘s infrastruc-
ture could also have a significant impact on the 
tOMOrrOW fOCUs Group‘s results and possibly 
even jeopardise its going concern status. It is not 
possible to make any realistic assessment of the 
probability of such an attack. 

Market risks of the TOMORROW FOCUS Group
Innovative technologies are constantly being  
introduced in the markets where the tOMOrrOW 
fOCUs Group operates, and they are subject to  
rapid and significant change. to satisfy the needs 
and requirements of customers in these markets, 
the tOMOrrOW fOCUs Group continually deve-
lops new products and services, and adapts exi-
sting ones.
 the fact that the tOMOrrOW fOCUs Group 
now has three pillars reduces its dependence on 
developments in any one specific sales market. 
the first is the transactions segment, which gene-
rates B2C transaction-based revenue; the second 
is the Advertising segment, which generates B2B 
advertising revenue; and the third is the technolo-
gies segment with its B2B It services revenue. the 
transactions and Advertising segments play a more 
dominant role.
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Transactions segment   
A general stagnation of spending by mostly private 
consumers in this segment could have a negative 
impact on its further business development and 
possibly also threaten the entire company‘s exi-
stence. Possible causes include increasingly strong 
competition, the entry of new competitors to the 
market, e.g. Google or facebook, or new techni-
cal innovations which compete with the segment’s 
own products and services. In order to reduce these 
risks, the tOMOrrOW fOCUs Group focuses on 
established, well-known brands and screens the 
market on a regular basis. 
 At HolidayCheck, a temporary or long-term sta-
gnation in holiday travel, e.g. as a result of natural 
disasters, political unrest in popular holiday areas, 
terrorist attacks, a sharp increase in energy prices 
or a recession, could have a very negative impact 
on revenue and profits at HolidayCheck AG and the 
entire tOMOrrOW fOCUs Group.  
 the transactions segment is also exposed to 
cost risks, especially in connection with Holiday-
Check and eliteMedianet, if considerably higher 
marketing expenditure is necessary for television 
advertising and search engine marketing (seM), 
particularly on Google. Both companies make in-
tensive use of television advertising and seM, as 
marketing instruments, in their marketing activi-
ties, so a substantial price increase by television 
broadcasters or Google would have a negative im-
pact on the profit situation of the transactions seg-
ment and the entire tOMOrrOW fOCUs Group. 
 Many Internet users no longer search direct-
ly for news and other information on established 
web portals such as fOCUs Online. Instead, they 
use search engines, and in particular the market 
leader, Google. As a result, search engine optimi-
sation (seO) has gained in significance. It ensures 
that websites appear high up on the search engi-
ne hit lists when specific search terms are entered. 
Higher rankings generally mean more traffic, which 
can also have a positive effect on advertising and 
business income. search engine optimisation is 
therefore extremely significant from a commercial 
viewpoint for the websites of the transactions and 
Advertising segments. Changes to the algorithms 
used by search engine operators, such as Google, 
can cause the transactions and Advertising seg-
ments’ websites to slip down the hit lists at any 
time, either temporarily or for a lengthy period of 
time, resulting in a decline in search engine-gene-

rated traffic. this can have a substantial negative 
impact on the revenue and profits generated by 
both of these segments and by the entire tOMOr-
rOW fOCUs Group.

Advertising segment
It is thanks to the Advertising segment that the 
tOMOrrOW fOCUs Group is one of the biggest 
online marketing providers in Germany. follow-
ing a particularly constant upswing in the online 
advertising market over a period of some years, 
2008 and 2009 were marked by a more subdued 
level of bookings for graphical online advertising 
(display advertising). this temporary development 
was partly a result of the economic downturn but 
also due to the dominant position of market players 
such as Google. the result has been a fall in prices. 
Although bookings for display advertising expe-
rienced a tangible recovery in the financial years 
2010 and 2011, we cannot exclude the possibility 
that another severe economic downturn, even gre-
ater competition (e.g. from Google or facebook) 
or, despite high market entry barriers, a reduction 
in use of the websites marketed by tOMOrrOW  
fOCUs will again depress income and thus lead to 
further losses. recent high volatility in the online 
market means that this scenario cannot be totally 
ruled out at the present time despite recent success 
in attracting new customers and, as mentioned 
above, an improvement in the order situation.

Technologies segment
the technologies segment develops, implements 
and operates complex stationary and mobile Inter-
net solutions. If the competitive situation becomes 
more acute or new competitors enter the scene, 
this could have a negative impact on the segment‘s 
business and margins. In cases where the econo-
mic crisis leads to new invitations to tender being 
issued for projects that had in fact already been de-
cided on, this can have a very adverse impact on 
revenue and profits. In many cases, projects are 
associated with substantial advance outlay and a 
correspondingly high level of up-front financing  
requirements. effective project controlling allows 
for the timely identification and minimisation of 
these risks and, if necessary, the implementation of 
countermeasures.  
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Strategic risks of the TOMORROW FOCUS 
Group
One major strategic objective is the further impro-
vement of the Group’s market position in the Adver-
tising and transactions segments. the target will 
be achieved by developing successful new products 
and business models, and implementing other 
measures to increase market share and achieve fur-
ther corporate growth. However this also exposes 
the company to risks which may have a negative 
impact on its financial position and earnings. 
 the company is particularly exposed to strate-
gic risks in connection with corporate acquisitions 
and equity investments. these harbour intrinsic 
risks such as the risk of integrating employees, 
processes, technologies and products. As a result, 
it is impossible to guarantee that all bought-in or 
internally developed business activities can be suc-
cessfully integrated or that the integrated measures 
will proceed as planned. such transactions can 
also be associated with considerable acquisition, 
administration and other costs, including the cost 
of integrating acquired business activities. Portfo-
lio measures can also result in additional financing 
requirements, which in turn can increase debt and 
have a negative impact on the financing structure. 
Acquisitions and equity investments can substanti-
ally appreciate the value of non-current assets, in-
cluding goodwill. Impairment of these assets due 
to unforeseen business developments, e.g. a down-
turn in the wider economy, can strongly depress 
results. 
 Overperformance of investments can also 
lead to a substantial increase in any agreed earn-
out payment obligations leading to pressure on  
liquidity. 
 In recent years, the tOMOrrOW fOCUs Group 
has proven that it is capable of counteracting risks 
in connection with new products, acquisitions and 
equity investments, and that it makes effective use 
of opportunities. It therefore believes from today‘s 
perspective that the risk of a significant negative 
impact on the planned development of profits due 
to product innovations and acquisitions remains 
controllable.

Personnel risks of the TOMORROW FOCUS 
Group
Highly-qualified employees and managers are es-
sential to the long-term success of any business 
undertaking. the tOMOrrOW fOCUs Group is 

strongly committed to fostering its employees‘ 
long-term loyalty to the company and to recruiting 
new, highly-qualified employees. Business develop-
ment could be impaired if a large number of these 
employees leave the company within a short time 
span and no adequate replacements can be found. 
In the event of increased competition in the labour 
market to recruit highly-qualified employees, parti-
cularly people with It and Internet expertise, there 
is no guarantee that the Group will be able to retain 
key personnel over the long term.  
 the tOMOrrOW fOCUs Group is determined 
to exploit all business opportunities that present 
themselves and at the same time counteract gene-
ral personnel risks through a series of measures, 
in particular the provision of advanced training for 
further qualifications and the professional deve-
lopment for employees, rigorous succession plan-
ning and additional benefits such as performance-
related remuneration systems. As a result of these 
measures and the Group’s establishment of a solid 
reputation as an attractive employer over the past 
years, the company believes that it can draw on 
its employees’ skills to make effective use of the 
available opportunities. It therefore currently clas-
sifies the risk of significant impairment to business 
development as a result of the loss of employees 
and managers as low. 

Financial risks of the TOMORROW FOCUS 
Group
In respect of financial risks, the tOMOrrOW  
fOCUs Group is primarily exposed to liquidity, 
currency and interest rate risks.
 Negative developments on the capital markets 
can substantially increase the Group’s financing 
costs or even restrict its ability to obtain financing, 
thus seriously reducing its flexibility with regard to 
borrowing. As a consequence, the cash and cash 
equivalents available to the Group may not be suf-
ficient to meet its financial obligations within the 
stipulated periods. 
 In Germany, the past economic and financial 
crisis led to certain restrictions on the availability 
of corporate finance and created a scenario such 
as that outlined above. Against this background, 
the tOMOrrOW fOCUs Group was able to secure 
long-term refinancing for all its existing borro-
wings. these arrangements provide refinancing in 
part up to the beginning of 2016. the terms of the 
new loans are more favourable and are not subject 
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to financial covenants. thanks also to a gratifying 
development in earnings, tOMOrrOW fOCUs 
AG’s medium-term liquidity situation can be descri-
bed as largely secure.
 However, looking ahead at the longer term, it is 
not possible to completely exclude future restricti-
ons on the tOMOrrOW fOCUs Group’s liquidity 
situation, especially in the case of a return to the 
scenario described above. the Group conducts re-
gular simulations and analyses different scenarios 
to reduce the risk of an unexpected shortage of 
cash or financing.  
 the tOMOrrOW fOCUs Group’s asset, liabili-
ties and financial position is largely dependent on 
the performance of its operating segments, but also 
on portfolio measures. A decline in operating re-
sults and cash flows or an increase in net debt could 
reduce its credit rating; in turn, this could drive up 
the cost of funds and have a negative impact on the 
earnings situation.
 the tOMOrrOW fOCUs Group currently has 
an ‘investment grade’ credit rating.  
 As a result, it can take advantage of compara-
tively attractive refinancing options. this is clear, 
for example, from its available credit lines.
 With effect from 1 January 2008, the Group’s 
liabilities towards HolidayCheck AG were trans-
lated from swiss francs to euros. this means that 
HolidayCheck now uses the euro as its functional 
currency, and its income is calculated in euros 
accordingly. this has reduced the currency risk, alt-
hough certain risks remain. there is a risk that the 
company’s salary, rent, marketing and other costs 
could rise substantially in the event of an increase 
in the relative value of the swiss franc against the 
euro, and this could have a negative impact on Ho-
lidayCheck AG’s profits. this currency risk is parti-
ally hedged by means of forward transactions and 
options. 
 the tOMOrrOW fOCUs Group is also expo-
sed to a receivables default risk in connection with 
its operating activities. Accounts receivable are 
managed on a decentralised basis by the subsidi-
aries and equity investments due to the diversity 
of business areas in which the Group operates and 
the resulting diverse debtor structure. the Group 
counteracts default risks in connection with finan-
cial investments and accounts receivable by way of 
regular controls within a narrow time frame, con-
tinuous liquidity monitoring and liquidity control, 
and consistent debt management. 

Asset impairment risks of the TOMORROW 
FOCUS Group
tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG regularly assesses the  
value of the entire Group‘s assets. It performs im-
pairment tests to assess whether there is any im-
pairment in the value of goodwill, intangible assets 
or property, plant and equipment. this might result 
in major asset write-downs which would not lead to 
payouts, but could considerably depress the results 
of the entire tOMOrrOW fOCUs Group. 
 tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG counteracts this 
as best as possible by way of central investment  
controls and monthly reports from all Group  
companies. Deviations from targets are reported to 
the Management Board promptly so that suitable 
countermeasures can be initiated.

Other operational risks of the TOMORROW 
FOCUS Group
the tOMOrrOW fOCUs Group‘s Advertising 
segment uses and profits from established offline 
brands. the success of the online versions of the-
se brands depends, inter alia, on their promotion  
outside the Internet, even though this dependen-
cy has successively lessened in past years. Any 
discontinuation of the printed magazine fOCUs is 
likely to have tangible consequences in terms of the 
popularity of the online version, and thus could lead 
to a decline in reach figures. Given the close link 
between advertising revenue and the site’s reach, 
any fall in user numbers is likely to depress adver-
tising revenue.
 Although fOCUs Online content is created by 
the company‘s own in-house editing team, it is  
geared towards the content and design of the  
fOCUs and fOCUs MONey magazines. In March 
2000, the licence rights to these brands were limi-
ted to a period of 30 years. 
 In March 2009, tOMOrrOW fOCUs Media 
GmbH and the Milchstrasse Publishing Group, 
which forms part of the Burda Group, reached 
a five-year agreement covering the online por-
tals tV sPIelfIlM, CINeMA and fIt fOr fUN.  
Under the terms of this agreement, the Milchstrasse  
Publishing Group is now responsible for the editori-
al production of these three online portals in Ham-
burg, Germany. tOMOrrOW fOCUs Media GmbH 
will continue to market the portals and will retain 
the worldwide trademark rights to the popular life-
style brands in all languages and with no expiry 
date.    
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 In this context, tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG‘s suc-
cess is also linked to the offline success of the abo-
ve brands. 
 tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG holds all rights to 
reproduce and market the above brands via the 
Internet and other online media. the company 
holds the rights to services such as an electronic 
programming guide, use with mobile terminals or 
other online media, irrespective of the mode of 
transmission. However, it cannot be ruled out that 
future technical and legal convergence of television 
and the Internet will cause ambiguities relating to 
exploitation rights on Internet tV. 
 finally, the use of the Group’s Internet portals 
and technical systems may be disrupted tempora-
rily, over a longer period or even permanently for 
numerous reasons, and this may be accompanied 
by the loss of important data and information. the 
list of possible causes includes technical problems 
(e.g. in the form of defective software), disruption 
to the Internet or electricity supplies (e.g. through 
electromagnetic surges) and targeted attacks (e.g. 
computer viruses). Depending on the nature and 
duration of the disruption, the consequences would 
range from a more or less severe loss of revenue 
and earnings as well as high damage repair and 
restore-to-service costs through to a potential thre-
at to the continued existence of the entire Group. 
Despite the wide range of defensive measures 
which are in place, such as state-of-the-art firewall 
technology and virus detection software, we cannot 
completely exclude the possibility of such risks ma-
terialising.

Overall assessment of risks
the risks described in the above risk report could 
potentially have a substantial impact on the earnings, 
assets and financial position of the tOMOrrOW 
fOCUs Group.
 Given gratifying developments in revenue and 
earnings and an improved liquidity position, the 
overall risk situation of the tOMOrrOW fOCUs 
Group shows an improvement on the preceding 
year. As a result, when all known facts and cir-
cumstances are taken into consideration, no risks 
currently exist that could jeopardise the company‘s 
continued existence in the foreseeable future.

11. Opportunities report

Business opportunities are not reported as part of 
the risk management system. they are identified in 
the Group’s annual operational planning and follo-
wed up during the year in its periodic consolidated 
reporting. Direct responsibility for the early identi-
fication and exploitation of opportunities lies with 
the individual business areas. the strategy process 
involves identifying opportunities for further profi-
table growth in the long term. these are then consi-
dered as part of the decision-making process.

Economic opportunities of the TOMORROW 
FOCUS Group
As a business in the Internet sector, consumer con-
fidence and spending can have a direct or at least 
indirect impact on the revenue development. If the 
wider economy develops more positively than fore-
cast, this can provide a boost to revenue and profi-
tability. the same applies to higher demand driven 
by tax policy amendments. legislative alterations, 
such as changes to the rate of taxation on corpo-
rate profits, can also have a positive impact on the 
Group’s profitability.

Market opportunities of the 
TOMORROW FOCUS Group
As an established group of companies with a strong 
position in some areas of the Internet industry, the 
Management Board of tOMOrrOW fOCUs esti-
mates that the Group is well placed to benefit in the 
medium and long term from an anticipated period 
of market consolidation. this should enable it to 
take a greater share of the market and, in doing so, 
to boost revenue and profits, as expected.
 equally, as the stationary and especially the 
mobile Internet continue to penetrate the markets 
in Germany and in other european countries, the-
re are opportunities for the tOMOrrOW fOCUs 
Group to achieve a sustained increase in revenue 
and profits.  
 In the Advertising segment, the continuous 
increase in Internet reach could further boost the 
number of visitors to the Group’s own portals and 
those it markets on behalf of its partners. this 
would have a positive impact on the future revenue 
and profit situation.
 In the transactions segment, the Internet’s pro-
gressive market penetration could help to intensify 
the use of the Group’s own transaction-based Inter-
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net portals, and thereby contribute to an improve-
ment in the future income and profit situation.
 In particular, HolidayCheck and eliteMedianet 
could benefit from the growing volume of Internet-
based transactions that would be associated with 
the Internet’s progressive market penetration. At 
HolidayCheck, this could lead to an increase in the 
number of holidays booked. At eliteMedianet, the 
number of paying participants would rise.
 the general expectation for the technologies 
segment is also that the Internet’s progressive mar-
ket penetration will positively impact the future or-
der situation and thus income and profits.
 specifically, this would boost order levels at 
tOMOrrOW fOCUs technologies with a corre-
sponding increase in Cellular’s orders for Internet 
It services.

Other opportunities arising from 
operating activities
the continuous optimisation of key business pro-
cesses and strict controls on costs are crucial in 
assuring high levels of profitability and return on 
capital. 
 At both a centralised and decentralised level, 
the Group consistently pursues new approaches 
with a view to achieving continuous improvements 
in profitability. In this context, one of our aims is to 
further simplify processes across the entire Group 
and individual segments as a means of reducing 
operating inefficiencies.
 With individual companies and segments pla-
cing their expertise at the disposal of the Group as 
a whole, the tOMOrrOW fOCUs Group is able to 
generate synergies that help to boost profits. One 
concrete example of this lies in Group-wide colla-
boration in the area of search engine optimisation.

Strategic opportunities of the 
TOMORROW FOCUS Group
the Group’s corporate strategy is coordinated 
by tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG, and monitored and 
agreed on a regular basis in consultation with the 
business segments. An experienced management 
team and streamlined corporate structures also 
provide an excellent basis for the three business 
segments to make the most effective use of po-
tential opportunities and achieve sustained corpo-
rate growth. A close-knit structure and the ensu-
ing interaction between the companies making up  
tOMOrrOW fOCUs also present opportunities 

such as could only be created within a diversified 
group of companies. this gives us an edge over 
those of our competitors who independently cover 
just a single market segment.

Personnel opportunities of the 
TOMORROW FOCUS Group
the tOMOrrOW fOCUs Group provides numerous 
opportunities for its staff to obtain additional qua-
lifications and participate in professional develop-
ment training programmes. It also offers additional 
benefits such as performance-related remuneration 
systems. As a result of these measures and its suc-
cessful record in past years, the organisation sees 
itself as an attractive employer and one that is in 
a position to make effective use of its employees’ 
skills to exploit potential business opportunities. 

Financial opportunities of the 
TOMORROW FOCUS Group
favourable exchange rate and interest rate deve-
lopments can have a positive impact on the Group’s 
financial result. the tOMOrrOW fOCUs Group’s 
centralised finance department monitors develop-
ments in the financial markets closely in order to 
identify opportunities and exploit them in the in-
terest of the Group as a whole.

Overall assessment of opportunities
It is our assessment that in the financial year 2011 
the tOMOrrOW fOCUs Group was able to expand 
its market position in all the relevant areas. this 
is clear from the revenue and earnings figures for 
2011, which show an improvement over the prece-
ding year. 
 the Management Board is confident that the 
strategic position adopted by the tOMOrrOW 
fOCUs Group as a broadly based Internet media 
group will continue to provide a solid foundation 
for positive development of the business. 
 looking ahead, in terms of opportunities, we 
believe that in 2012 the situation of the Group will 
be similar to that of 2011. 
 there is a distinct possibility that some of our 
key indicators will exceed the levels anticipated in 
the Group’s forward planning with an additional 
positive impact on its earnings, asset and financial 
position.  
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12. Takeover-related disclosures and notes 
pursuant to section 289, paragraph 4 and 
section 315, paragraph 4 of the German 
Commercial Code (Handelsgesetzbuch, 
HGB)

Share capital structure
As at 31 December 2011, the company‘s subscri-
bed share capital amounted to eUr 53,012,390. 
the share capital is divided into 53,012,390 notio-
nal no-par-value bearer shares, each with a nominal 
value of eUr 1. the share capital is paid up in full. 
the shareholders have no entitlement to the issue 
of physical individual shares in accordance with ar-
ticle 4, paragraph 3 of the articles of association, 
except when the issue of physical individual shares 
is required under the rules and regulations of the 
stock exchange where the shares are listed. Global 
certificates can be issued. All shares carry the same 
rights and obligations. each share entitles the hol-
der to one vote at the shareholders‘ meeting and 
evidences the right to a portion of the company‘s 
distributable profit. this does not apply to treasury 
shares held by the company, in respect of which the 
company does not have any rights. the sharehol-
ders‘ rights and obligations are specified in parti-
cular in sections 12, 53a et seq, 118 et seq and 186 
of the German stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz, 
AktG).

Transfer and voting right restrictions
the company is not currently aware of any transfer 
or voting right restrictions.

Disclosures relating to direct and 
indirect shareholdings
According to the German securities trading Act 
(Wertpapierhandelsgesetz, WpHG), any inve-
stor whose share of voting capital reaches certain 
thresholds as the result of purchases, disposals or 
otherwise must notify the company in question and 
the German federal financial supervisory Autho-
rity (Bundesanstalt für finanzdienstleistungsauf-
sicht, Bafin) of this fact. In the financial year 2011, 
the company did not receive any notifications in 
respect of voting rights.

Special rights
shares vested with special rights, such as control-
ling powers or delegation rights, do not exist.

Voting right controls on shares held 
by employees
the Management Board is not aware of any voting 
right controls on shares held by employees of tO-
MOrrOW fOCUs AG. 

Appointment and dismissal of Management 
Board Members and amendments to the articles 
of association
the appointment and dismissal of Management 
Board Members is governed by sections 84 and 85 
of the German stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz, 
AktG). Management Board Members are appointed 
by the supervisory Board for a maximum term of 5 
years. they may be re-appointed or have their term 
extended for one or more terms of up to a maxi-
mum of five years each. 
 Pursuant to article 5, paragraph 1 of the articles 
of association, the Management Board is made up 
of one or more persons. the supervisory Board ap-
points the Members of the Management Board and 
specifies their number. It can also appoint deputy 
Management Board Members. the supervisory 
Board may appoint a Chairperson of the Manage-
ment Board.
 Pursuant to article 5, paragraph 2, the company 
is represented by two Members of the Management 
Board or by one Member of the Management Board 
in conjunction with another employee holding ge-
neral commercial power of attorney (‘Prokurist’ 
under German law). In this respect, deputy Ma-
nagement Board Members have the same status as 
ordinary Management Board Members. If only one 
Member of the Management Board is appointed, he 
or she represents the company alone. the super-
visory Board may grant one or all Members of the 
Management Board the authority to represent the 
company alone and/or exempt them from the ban 
on multiple representation under section 181 of 
the German Civil Code (Bürgerliches Gesetzbuch, 
BGB). the authority of sole representation and/or 
exemption from the ban on multiple representation 
under section 181 of the German Civil Code (Bür-
gerliches Gesetzbuch, BGB) may be revoked at any 
time.
 Pursuant to section 84, paragraph 3 of the Ger-
man stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz, AktG), the 
appointment of Management Board Members and 
the appointment of the Chairperson of the Manage-
ment Board may be revoked if there is good cause.
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 Amendments to the articles of association are 
subject to a resolution of the general meeting of 
shareholders pursuant to section 179 of the Ger-
man stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz, AktG). 
the authority to make amendments to the wording 
only is accorded to the supervisory Board in article 
8, paragraph 5 of the articles of association. the 
supervisory Board is also authorised by resolution 
of the shareholders‘ meeting to amend article 4 of 
the articles of association in accordance with the 
use of contingent capital. resolutions by the ge-
neral meeting of shareholders are taken by simple 
majority pursuant to article 18 of the articles of as-
sociation unless a larger majority is mandatory by 
law. resolutions on amendments to the articles of 
association require at least a three-quarter majority 
of share capital represented according to section 
179, paragraph 2 of the German stock Corporation 
Act (Aktiengesetz, AktG), unless otherwise stipula-
ted in the company‘s articles of association.

Authority of the Management Board to buy back 
the company’s own shares and issue new shares
1. the Management Board is authorised, subject 
to supervisory Board approval, to undertake one or 
more increases in the company‘s share capital until 
15 May 2015 up to a maximum of eUr 26,506,195 
by issuing 26,506,195 notional no-par-value shares 
in exchange for cash or non-cash contributions 
(authorised capital 2010). the Management Board 
is authorised, subject to supervisory Board appro-
val, to exclude shareholders’ statutory subscription 
rights in the following circumstances:
•  where required, to settle fractional amounts;
•  where a capital increase in exchange for cash 
contributions does not exceed 10 percent of the 
share capital, and the issue price for the new shares 
is not significantly lower than the stock market pri-
ce (section 186, paragraph 3, sentence 4 of the Ger-
man stock Corporation Act -Aktiengesetz, AktG); if 
this authority to exclude subscription rights under 
section 186, paragraph 3, sentence 4 of the Ger-
man stock Corporation Act is exercised, due regard 
should be given to other authorities to exclude sub-
scription rights granted by section 186, paragraph 
3, sentence 4 of the German stock Corporation Act;
•  where a capital increase in exchange for non-
cash contributions is carried out for the purpose 
of acquiring another company, an equity stake in 
another company or parts of another company or  

in order to purchase claims against the company.

subject to the approval of the supervisory Board, 
the Management Board is authorised to specify the 
remaining details pertaining to the capital increase 
and its implementation. the supervisory Board is 
authorised to amend the wording of the articles of 
association in line with the use made of authorised 
capital. 

2. A conditional increase in share capital up to 
eUr 4,842,070 by way of issuing up to 4,842,070 
notional no-par-value bearer shares has been car-
ried out (conditional capital 2010). this conditio-
nal capital increase is only implemented to the ex-
tent that the holders of the convertible bonds and/
or bonds with warrants issued by the company up 
to 15 June 2015, on the basis of the authorisation 
of the general meeting of shareholders of 16 June 
2010, actually exercise their conversion or option 
rights or where the conversion obligations linked to 
such bonds are met and to the extent that no other 
methods of servicing such commitments are used. 
the new shares carry dividend rights from the be-
ginning of the financial year in which they are cre-
ated by the exercise of conversion or option rights 
or through the fulfilment of conversion obligations. 
subject to the approval of the supervisory Board, 
the Management Board is authorised to establish 
the further details pertaining to the execution of the 
conditional capital increase. the supervisory Board 
is authorised to amend the wording of the articles 
of association in line with the use made of conditio-
nal capital.

3. By resolution of the annual shareholders‘ mee-
ting of 16 June 2010, the Management Board has 
been authorised to purchase the company’s own 
shares subject to the following conditions. this 
authorisation is limited to the purchase of the 
company’s own shares worth up to 10 percent of its 
share capital, based on the accounting par value. 
It may be exercised in full or in partial amounts, 
on one or more occasions, by the company or by 
third parties acting on its behalf. the authorisation 
expires on 15 June 2015.  
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the purchase should be concluded on the stock ex-
change or by means of a public offering directed at 
all the company’s shareholders.
aa)  If the shares are purchased on the stock ex-

change, the consideration per share paid by the 
company (excluding ancillary purchase costs) 
may not be more than 10 percent higher or 20 
percent lower than the average closing price 
over the ten trading days on the fWB frankfurt 
stock exchange preceding the purchase of the 
shares (XetrA or a comparable successor tra-
ding system) for shares of the same type.

bb)  If the shares are acquired by means of a pu-
blic offering to all the company’s shareholders, 
the price per share offered (excluding ancillary 
purchase costs) may not be more than 10 per-
cent higher or 20 percent lower than the ave-
rage closing price over the ten trading days on 
the fWB frankfurt stock exchange preceding 
the publication of the offer. the purchase offer 
may stipulate further conditions. 

With respect to shares in the company that are 
acquired on the basis of this authorisation or that 
have been acquired on the basis of previous autho-
risations, the Management Board has been autho-
rised, with the approval of the supervisory Board, 
to dispose of the shares by means of an offering to 
all shareholders or selling on the stock exchange, 
or in addition: 
aa)  to offer them as consideration to third parties 

under a business combination agreement, for 
the acquisition of another company or of an 
equity stake in another company or parts of 
another company or for the purchase of claims 
against the company; 

bb)  to dispose of them to third parties; the price 
at which the shares are sold to third parties 
may not be significantly lower than the stock 
exchange price at the time of their disposal; if 
the company decides to make use of this autho-
risation, the exclusion of subscription rights 
on account of other authorisations pursuant 
to section 186, paragraph 3, sentence 4 of the 
German stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz, 
AktG) should be observed;

cc)  to grant shares to Members of the Management 
Board or other employees of the company or to 
members of the senior management or emplo-
yees of affiliated entities as defined by sections 

15 et seq of the German stock Corporation Act 
(Aktiengesetz, AktG), providing such persons 
are entitled to subscribe to the shares under 
employee stock option plans; the company’s su-
pervisory Board shall decide on any proposals 
to transfer treasury shares to Members of the 
company’s Management Board;

dd)  to withdraw the shares without a requirement 
for the withdrawal or its execution to be ap-
proved by means of a further resolution by the 
shareholders’ meeting; any such withdrawal 
would lead to a decrease in capital; the shares 
may also be withdrawn by means of a simpli-
fied procedure without a capital decrease by 
adjusting the proportional accounting nominal 
value of the remaining notional no-par-value 
shares to the company’s share capital; with-
drawal may be limited to part of the shares ac-
quired by this means.

the above authorisations concerning the use of tre-
asury shares acquired by the company may be exer-
cised on one or more occasions, wholly or partially 
and singly or together. shareholders’ subscription 
rights to treasury shares acquired by the company 
are excluded providing the shares in question are 
used under the authorisations detailed above in aa), 
bb) and cc). the Management Board will in each 
case report to the shareholders’ meeting on the 
reasons for and the purpose of the acquisition of 
treasury shares, the number of shares purchased, 
the amount of share capital they represent and the 
consideration paid for the shares.

the supervisory Board is authorised to amend the 
wording of the articles of association depending on 
the use made in individual cases of the authorisation 
to call in shares.

As at 31 December 2011 the company did not hold 
any treasury shares.

Significant agreements to which the company is 
party that take effect upon a change of control 
following a takeover bid
tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG is not aware of any agree-
ments which take effect upon a change of control 
following a takeover bid.
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Compensation agreements between the company 
and Members of the Management Board or em-
ployees providing for the event that a takeover 
bid takes place 
If, by supervisory Board resolution against the will 
of stefan Winners and/or Christoph schuh, the rules 
of procedure are changed resulting in changes to 
the business segments assigned to each Member of 
the Management Board or in a significant limitation 
of the scope of their powers set forth in the rules of 
procedure, or the current or future Chairperson of 
the supervisory Board is replaced by someone who 
is not a Member of the current supervisory Board, 
each of the two Management Board Members has 
the special right to give notice of terminating the 
service contract. 
 If they exercise this special right of termination, 
the Management Board Members stefan Winners 
and Christoph schuh are entitled to receive a com-
pensation or bridge money. these payments may 
not exceed two times their annual salary. stefan 
Winners will no longer be entitled to exercise this 
right when he moves to Hubert Burda Media Hol-
ding.

13. Declaration on Corporate Governance

the actions taken by the management and control-
ling bodies of tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG are deter-
mined by the principles of responsible and proper 
corporate governance. for further details, please 
see the Declaration on Corporate Governance in 
accordance with section 3.10 of the German Corpo-
rate Governance Code and section 289a, paragraph 
1 of the German Commercial Code (Handelsgesetz-
buch, HGB). this declaration was released by the 
Management Board, also on behalf of the super-
visory Board, and can be found on the website of 
tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG at  http://www.tomorrow-
focus.com/en/investor-relations/fixed/investor-rela-
tions-corporate-governance_aid_160.html.

14. Outlook

German economy is stagnating
On the basis of various financial market and eco-
nomic indicators, Deutsche Bank’s research unit 
expects German GDP in 2012 to be at roughly the 
same level as in the previous year. 

Prospects for the industry remain good
there follows a brief summary of the main econo-
mic prospects for the tOMOrrOW fOCUs Group’s 
principal market segments in 2012.

Transactions
In the company’s view, Internet usage in Germany 
is likely to show a further increase in 2012 in line 
with the trend established in recent years. the Ger-
man market for transaction-financed online content 
in the area of private consumers (B2C) should be-
nefit from this development.   
 It can be assumed that the Internet will gain 
further ground as a sales channel especially in the 
area of tourism. Consequently, tOMOrrOW fO-
CUs AG believes the current year will see growth in 
the volume of travel and hotel bookings made using 
the Internet. 
 By contrast, the company expects the online 
market for serious dating agencies to remain at the 
same level as in the previous year.

Online advertising
According to Nielsen Media research‘s latest fi-
gures, gross expenditure in Germany for classic 
online advertising in January 2012 was around eUr 
173 million, which is 6.5 percent higher than expen-
diture in January 2011.  
 We believe that growth in net online advertising 
expenditure in Germany during January 2012 was 
at roughly the same level. this trend is likely to per-
sist over the rest of the year.

IT services
Growth of 3.8 percent to eUr 35.5 billion is ex-
pected in the German It services market this year 
according to a recent survey conducted by the Ger-
man Association for Information technology, tele-
communications and New Media (Bundesverband 
für Informationswirtschaft, telekommunikation 
und neue Medien - BItKOM). We believe this as-
sessment is also a realistic one for the area of   

115

Management report 

tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG 2011

M
U

s
t

 H
A

V
e



web-based It services. In particular, it again antici-
pates gratifying double-digit growth in It services 
for the mobile Internet. 

Outlook for the TOMORROW FOCUS Group
the Management Board anticipates the following 
developments in the Group’s three segments:

Transactions segment:  
investing in further growth
the transactions segment is set to deliver further 
growth in 2012. 
 More specifically, HolidayCheck AG plans to 
achieve further growth at both national and inter-
national level in the financial year 2012.
 eliteMedianet GmbH, which operates  
www.elitepartner.de, aims to expand its share of the 
premium online dating business despite a stagna-
ting environment. 
 As well as increasing its reach figures, jameda 
GmbH, the company that operates the eponymous 
physician ratings portal, aims in particular to achieve 
substantial growth in premium subscriptions for phy-
sicians. 
Alongside these investments in organic growth, 
tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG is examining the possibi-
lity of further acquisitions in the area of national 
and international transaction-based portals.

Advertising segment:
positive trend in the German advertising market 
At present, positive conditions in the German online 
advertising market continue to boost the results of 
the Advertising segment. tOMOrrOW fOCUs Me-
dia, the Group’s premium online marketing unit, 
reported a significant improvement in orders in the 
financial year 2011. this has also been the case in 
the first two months of the current year, albeit at a 
slightly lower level. Providing the economic situati-
on in Germany remains stable and avoids recession, 
we anticipate that this trend will continue throug-
hout the year. the top priority is to attract major 
new customers and thereby sustainably strengthen 
tOMOrrOW fOCUs Media’s existing position as 
one of Germany’s top five online marketing firms. 
thanks to improving reach figures, the news portal 
fOCUs Online should again return a profit in finan-
cial 2012.
 this can also be said of the finance and stock 
market news portal finanzen100, which ought once 
again to boost its reach and market share in the 

current year, as well as attracting new advertising 
customers.
 to complement its investment spending on exi-
sting business models in the Advertising segment, 
tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG is studying the potential 
for acquiring new advertising models and adverti-
sing-based portals.

Technologies segment:
positive outlook for 2011 
the technologies segment in 2012 is again ex-
pected to deliver a strong performance in financial 
2012.
 tOMOrrOW fOCUs technologies GmbH 
should achieve a recovery in orders. 
 Cellular GmbH should also see further growth 
in order levels. the main driver here is the huge de-
mand for high quality mobile Internet applications.

Targeting profitable growth in revenue  
and earnings
tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG can look back on a suc-
cessful financial year in 2011. Despite prevailing 
caution about the macro-economic outlook for 
2012, on balance the prospects for the tOMOr-
rOW fOCUs Group are good.
 However, a deterioration of the economy in 
Germany and elsewhere in europe as the year pro-
gresses cannot be ruled out entirely, possibly as 
a result of serious geopolitical events or financial 
policy decisions. In the worst scenario, this could 
lead to a downturn in revenue and earnings. De-
pending on the nature of any such economic de-
terioration, there would probably be a decline in 
consumer demand in the transactions segment, 
although more convenient marketing terms and 
expected gains in market share would be likely 
to mitigate the negative impact on revenue and 
profits. In the Advertising segment, revenue and 
profits may well be affected by a downturn in the 
volume of orders accompanied by a fall in adver-
tising prices. In the technologies segment, the 
worst case scenario again involves a decline in or-
ders with a corresponding impact on revenue and 
profits. In this event, the Management Board will 
take appropriate and adequate countermeasures, 
especially on the cost side, in order to safeguard 
the sound financial structure of the company.
  Although the most probable scenario for the 
wider economy in 2012 is one of zero growth, the 
Management Board’s forecast nevertheless an-
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ticipates continued growth for the tOMOrrOW 
fOCUs Group, albeit at a slightly slower pace. 
the aim for all three of the Group’s operating 
segments is to increase market share and achieve 
a further improvement in eBItDA from operating 
activities. With the financial result and tax result 
expected to show little change and amortisation 
on operating assets (i.e. excluding impairment 
and amortisation based on purchase price alloca-
tions) increasing at a lower than average rate, it 

should also be possible to generate a slight incre-
ase in earnings per share. 
 looking ahead at the financial year 2013, ba-
sed on the information currently available and gi-
ven the boost to earnings achieved so far through 
the international business of HolidayCheck AG and 
smaller subsidiaries, the Management Board’s for-
ward plan envisages further increases in revenue 
and eBItDA.

Munich, Germany, 22 March 2012

Stefan Winners
Chief executive Officer

Dr. Dirk Schmelzer
Chief financial Officer  

Christoph Schuh
Management Board Member
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Consolidated balance sheet

ASSETS NOTES 31 DEC 2011
eUr ‘000

31 DEC 2010
eUr ‘000  

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

intangible assets

Concesssions, industrial property rights and similar rights 
as well as licences thereto 8.1 16,415 17,832

sofware developed in-house 8.1 3,848 4,158

Goodwill 8.1 85,958 94,091

Down payments 0 133

106,221 116,214

Property, plant and equipment 

Other plant, furniture and fixtures 8.2 3,486 2,709

Down payments 0 8

3,486 2,717

Financial assets 

At equity investments 8.3 3,228 31

Other loans receivable 8.4 31 38

3,259 69

Trade receivables 8.7 66 0

Receivables from affiliated entities 8.9 42 40

Other assets 8.10 673 0

781 40

Deferred taxes 8.5/8.19 429 503

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 114,176 119,543

CURRENT ASSETS

Receivables and other assets

trade receivables 8.7 22,131 19,982

receivables from long-term construction contracts 8.8 468 227

receivables from affiliated entities 8.9 331 1,135

receivables from associated entities
and related parties 8.9 39 23

Income tax receivables 38 8

remaining other assets 8.10 2,883 2,891

25,890 24,266

Cash and cash equivalents 8.11 44,288 16,624

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 70,178 40,890

TOTAL ASSETS 184,354 160,433

As At 31 DeCeMBer 2011
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LiABiLiTiES NOTES 31 DEC 2011
eUr ‘000

31 DEC 2010
eUr ‘000  

EqUiTy 

subscribed capital 8.12 53,012 53,012

Capital reserves 8.12 70,628 70,628

Other reserves 8.15 -2,397 -345

Consolidated accumulated loss -24,687 -29,235

Equity holders of the parent 96,556 94,060

Non-controlling interests 0 869

TOTAL EqUiTy 96,556 94,929

LiABiLiTiES

NON-CURRENT LiABiLiTiES 

Provisions for pensions and
similar obligations 8.16 405 297

Deferred taxes 8.5/8.19 588 699

liabilities to banks 8.21 36,500 13,125

trade payables 8.24 0 592

liabilities to affiliated entities 8.9 0 286

remaining other liabilities 8.22 19,292 15,492

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LiABiLiTiES 56,785 30,491

CURRENT LiABiLiTiES

liabilities to banks 8.21 3,860 8,894

Other provisions 8.20 750 891

trade payables 8.24 11,372 12,860

Advance payments on orders 8.23 17 40

liabilities to affiliated entities 8.9 2,640 3,083

liabilities to associated entities 
and related partied 8.9 181 0

Income tax liabilities 8.19 1,471 383

remaining other liabilities 8.22 10,722 8,862

TOTAL CURRENT LiABiLiTiES 31,013 35,013

TOTAL LiABiLiTiES 87,798 65,504

          

TOTAL LiABiLiTiES 184,354 160,433
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NOTES
1 JAN - 31 DEC 

2011
eUr ‘000

1 JAN - 31 DEC 
2010

eUr ‘000

revenue 9.1 135,902 128,199

Other revenue 9.3 5,368 10,006

Changes in inventories of finished 
and unfinished goods 0 -59

Other own work capitalised 9.4 1,840 1,532

Materials cost 9.5 -23,710 -26,688

Personnel cost 9.7 -41,149 -36,747

Depreciation and amortisation of  
tangible and intangible assets -4,628 -8,085

Other expenses 9.8 -57,049 -52,218

Other taxes 218 -45

Operating result 16,792 15,895

financial income 9.9 339 67

financial expenses 9.10 -3,826 -2,666

Income from at  
equity investments 8.4 -223 -187

Financial result -3,710 -2,786

Earnings before taxes 13,082 13,109

Actual taxes 8.19 -1,993 -2,431

Deferred taxes 8.5/8.19 100 -115

Tax result -1,893 -2,546

Net profit 11,189 10,563

Net profit/ (loss) attributable to 

 equity holders of the parent company 8.14 11,347 11,521

 non-controlling interests -158 -958

11,189 10,563

in € in €

Diluted and undiluted earnings  
per share 8.14 0,21 0,22

Average number of shares outstanding 53,012,390 53,012,390

Consolidated Statement of income
fOr tHe PerIOD 1  JANUAry tO 31 DeCeMBer 2011
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NOTES
1 JAN - 31 DEC 

2011
eUr ‘000

1 JAN - 31 DEC 
2010

eUr ‘000

Net profit 11,189 10,563

Differences from currency translation 8.15 -526 358

share of other comprehensive income  
of associated entities 135 0

Cash flow hedges 8.15 -2,034 1,404

changes in fair value recognised in equity -554 2,018

recognised in income -1,480 -614

Deferred taxes on cash flow hedges 8.15 373 -168

Other consolidated net profit/loss -2,052 1,594

Comprehensive income 9,137 12,157

Comprehensive income attributable to 

      equity holders of the parent company 9,349 13,161

      non-controlling interests -212 -1,004

9,137 12,157

 fOr tHe PerIOD 1  JANUAry tO  31  DeCeMBer 2011

Consolidated Statement of comprehensive income
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Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent company 

Other reserves 

Subscribed 
capital 

eUr ‘000

Capital 
reserves 

eUr ‘000

Foreign 
currency  

trans. reserves
eUr ‘000

Cash flow 
hedges 

reserves
eUr ‘000

Consolidated 
accumulated 

loss
eUr ‘000

TOTAL
eUr ‘000

Notes 8.12 8.12 8.15 8.15

1 JANUARy 2010 53,012 70,628 -1,939 0 -39,721 81,980

Consolidated net profit/ (loss) 
according to consolidated  
statement of income 0 0 0 0 11,521 11,521

Other consolidated net profit/ (loss) 
according to consolidated state-
ment of comprehensive income 0 0 404 1,236 0 1,640

Comprehensive income/ (loss) 0 0 404 1,236 11,521 13,161

Capital transactions producing a 
change of participating interests 0 0 0 0 -1,035 -1,035

Change in consolidation scope 0 0 0 0 0 0

Other changes 0 0 -46 0 0 -46

31 DECEMBER 2010 53,012 70,628 -1,581 1,236 -29,235 94,060

1 JANUARy 2011 53,012 70,628 -1,581 1,236 -29,235 94,060

Consolidated net profit/ (loss) 
according to the consolidated 
statement of income 0 0 0 0 11,347 11,347

Other consolidated net profit/ (loss) 
according to consolidated state-
ment of comprehensive income 0 0  -337 * -1,661 0 -1,998

Comprehensive income/ (loss) 0 0 -337 -1,661 11,347 9,349

Distribution 0 0 0 0 -2,650 -2,650

Capital transactions producing a 
change of participating interests 0 0 0 0 -4,149 -4,149

Change in consolidation scope  0 0 0** 0 0 0

Other changes 0 0 -54 0 0 -54

31 DECEMBER 2011 53,012 70,628 -1,972 -425 -24,687 96,556

fOr tHe PerIOD 1  JANUAry tO 31 DeCeMBer 2011

Footnotes

*) of which part of comprehensive income, attributable to associated entities: € 135 thousand

**) of which part of comprehensive inome, attributable to changes in scope of consolidation: € -462 thousand

Statement of changes in consolidated equity
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Non-
controlling 

interests
eUr ‘000

Foreign 
currency 

trans. reserves
eUr ‘000

TOTAL
eUr ‘000

TOTAL
Consolida-
ted equity

eUr ‘000

Notes 8.15

1 JANUARy 2010 1,613 114 1,727 83,707

Consolidated net profit/ (loss)  
according to consolidated  
statement of income -958 0 -958 10,563

Other consolidated net profit/ (loss) 
according to consolidated statement  
of comprehensive income 0 -46 -46 1,594

Comprehensive income/ (loss) -958 -46 -1,004 12,157

Capital transactions producing a 
change of participating interests 428 0 428 -607

Change in consolidation scope -178 0 -178 -178

Other changes -104 0 -104 -150

31 DECEMBER 2010 801 68 869 94,929

1 JANUARy 2011 801 68 869 94,929

Consolidated net profit/ (loss)  
according to the consolidated  
statement of income -158 0 -158 11,189

Other consolidated net profit/ (loss) 
according to consolidated statement  
of comprehensive income 0 -54 -54 -2,052

Comprehensive income/ (loss) -158 -54 -212 9,137

Distribution 0 0 0 -2,650

Capital transactions producing a 
change of participating interests 75 0 75 -4,074

Change in consolidation scope  -718 -14 -732 -732

Other changes 0 0 0 -54

31 DECEMBER 2011 0 0 0 96,556

Non-controlling interests
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NOTES
1 JAN - 

31 DEC 2011
eUr ‘000

1 JAN - 
31 DEC 2010

eUr ‘000

Cash flow from operating activities

Net profit/ (loss) 11,347 11,521

Adjustments to translation of net profit/  
(loss) to income/ expenditure

– financial income 9.9 -339 -67

+ financial expenditure 9.10 3,826 2,666

–/+ result from associated entities 223 187

+ Depreciation and amortisation of tangible and intangible assets 4,628 8,085

–
Deconsolidation profit/ (loss) from AdJug sub-group  
(previous year: Playboy Deutschland Publishing GmbH) 3.5 -1,542 -5,813

–/+ exchange rate-related revaluation or devaluation of currency holdings 246 -76

–/+ Unrealised gains or losses on financial assets 439 0

–/+ elements of results attributable to non-controlling interests -158 -958

–/+ Changes in deferred taxes 8.19 -100 58

–/+ Changes in pension provisions 8.16 108 121

= Operating result before changes in net working capital 18,678 15,724

–/+ Gains/ (losses) from disposal of non-current assets 250 59

–/+
Increase/ decrease in assets
not attributable to investing or financing activities -6,111 -2,295

–/+
Increase/ decrease in liabilities
not attributable to investing or financing activities 5,929 5,134

–/+
Changes in receivables from/ liabilities to affiliated entities  
as well as associated entities and related parties  238 -158

–/+ Other non-cash related expenses/ income 1) -272 0

= Changes in net working capital 34 2,740

= Cash generated from current operations 18,712 18,464

– Interest expenses -1,293 -1,675

= Net cash flow from operating activities 17,419 16,789

Cash flow from investing activities 

+
Cash inflow from disposal 
of tangible and intangible assets    403 253

–
Cash outflow for investment 
of tangible and intangible assets    8.1/8.2 -6,101 -5,081

– Cash outflow for investment in financial assets -12 -221

+ Cash inflow from interest 184 36

+ Cash inflow from disposal of financial assets 19 24

+
Cash inflow from disposal of consolidated entities   
less cash and cash equivalents disposed of 1) 3.5 2,864 5,072

–
Cash outflow for the acquisition of consolidated entities    
less cash and cash equivalents acquired 2) -543 -4,117

= Net cash used in investing activities -3,186 -4,034

Consolidated statement of cash flows
fOr tHe PerIOD 1  JANUAry tO 31 DeCeMBer 2011
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NOTES
1 JAN - 

31 DEC 2011
eUr ‘000

1 JAN - 
31 DEC 2010

eUr ‘000

Cash flow from financing activities 

– Dividend payment -2,650 0

– Distribution to co-shareholders in subsidiary 3) 9.10 -911 -709

+ Cash inflow from loans 4) 8.21 36,500 0

– Cash outflow for repayment of loans 8.21 -18,833 -9,034

+ Cash inflow from non-controlling interests 1 5

– Payment of finance lease obligations 8.24 -428 -527

= Net cash used in financing activities 13,679 -10,265

Valuation-related changes in cash

+/–
Non-cash change resulting from translation 
of cash flows to average costs    -2 1

+/–
Change in value of cash due to change 
in exchange rate on reporting date   0 53

+/– exchange rate-related revaluation or devaluation of currency holdings -246 76

= Valuation-related changes in cash -248 130

Net increase/ decrease in cash 
and cash equivalents 27,664 2,620

+
Cash and cash equivalents at the 
beginning of the financial year 16,624 14,004

= Cash at the end of the period 8.11 44,288 16,624

Additional information    

In the financial year 2011 there was a cash outflow for tax payments of eUr 890 thousand (2010: eUr -2.035 thousand) and a cash inflow of  

eUr 4 thousand  from refunds of capital gains tax and solidarity surcharge paid in the previous years (2010: eUr 293 thousand).  

   

Footnotes
1) the amount shown results from the partial settlement of the jameda purchase price obligation.  

2) the cash inflow results from the disposal of 35.86 percent of the shareholding in the AdJug sub-group in the third quarter of  2011. In the 

 financial  year 2010 tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG sold its majority holding (50.39 percent) in Playboy Deutschland Publishing GmbH. the figure 

 includes the consideration less the disposed cash of the formerly consolidated entities.      

  
3)  In the first quarter of 2011 there was a cash outflow for the acquisition of the remaining shares in jameda GmbH, increasing the shareholding  

to 100 percent.  In 2010 the remaining 40 percent of shares in finanzen100 GmbH were acquired. furthermore the remaining down payments 

were made for the acquisition of 14 percent of the shares in HolidayCheck AG. the relevant amounts are each reduced by the cash acquired 

from the consoldiated entities and increased by the incidental acquisition costs paid.

    
4) the figures for the current financial year and the previous year include profit payments due to co-shareholders of HolidayCheck AG.  

5) the loans of eUr 36,500 thousand include an amount of eUr 26,500 thousand for the issue of bonded loans.    
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Carrying amounts

31 DEC 2011
`000 eUr

31 DEC 2010
`000 eUr

1 JAN 2011
`000 eUr

intangible assets

licences, industrial property rights and similar 
rights and assets as well as licences to such rights and assets 16,415 17,832 28,649

software developed in-house 3,848 4,158 16,040

Goodwill 85,958 94,091 94,092

Down payments 0 133 133

106,221 116,214 138,914

Property, plant and equipment

Other property, plant and equipment, furniture and fixtures 3,486 2,709 6,270

Down payments  0 8 8

3,486 2,717 6,278

Financial assets

Investments 0 0 28

At-equity investments 3,228 31 31

Other loans 31 38 38

3,259 69 97

1 JAN 2011
`000 eUr

intangible assets

licences, industrial property rights and similar 
rights and assets as well as licences to such rights and assets 10,817

software developed in-house 11,882

Goodwill 1

Down payments 0

22,700

Property, plant and equipment

Other property, plant and equipment, furniture and fixtures 3,561

Down payments  0

3,561

Financial assets

Investments 28

At-equity investments 0

Other loans 0

28

fOr tHe yeAr 2011

Consolidated statement of changes in non-current assets
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Acquisition & manufacturing costs

ADDiTiONS 
`000 eUr

ADDiTiONS 
FROM iNiTiAL 

CONSOLiDATiON
`000 eUr

DiSPOSALS
`000 eUr

DiSPOSALS, 
SCOPE OF 

CONSOLiDATiON
`000 eUr

TRANSFERS
`000 eUr

CURRENCy 
RESERVES

`000 eUr
31 DEC 2011

`000 eUr

1,891 0 1,866 1,827 133 -31 26,949

1,840 0 5,628 581 0 -10 11,661

0 0 0 8,028 0 -105 85,959

0 0 0 0 -133 0 0

3,731 0 7,494 10,436 0 -146 124,569

2,370 0 1,578 635 8 -14 6,421

0 0 0 0 -8 0 0

2,370 0 1,578 635 0 -14 6,421

0 0 28 0 0 0 0

3,285 0 173* 0 0 135 3,278

12 0 19 0 0 0 31

3,297 0 220 0 0 135 3,309

Accumulated Depriciation

ADDiTiONS 
`000 eUr

ADDiTiONS 
FROM iNiTiAL 

CONSOLiDATiON
`000 eUr

DiSPOSALS
`000 eUr

DiSPOSALS, 
SCOPE OF 

CONSOLiDATiON
`000 eUr

TRANSFERS
`000 eUr

CURRENCy 
RESERVES

`000 eUr
31 DEC 2011

`000 eUr

1,948 0 1,617 609 0 -5 10,534

1,507 0 5,332 242 0 -2 7,813

0 0 0 0 0 0 1

0 0 0 0 0 0 0

3,455 0 6,949 851 0 -7 18,348

1,173 0 1,470 323 0 -6 2,935

0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1,173 0 1,470 323 0 -6 2,935

0 0 28 0 0 0 0

50 0 0 0 0 0 50

0 0 0 0 0 0 0

50 0 28 0 0 0 50

Footnote
* Adjustment of assessed value of investments carried on the balance sheet using the equity method.
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Carrying amounts

31 DEC 2010
`000 eUr

31 DEC 2009
`000 eUr

1 JAN 2010
`000 eUr

intangible assets

licences, industrial property rights and similar 
rights and assets as well as licences to such rights and assets 17,832 18,692 29,590

software developed in-house 4,158 7,181 15,230

Goodwill 94,091 89,842 89,843

Down payments 133 361 361

116,214 116,076 135,024

Property, plant and equipment

technical equipment and machinary 0 308 390

Other property, plant and equipment, furniture and fixtures 2,709 1,561 4,872

Down payments  8 0 0

2,717 1,869 5,262

Financial assets

Investments 0 0 28

At-equity investments 31 0 0

Other loans 38 59 59

69 59 87

1 JAN 2010
`000 eUr

intangible assets

licences, industrial property rights and similar 
rights and assets as well as licences to such rights and assets 10,898

software developed in-house 8,049

Goodwill 1

Down payments 0

18,948

Property, plant and equipment

technical equipment and machinary 82

Other property, plant and equipment, furniture and fixtures 3,311

Down payments  0

3,393

Financial assets

Investments 28

At-equity investments 0

Other loans 0

28

fOr tHe yeAr 2010

Consolidated statement of changes in non-current assets

128

Consolidated statement of changes in non-current assets for the year 2010

tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG 2011



  

Acquisition & manufacturing costs

ADDiTiONS 
`000 eUr

ADDiTiONS 
FROM iNiTiAL 

CONSOLiDATiON
`000 eUr

DiSPOSALS
`000 eUr

DiSPOSALS, 
SCOPE OF 

CONSOLiDATiON
`000 eUr

TRANSFERS
`000 eUr

CURRENCy 
RESERVES

`000 eUr
31 DEC 2010

`000 eUr

1,314 0 2,586 68 342 57 28,649

1,532 0 464 276 0 18 16,040

0 4,216* 0 155 0 188 94,092

131 0 17 0 -342 0 133

2,977 4,216 3,067 499 0 263 138,914

0 0 0 0 -403 13 0

2,096 0 923 178 403 0 6,270

8 0 0 0 0 0 8

2,104 0 923 178 0 13 6,278

0 0 0 0 0 0 28

218 0 187** 0 0 0 31

3 0 24 0 0 0 38

221 0 211 0 0 0 97

Accumulated Depriciation

ADDiTiONS 
`000 eUr

ADDiTiONS 
FROM iNiTiAL 

CONSOLiDATiON
`000 eUr

DiSPOSALS
`000 eUr

DiSPOSALS, 
SCOPE OF 

CONSOLiDATiON
`000 eUr

TRANSFERS
`000 eUr

CURRENCy 
RESERVES

`000 eUr
31 DEC 2010

`000 eUr

2,351 0 2,372 60 0 0 10,817

4,575 0 464 275 0 -3 11,882

0 0 0 0 0 0 1

0 0 0 0 0 0 0

6,926 0 2,836 335 0 -3 22,700

0 0 0 0 -85 3 0

1,159 0 842 152 85 0 3,561

0 0 0 0 0 0 0

1,159 0 842 152 0 3 3,561

0 0 0 0 0 0 28

0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 28

* Also includes the revaluation of put options.

** Adjustment of assessed value of investments carried on the balance sheet using the equity method.

129

Consolidated statement of changes in non-current assets for the year 2010

tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG 2011

M
U

s
t

 H
A

V
e



  

TRANSACTiONS
1 JAN -  31  DEC 

ADVERTiSiNG
1 JAN -  31  DEC 

2011
eUr ‘000

2010
eUr ‘000

2011
eUr ‘000

2010
eUr ‘000

external revenue 90,121 85,470 32,568 31,940

Inter-company revenue 1,293 406 860 1,172

91,414 85,876 33,428 33,112

Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation  
and amortisation (EBiTDA) 21,909 23,737 3,081 -1,048

Depreciation and amortisation 1,661 1,427 1,853 5,634

Segment earnings before interest and taxes (EBiT) 20,248 22,310 1,228 -6,682

External revenue by company location

thereof in Switzerland

thereof in UK (included in the financial year  
until and including July 2011)

thereof other countries

Non-current assets 

thereof in Switzerland

thereof in UK

thereof other countries

Consolidated Segment Report
fOr tHe PerIOD 1  JANUAry tO 31 DeCeMBer 2011
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TECHNOLOGiES
1 JAN -  31  DEC 

HOLDiNG
1 JAN -  31  DEC 

CONSOLiDATiON
1 JAN -  31  DEC 

GROUP 
1  JAN -  31  DEC 

2011
eUr ‘000

2010
eUr ‘000

2011
eUr ‘000

2010
eUr ‘000

2011
eUr ‘000

2010
eUr ‘000

2011
eUr ‘000

2010
eUr ‘000

13,213 10,789 0 0 0 0 135,902 128,199

3,058 3,882 519 672 -5,730 -6,132 0 0

16,271 14,671 519 672 -5,730 -6,132 135,902 128,199

1,676 1,349 -5,246 -58 0 0 21,420 23,980

976 924 138 100 0 0 4,628 8,085

700 425 -5,384 -158 0 0 16,792 15,895

NATiONAL
1 JAN -  31  DEC

iNTERNATiONAL
1 JAN -  31  DEC

GROUP 
1  JAN -  31  DEC

2011
eUr ‘000

2010
eUr ‘000

2011
eUr ‘000

2010
eUr ‘000

2011
eUr ‘000

2010
eUr ‘000

67,992 74,846 67,910 53,353 135,902 128,199

60,333 46,785

7,567 6,551

10 0

38,819 35,061 71,669 83,870 110,488 118,931

71,640 77,522

0 6,327

29 0
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1. General disclosures

tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG (also referred to below 
as ‘tOMOrrOW fOCUs’, ‘tfAG’ or the ‘com-
pany’) is an Internet media group based in the 
German city of Munich whose objects are the de-
velopment, production and distribution of online 
services and software solutions, the compilation 
of databases with editorial contents of all kinds 
for online services, the production of contents and 
techniques for interactive television, web tV and 
mobile applications, the marketing of editorial 
content and advertising space and other services 
in the field of multimedia and online services, ad-
vising businesses in matters of e-commerce and 
content management solutions, application ser-
vice providing, arranging partnerships between 
providers of online services and other enterprises, 
marketing consultancy and the provision of other 
marketing services. 

A total of 53,012,390 shares (IsIN: De0005495329; 
stock exchange symbol: tfA) of the company were 
admitted to the Prime standard of Deutsche Börse 
AG on the reporting date. the shares are notional 
no-par-value bearer shares, each representing eUr 
1 of the company‘s share capital.

tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG can be contacted at the  
following addresses: 

Postal address:  Visitors‘ address:
TOMORROW FOCUS AG TOMORROW FOCUS AG
P.O. Box 81 01 64  Neumarkter str. 61
81901 Munich  81673 Munich
Germany  Germany

the companies of the tOMOrrOW fOCUs Group 
are mentioned in the notes as follows: 
•   tOMOrrOW fOCUs Media GmbH (formerly  

tOMOrrOW fOCUs Portal GmbH), Munich, 
Germany, (‘tfM’)

•   tOMOrrOW fOCUs technologies GmbH, Mu-
nich, Germany, (‘tft’)

•   Playboy Deutschland Publishing GmbH, Munich, 
Germany, (‘PDP’)

•   tf Digital GmbH (formerly tOMOrrOW techno-
logies GmbH), Munich, Germany, (‘tfD’)

•  Cellular GmbH, Hamburg, Germany, (‘Cell’)
•   HolidayCheck AG, Bottighofen, switzerland, (‘HC’)

•   eliteMedianet GmbH, Hamburg, Germany, (‘eP’)
•   finanzen100 GmbH (formerly findocs GmbH), 

Cologne, Germany, (‘f100’)
•   jameda GmbH, Munich, Germany, (‘jameda’)
•   AdJug ltd., london, United Kingdom, (‘AdJug’)
•   AdAudience GmbH, Düsseldorf, Germany, (‘AdAu-

dience’)

2. Preparation of the annual report – 
accounting basis and standards 

the consolidated financial statements of tOMOr-
rOW fOCUs AG are prepared in accordance with 
the International financial reporting standards 
(Ifrs), as applicable in the eU, and also according 
to the supplementary rules set out in section 315a 
paragraph 1 of the German Commercial Code (Han-
delsgesetzbuch, HGB).

the consolidated financial statements of tOMOr-
rOW fOCUs AG have been prepared on a going 
concern basis.

the consolidated financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with the cost system, with 
the exception of the financial assets which are 
measured at their fair values and whose adjust-
ments are recognised in the statement of income. 

tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG has prepared a statement 
of income based on the nature of expense method.

the company’s reporting currency is the euro. 
Numerical disclosures are generally made in eUr 
thousand (or eUr ’000). 

the consolidated financial statements are prepa-
red on the basis of the single-entity financial state-
ments as at 31 December 2011 of those companies 
included in the consolidated financial statements.

All Ifrs standards that were mandatory as at 31 
December 2011 were applied. this also includes 
the International Accounting standards (IAs) and 
the interpretations issued by the International fi-
nancial reporting Interpretations Committee (If-
rIC) and the standing Interpretations Committee 
(sIC).

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
for the financial year 2011

132

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG 2011



2.1. Effect of new and/or revised standards
the companies included in the consolidated finan-
cial statements all apply the same accounting and 
valuation policies. there has generally been no 
change from the accounting and valuation policies 
applied in tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG‘s consolidated 
financial statements for 2010. 

In addition, the Group has applied the following 
new/revised standards that were mandatory for the 
financial year commencing on 1 January 2011. 

•  revision of IAs 32: financial Instruments: Pre-
sentation - Classification of subscription rights
•  revision of Ifrs 1: limited exemption from 
Comparative Ifrs 7 Disclosures for first-time Ad-
opters
•  revision of IAs 24: related Party Disclosures 
•  IfrIC 19: extinguishing financial liabilities with 
equity Instruments
•  revision of IfrIC 14: Prepayments of a Minimum 
funding requirement and their Interaction
•  Improvements to Ifrs (May 2010)

the application of these standards and interpreta-
tions is explained in greater detail below.

Revision of iAS 32 Financial instruments: Pre-
sentation - Classification of Subscription Rights
the revised version of IAs 32 contains rules for 
cases in which an entity grants subscription rights, 
options or warrants covering a fixed number of tre-
asury shares in a currency other than its functional 
currency. Previously, because the ‘fixed for fixed’ 
criterion in IAs 32.16(b)(ii) could not be met on 
account of exchange rate fluctuations, these rights 
were recognised in the balance sheet as financial li-
abilities. Under the new rule, however, subscription 
rights, options or warrants covering a fixed number 
of treasury shares have to be recognised as equity 
instruments against a fixed sum in any currency, 
providing they are granted pro rata to all existing 
shareholders of the same class.  

the revised version of IAs 32 applies to financial 
years commencing on or after 1 february 2010. In 
the case of the tOMOrrOW fOCUs Group, it had 
no impact on the current or previous financial year 
since the Group has not issued any instruments of 
this kind.

Revision of iAS 24: Related Party Disclosures
the most important changes in the new version of 
IAs 24 concern the definition of related parties and 
adjustments to the definition of transactions sub-
ject to mandatory disclosure. Another key element 
of the revised standard was the introduction of ex-
emptions for companies that are controlled, jointly 
managed or under the significant influence of public 
authorities (‘government-related entities’). the new 
version of IAs 24 applies retrospectively to financial 
years beginning on or after 1 January 2011. 

tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG and its subsidiaries are not 
controlled or jointly managed by or under the signi-
ficant influence of any public authority. In the cur-
rent financial year, the revised definition of related 
parties has led to the identification of related parties 
that were not covered by the previous version of the 
standard. In addition to the fully consolidated Group 
companies of Hubert Burda Media Holding Kom-
manditgesellschaft as the top-level holding compa-
ny, the list of related parties now covered by the new 
version includes those companies over which Hu-
bert Burda Media Holding Kommanditgesellschaft 
and tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG can exert a significant 
influence (associates). this also applies to the ex-
tended group of related persons in key positions. 

the disclosures under 13.1 of the notes have been 
amended accordingly and adapted to the new versi-
on of IAs 24. the changes have been applied retro-
spectively. 

iFRiC 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with 
Equity instruments
IfrIC 19 extinguishing financial liabilities with 
equity Instruments
IfrIC 19 provides guidance on how to treat the 
extinguishment of financial liabilities by the issue 
of equity instruments. specifically, under IfrIC 
19, equity instruments issued under such arrange-
ments should be measured at their fair value, and 
any difference between the carrying amount of the 
financial liability extinguished and the considerati-
on paid is recognised in profit or loss. 

the application of IfrIC 19 has had no effect on 
the amounts reported in the current and prior years 
because the Group has not entered into any trans-
actions of this nature.
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Revision of iFRiC 14: Prepayments of a Mini-
mum Funding Requirement and their interaction
this amendment is relevant in cases where mini-
mum funding requirements are in place in respect 
of existing pension plans and where associated pre-
payments have already been made. Providing the 
conditions are met, the amendment to the interpre-
tation makes it possible to report the benefit from 
these prepayments as an asset. 

the application of IfrIC 14 has no effect on the 
performance-based obligations in place at the tO-
MOrrOW fOCUs Group. 

A number of changes were made to existing Ifrs 
and interpretations as part of the Annual Impro-
vements Project 2010. these affect the following 
standards:

IFRS 3 Business Combinations:
transitional rules on contingent consideration. 
following the revision of Ifrs 3, contingent con-
sideration from business combinations is no longer 
excluded from the scope of Ifrs 7 financial Instru-
ments: Disclosures, lAs 32 financial Instruments: 
Presentation and lAs 39 financial Instruments: 
recognition and Measurement. furthermore, the 
transitional Ifrs 3 rules have been supplemented 
by the accounting rules of the old Ifrs 3 that still 
apply to such cases of contingent consideration.
 Measurement of non-controlling interests. the 
previous freedom of choice available when measu-
ring non-controlling interests at the time of acqui-
sition is now only available for non-controlling in-
terests that represent present ownership interests 
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of 
the net assets in the event of liquidation. All other 
non-controlling interests are measured at their 
fair value on the acquisition date, unless another 
measurement basis is required by another Ifrs. 
 Accounting for un-replaced and voluntarily re-
placed share-based payment awards. Ifrs 3 con-
tains stipulations on the method of accounting for 
share-based payment awards of the acquired entity 
that the acquiring entity has to replace as part of 
a business combination or that expire following a 
business combination. the amendments stipulate 
in particular that share-based payment transactions 
of the acquiree that are not replaced should be 

measured in accordance with Ifrs 2 (market value) 
at the time of the acquisition. 
 the amendments to Ifrs 3 are applicable to fi-
nancial years beginning on or after 1 July 2010. the 
new rules had no significant impact on the presen-
tation of the Group’s assets, financial position and 
income situation.
 the amendments to Ifrs 3 affected the balance 
sheet treatment of the disposal of shares in AdJug 
ltd. in the current financial year. the remaining 
stake of 20 percent has since been measured at fair 
value and accounted for using the equity method.

Revision of lAS 1 Presentation of Annual Report:
the amendment to IAs 1 clarifies that an entity may 
present an analysis of each component of other 
comprehensive income either in the statement of 
changes in equity or in the notes to the financial 
statements. In the case of the tOMOrrOW fOCUs 
Group, this analysis is shown in the statement of 
changes in equity. 

Apart from the amendments to Ifrs 3 and IAs 1 
described above, the application of the annual im-
provements to Ifrs (2010) had no significant effect 
on the amounts shown in the consolidated financial 
statements.
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2.2. New and/or revised standards and interpretations not applied
the following new and revised accounting standards have already been adopted by the IAsB but were  
not applied to the consolidated financial statements for the financial year 2011, as they were not yet  
effective. 

STANDARD/
iNTERPRETATiON RULE 

APPLiCABLE 
FROM

EARLy  
ADOPTiON

ENDORSED 
By EU

Ifrs 7
Amendment to Ifrs 7 financial Instruments:  
Disclosures - transfers of financial Assets

1 Jul 2011 No yes

IAs 1
Amendment to IAs 1 Presentation of financial 
statements – Presentation of Individual Items of 
Other Comprehensive Income

1 Jul 2012 No No

IAs 19 revision of IAs 19 employee Benefits 1 Jan 2013 No No

Ifrs 1
severe Hyperinflation and removal of fixed Dates 
for first-time Adopters

1 Jul 2011 No No

IAs 12 Deferred tax: recovery of Underlying Assets 1 Jan 2012 No No

IfrIC 20
IfrIC 20 stripping Costs in the Production Phase of 
a surface Mine

1 Jan 2013 No No

Ifrs 10 Ifrs 10 Consolidated financial statements 1 Jan 2013 No No

Ifrs 11 Ifrs 11 Joint Arrangements 1 Jan 2013 No No

Ifrs 12 Ifrs 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other entities 1 Jan 2013 No No

Ifrs 13 Ifrs 13 fair Value Measurement 1 Jan 2013 No No

IAs 27
revision of IAs 27 single-entity financial  
statements

1 Jan 2013
No No

IAs 28
revision of IAs 28 Investments in Associates and 
Joint Ventures

1 Jan 2013 No No

IAs 32
Amendment to IAs 32 Offsetting financial Assets 
and financial liabilities 

1 Jan 2014 No No

Ifrs 7
Amendment to Ifrs 7 Disclosures - Offsetting 
financial Assets and financial liabilities

1 Jan 2013 No No

Ifrs 9

Ifrs 9 financial Instruments and amendments 
to Ifrs 9 and Ifrs 7 Mandatory application date 
and disclosures in the notes relating to transferred 
financial assets

1 Jan 2015 No No

New IASB/IFRIC standards

With the exception of IAs 19, Ifrs 9 and Ifrs 13, whose potential impact has not yet been fully examined, we do not anticipate any or any signifi-

cant impact on the presentation of the financial statements from the first-time application of the above changes. However, they may produce changes 

in the scope of the disclosures required in the notes to the financial statements.
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3. Consolidation

3.1. Principles of consolidation
the consolidated financial statements comprise the 
annual accounts of tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG and its 
subsidiaries as at 31 December 2011, which is the 
balance sheet date for all Group entities. subsidi-
aries are companies that are controlled directly or 
indirectly by tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG. In this con-
text, the term control means the ability to control 
the company’s financial and operating activities in 
order to derive a corresponding benefit. In general, 
this is achieved by holding over 50 percent of the 
voting rights.
 Associated entities are included in the consoli-
dated financial statements using the equity method.
 the separate financial statements of the sub-
sidiaries are prepared on the basis of uniform ac-
counting and valuation policies at the same balance 
sheet date as the parent company. 
 All intra-group balances, transactions, revenue, 
expenses, profits and losses from intra-group trans-
actions contained in the carrying amount of assets 
are eliminated in full.

3.2. Business combinations
subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date of 
acquisition, i.e. from the time when the tOMOr-
rOW fOCUs Group gains control. subsidiaries are 
no longer included in the consolidated financial 
statements as soon as the parent company surren-
ders control.
 Newly acquired Group companies are recog-
nised using the acquisition method of accounting.  
this means that the costs of the business combina-
tion are distributed over the acquired, identifiable 
assets and the acquired identifiable liabilities and 
contingent liabilities according to their fair values 
on the date of acquisition. Goodwill is created in 
cases where the costs of the equity holding exceed 
the Group’s share in the calculated equity of the 
company in question. this goodwill is checked for 
impairment at regular intervals and on the balance 
sheet date. Where necessary, the value of goodwill 
is written down by means of impairment. 
 Agreed contingent consideration is recogni-
sed at fair value on the acquisition date. Any sub-
sequent changes to the fair value of a contingent 
consideration classed as an asset or liability are 
measured on the basis of IAs 39 and any resulting 

profit or loss recognised either in the statement 
of income or under other comprehensive income. 
If a contingent consideration is classed as equity, 
it is not remeasured. Its subsequent settlement is 
shown under equity. 
 Non-controlling interests represent the part of 
net income and net assets that is not attributable 
to the Group. Non-controlling interests are shown 
separately in the consolidated statement of income 
and in the consolidated balance sheet. In the con-
solidated balance sheet they are shown in equity, 
separately from the equity attributable to the share-
holders of the parent company.
 Transactions with non-controlling interests  
are treated as transactions with the Group’s equity 
providers. following the acquisition of a non-con-
trolled interest, any difference arising between the 
consideration paid and the corresponding interest in 
the carrying value of the subsidiary’s net assets is 
shown in equity. Profits and losses realised on the 
disposal of non-controlling interests are also shown 
in equity.
 if the Group loses control or significant in-
fluence over an entity, the remaining interest is 
re-measured at fair value and the resulting diffe-
rence recognised as a profit or loss. the fair value 
is that calculated on first recognition. In addition, 
all amounts relating to that entity and shown un-
der other comprehensive income are accounted for 
using the same rules that would apply if the parent 
company had sold the associated assets and lia-
bilities directly. this means that any profit or loss 
previously recognised under other comprehensive 
income is transferred from equity to the statement 
of income.

3.3. Interests in associated entities
Associated entities are entities over which the 
Group exerts significant influence but not control. 
this is generally the case with a share of between 
20 percent and 50 percent of the voting rights. 
equity interests in associated entities are treated 
for accounting purposes using the equity method 
and initially recognised at cost.
 following the acquisition, the Group’s share of 
the associated entities’ profits and losses is inclu-
ded in the consolidated financial statements and is 
allocated to the carrying value of the equity interest. 
Dividends issued by associated entities reduce the 
value of the equity interest.  
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Providing there are objective reasons for impair-
ment, it is calculated on the basis of IAs 36. Changes 
shown directly in the equity of the associated entity 
are recognised by the Group and are shown in the 
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

3.4. Scope of consolidation
As at 31 December 2011, tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG 
held equity interests in the following entities: 
tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG directly holds the majority 

3.5. Changes in the scope of consolidation 
Takeover of a stake of 49.01 percent in jameda 
GmbH
tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG acquired the remaining 
stake of 49.01 percent in jameda GmbH on 28 Ja-
nuary 2011. the takeover was shown in equity as a 
transaction with non-controlling shareholders. 
 the total purchase price of eUr 826 thousand 
included the settlement of shareholder loans.  
tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG also undertook to pay the 

of the voting rights and/or exercises control in the 
case of all subsidiaries where it owns at least 50 per-
cent of the share capital.
 tOMOrrOW fOCUs technologies GmbH,  
tOMOrrOW fOCUs Media GmbH, Cellular GmbH 
and eliteMedianet GmbH took advantage of the 
exemption rules in section 264 paragraph 3 of the 
German Commercial Code (Handelsgesetzbuch, 
HGB) in the annual financial statements as at 31 
December 2011.

COMPANy
PRiNCiPAL PLACE 
OF BUSiNESS

SHARE OF 
CAPiTAL  

(PERCENT)

tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG Munich, Germany -

tOMOrrOW fOCUs technologies GmbH Munich, Germany 100.00

tOMOrrOW fOCUs Media GmbH Munich, Germany 100.00

tf Digital GmbH Munich, Germany 100.00

Cellular GmbH Hamburg, Germany 100.00

elitemedianet GmbH Hamburg, Germany 100.00

finanzen100 GmbH Cologne, Germany 100.00

jameda GmbH Munich, Germany 100.00

HolidayCheck AG 1) Bottighofen, switzerland 93.75

HolidayCheck Polska sp. zo.o. 2) Warsaw, Poland 93.75

HolidayCheck france sAs 2) Paris, france 93.75

AdAudience GmbH Dusseldorf, Germany 25.00

Adjug ltd london, UK  20.00

Adjug GmbH 3) Munich, Germany 20.00

Adjug Media (India) Private ltd 3) Bangalore, India 20.00

Scope of consolidation as at 31 December 2011

Footnotes

1) Put/call options in place for these companies covering additional shares

2) Indirect holding via HolidayCheck AG

3) Indirect holding via AdJug ltd.

founders of jameda GmbH an additional sum (see 
below 8.22) contingent on its performance. 
 At the time of acquisition, the carrying value of 
the non-controlling interest in jameda GmbH stood 
at minus eUr 64 thousand. tOMOrrOW fOCUs 
AG derecognised the non-controlling interest of 
minus eUr 64 thousand and reported a reduction 
of eUr 4,249 thousand in the equity attributable 
to the shareholders. the table below shows the 
changes in equity over the financial year 2011: 
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HolidayCheck establishes French subsidiary 
HolidayCheck france sAs based in Paris, france, 
was formed on 21 february 2011 as a subsidiary of 
HolidayCheck AG, itself a fully consolidated subsi-
diary of tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG. the new compa-
ny has a fully paid-in share capital of eUr 27,000. 
the aim of the new company is to help Holiday-
Check AG create, develop and operate web content 
in france. HolidayCheck france sAs was entered 
in the Paris Commercial register on 7 March 2011 
under no. 2011B05000.

Disposal of shares in AdJug Ltd.
In August 2011, tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG sold 
35.86 percent of its stake in AdJug ltd., which was 
deconsolidated on 1 August 2011. the 20 percent 
interest retained by tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG has 
since been recognised in the balance sheet at equi-
ty. employees of AdJug ltd. had previously exer-
cised their stock options as part of the deal, thus 
reducing tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG’s interest from 
58.02 percent to 55.86 percent.
 tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG received eUr 6,085 
thousand as consideration from the sale. A total of 
eUr 4,783 thousand took the form of a cash inflow 
in 2011. A contingent purchase price of eUr 673 
thousand was also agreed (see below 8.10). 

2011
€’  000

Current assets 4,554

 of which cash and  
 cash equivalents 1,919

Non-current assets 5,342

Current liabilities -4,269

equity -622

Net assets sold 5,005

Disposal of assets and liabilities 
following loss of control

2011
€’  000

Consideration received 6,085

Derecognition of net assets -5,005

Currency effects related to  
net assets

462

Profit on disposal 1,542

Profit on disposal of subsidiaries

2011
€’  000

Disposal price settled in cash 4,783

Disposals: cash and cash equivalents -1,919

Net cash inflow 2,864

Net cash flow from disposal  
of subsidiaries

2011
€’  000

Carrying value of acquired non- 
controlling shares

-64

Purchase price paid to non- 
controlling shareholders -4,185

Surplus from purchase price  
shown in equity -4,249

Changes in equity

138

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG 2011



4. Segment reporting

Business segment reporting is laid out in such a 
way as to conform to the method of internal re-
porting to the principal decision-making body. the 
principal decision-making body is responsible for 
decisions on the allocation of resources to business 
segments and for the evaluation of their profitabili-
ty. the Management Board of tOMOrrOW fOCUs 
AG constitutes the principal decision-making body.

At tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG, the segments corre-
spond to the following divisions:

•  transactions
•  Advertising 
•  technologies
•  Holding

In line with the internal reporting structure, from 
1 January 2011 the business activities of jameda 
GmbH are reported in the transactions segment 
and no longer in the Advertising segment. for rea-
sons of materiality, the figures for the previous year 
have not been adjusted in the segment report. 

5. Currency translation

the consolidated financial statements are prepared 
in euros (eUr), the Group‘s functional currency and 
presentation currency. each entity within the Group 
determines its own functional currency. the items 
included in the financial statements of the entity in 
question are measured in this functional currency. 
transactions in a currency other than the euro are 
initially translated between the functional currency 
and the other currency at the spot rate valid on the 
date of the transaction. 
 Monetary assets and liabilities in currencies 
other than the euro are translated into the func-
tional currency on the reporting date. All curren-
cy differences are recognised in the statement of 
income. Non-monetary items that are measured at 
cost in a currency other than the euro are translated 
at the rate applicable on the date of the transaction. 
Non-monetary items measured at their fair value in 
a currency other than the euro are translated at the 
rate applicable at the time that the fair value was 
calculated. 

In the financial year 2011, with the exception of 
the AdJug Group, whose functional currency is the 
pound sterling (GBP) and HolidayCheck Polska, 
whose functional currency is the zloty (PlN), all en-
tities within the Group adopted the euro (eUr) as 
their functional currency. 

the assets and liabilities of all Group entities with 
a functional currency other than the euro are trans-
lated into euros on the balance sheet date for con-
solidation purposes. Income and expenditure are 
translated for each statement of income at the ave-
rage exchange rate. All translation differences are 
recognised as a separate item in equity under other 
reserves.    

Any goodwill created through the acquisition of a 
foreign entity and any adjustments to the fair values 
of the identifiable assets and liabilities are treated 
as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and 
translated on the balance sheet date. Any resulting 
translation differences are shown in the foreign 
currency translation reserve. On disposal of this 
foreign entity, any corresponding amount in the fo-
reign currency translation reserve is transferred to 
the statement of income.

6. Estimates and assumptions when 
applying accounting principles

In order to prepare the consolidated financial state-
ments, the Management Board Members have to 
make the best possible estimates and assumptions 
on the basis of the information currently at their 
disposal. these may influence the recognised va-
lues of the assets and liabilities, the disclosures 
concerning contingent assets and liabilities, and 
cost estimates in connection with POCs at the ba-
lance sheet date, and also the income and expenses 
recognised for the reporting period. the actual re-
sults occurring at a later date may differ from these 
estimates. 

there follows an explanation of the most important 
assumptions in relation to the future and the main 
sources of uncertainty at the balance sheet date gi-
ving rise to the risk of material adjustments being 
made to the carrying amounts of the assets and lia-
bilities during the coming financial year:
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a) impairment of goodwill
the tOMOrrOW fOCUs Group makes an impair-
ment test in relation to goodwill at least once a year 
or whenever there are any indications that such im-
pairment may have taken place. this requires an 
estimate of the recoverable value of the cash-gene-
rating units to which the goodwill is attributed. to 
estimate the value in use the Group has to estimate 
the likely future cash flows from the cash-genera-
ting unit and, in addition, select an appropriate dis-
count rate in order to determine the present value 
of these cash flows. As at 31 December 2011, the 
carrying amount of the goodwill amounted to eUr 
85,958 thousand (eUr 94,091 thousand in 2010). 
further details can be found under 8.1.

b) Loss carryforwards 
tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG recognises deferred tax 
assets for tax loss carryforwards, in as far as it is 
sufficiently certain that the loss carryforwards will 
be utilised in tax planning. for tax planning purpo-
ses, tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG has to make estimates 
of the tax results to be achieved in the future. As at 
31 December 2011 the deferred tax assets for loss 
carryforwards amounted to eUr 2,336 thousand 
(eUr 3,022 thousand in 2010) (see also notes 8.5 
and 8.19).

c) Provisions
tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG recognises provisions 
at the amount necessary, according to the best 
possible estimates, to cover all legal or de facto 
liabilities that the Group has on the balance sheet 
date. future events that could affect the amount 
needed to meet a liability are reflected in the size 
of the provision, providing they can be predicted 
with sufficient objective certainty. the amount re-
cognised is that which is most likely on an objec-
tive assessment of the facts. In the case of large 
volumes (e.g. warranties), calculation is based on 
the anticipated figure. As at 31 December 2011, 
other provisions amounted to eUr 750 thousand 
(eUr 891 thousand in 2010) (see also note 8.20).

d) Uncompleted construction contracts
In applying the percentage-of-completion method, 
contract revenue was reliably estimated by means 
of the contract underlying the order. this gives 
the contracting parties enforceable rights and ob-
ligations in relation to the work and services to be 

performed, defines the consideration to be provi-
ded and also the way in which and on what terms 
the contract work is to be brought to completion. 
On this basis, the revenue and expenses recorded 
in the internal budgeting system are evaluated as 
completion progresses, and reviewed and revised 
if necessary. 
 the stage of completion of ongoing projects is 
usually determined through an inspection by and 
written confirmation from the other contracting 
party at the reporting date. If the other contracting 
party does not provide any confirmation, the ratio 
between the actual contract costs up to the repor-
ting date and the total estimated contract costs at 
the reporting date is taken as a reliable estimate 
of the stage of completion. the only contract costs 
that are taken into account are those that reflect the 
work and services performed up to this date (see 
note 9.2).

e) Measurement of the HolidayCheck put/call 
option
standstill obligations in relation to put/call options 
are recognised at the present value of the payment 
obligation. the basis for the measurement of the put/
call option is between 10 and 12 times the expected 
average eBItDA for 2007 to 2013, namely eUr 
22,577 thousand. this is multiplied by the 6 percent 
(2010: 6.25 percent) equity interest to be acquired 
and subsequently discounted. for the purpose of 
subsequent valuations, the resulting figure is com-
pounded and recognised in the interest result in the 
statement of income. As at the current balance sheet 
date, in accordance with the retransfer agreement, 
shares amounting to 0.25 percent are shown at the 
nominal value plus any as yet undistributed profits.  
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7. Main accounting and valuation 
principles

the companies included in the consolidated fi-
nancial statements all apply the same accounting 
and valuation principles. the following section 
describes the main accounting and valuation 
principles applied in the preparation of these 
consolidated financial statements.

Property, plant and equipment are recognised at 
the cost of acquisition less accumulated scheduled 
depreciation. the cost figure includes all costs di-
rectly attributable to the purchase together with the 
cost of borrowed funds (providing the recognition 
criteria are met).

throughout the Group, the depreciation of proper-
ty, plant and equipment is based on the following 
useful lives for important assets:

Property, plant and equipment are written down 
according to the straight-line method.

the cost of maintenance is treated as expense.

intangible assets acquired from third parties in 
return for payment are recognised at cost. Where 
there is a definite normal useful life, this figure is 
reduced by amortisation according to the straight-
line method over their normal useful lives. they are 
recognised only if it is sufficiently probable that a 
future benefit will thus accrue to the enterprise and 
the acquisition costs of the asset can be reliably de-
termined.

the normal useful life of an asset is generally es-
timated taking account of the following criteria: 

•   anticipated use of the asset by the  
enterprise; 

•   typical product life cycle and public informa-
tion concerning the estimated useful lives of 
comparable assets; 

•   technical, technological and other types of 
obsolescence;

•   stability of the sector in which the asset is 
employed. 

Self-generated intangible assets are recogni-
sed to the extent of the directly attributable de-
velopment costs if all the conditions set out in 
IAs 38.57 have been fulfilled. the capitalisati-
on of the costs ends when the product has been 
completed and has been generally released. 
 
According to IAs 38.57, the following six requi-
rements need to be met in order for development 
costs to be capitalised; in the following cases they 
have been met in full: 

1. technical feasibility of the completion of the asset 
so that it is available for internal use and/or sale;
2. the intention to complete the intangible asset and 
to either use or sell it;
3. the ability to either use or to sell the intangible 
asset;
4. evidence of presumable future economic bene-
fits; 
5. the availability of adequate technical, financial 
and other resources to complete the development 
and the ability to either use or to sell the intangible 
asset; and 
6. the ability to establish a reliable measure of the 
expenditure attributable to the company during the 
development of the asset. 

In accordance with sIC-32, relaunches were not 
capitalised on producing the website if these were 
only updates of pre-existing sites. 

It hardware 4 years

lines, technical installations   8 years

furnishings and decorations 10 years

technical devices 4 to 5 years

Useful lives for important assets

141

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG 2011

M
U

s
t

 H
A

V
e



expenses for research and general development 
that do not meet the above criteria are recognised 
immediately as expense in accordance with IAs 38.
 
the normal useful life of the asset also forms the 
basis for straight-line amortisation of both purcha-
sed and internally generated intangible assets, 
starting from the time of completion and the mar-
ket readiness of the internally generated intangible 
assets. 

throughout the Group, the following useful lives 
form the basis of amortisation for important intan-
gible assets. Intangible assets acquired from third 
parties in return for payment and assets that are 
internally generated are amortised over the same 
periods.

from 2005, trademark rights that consist of ac-
quired online rights to use the well-known trade-
mark portals integrated within tOMOrrOW fO-
CUs AG are amortised over 20 years, as these are 
trademarks with an uninfluenceable dependence 
on the print titles. the names HolidayCheck, eli-
tePartner and jameda, however, are not amortised 
according to a planned schedule as these are Inter-
net brands whose rights are in the full ownership of 
the company. they are tested for impairment every 
year. In this context, ‘in the full ownership of the 
company’ means that the company can directly in-
fluence the trademark‘s development by taking tar-
geted measures, so that it does not depend on the 
success of print titles. As it is assumed that the In-
ternet domains depend on the brand names, there 
is no regular amortisation in this case either.

Goodwill no amortisation 

Internet domains no amortisation

trademark rights/ 
brand names

20 years / no 
amortisation

software/ websites 3 - 15 years

Customer list 5 years

Personality test no amortisation

Amortisation of intangible assets

the amortisation/depreciation period and the me-
thod of amortisation/depreciation for intangible 
assets and property, plant and equipment are re-
viewed at the end of each financial year. If the ex-
pected useful life of an asset significantly deviates 
from prior estimates, the amortisation/depreciation 
period is adjusted accordingly. In the case of ma-
terial changes during the course of amortisation/
depreciation, a suitable amortisation/depreciation 
method is selected. 

All intangible assets (including goodwill) and all 
items of property, plant and equipment are tested 
for impairment at the end of each financial year if 
the circumstances or changes in the circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may 
possibly be irrecoverable. If the recoverable amount 
of the asset is lower than the carrying amount, the 
impairment loss is recognised in the statement of 
income. the recoverable amount is the higher of 
the net selling price and the value in use of the as-
set. the net selling price is the recoverable amount 
from the sale of an asset at fair value less selling 
costs. the value in use is the present value of the 
estimated future cash flow to be expected from the 
continued use of an asset and its disposal at the 
end of its useful life. the recoverable amount is de-
termined separately for each asset or, if this is not 
possible, for the cash-generating unit to which the 
asset belongs. All goodwill and all intangible assets 
with an indeterminable useful life and intangible 
assets that are not yet in use are not subject to re-
gular amortisation. they are tested for impairment 
on the balance sheet date or whenever there are 
particular grounds for doing so, in order to deter-
mine whether they have kept their value.
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the accounting treatment and valuation of financi-
al assets and liabilities financial instruments) are 
based on the rules laid out in IAs 39.

Classification is dependent in each case on the spe-
cific purpose for which the financial assets were 
acquired. they are allocated by the Management to 
one of the following classes: 

•   loans and receivables originated by the 
enterprise;

•   financial instruments measured at fair value 
and recognised in profit or loss;

•   financial instruments measured at fair value 
and recognised in equity;

•   held-to-maturity investments;
•   loans granted to and liabilities of the enter-

prise.

On initial recognition of financial instruments the-
se are measured at cost, corresponding to the fair 
value of the consideration given on acquiring them. 
transaction costs are included in as far as the fi-
nancial instrument is not recognised at fair value 
through profit or loss. 

Financial assets measured at fair value and recog-
nised in profit or loss refers to financial assets held 
for trading purposes and financial assets that were 
classed on initial recognition as being measured at 
fair value and recognised in profit or loss. financial 
assets are classed as held for trading purposes if 
they have been acquired with the intention of sel-
ling them in the near future.

financial instruments measured at fair value and 
recognised in profit or loss are recognised at their 
value on the settlement date, taking account of fluc-
tuations in value between the trade date and the 
settlement date. they are measured at their fair 
values on the balance sheet date. the resulting in-
come or expense is immediately recognised in the 
statement of income. 

Neither in the reporting year nor in the preceding 
year were financial assets classed as held for tra-
ding purposes. equally, no use was made of the op-
tion to class financial assets on initial recognition 
as assets measured at fair value and recognised in 
profit or loss 

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial 
assets with fixed or identifiable payments that are 
not listed on an active market. After initial recogni-
tion, they are measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate method less any impairment. 
If they are derecognised or impaired or their value 
reduced by amortisation, any profits and losses are 
recognised in profit and loss in the same period.

Valuation adjustments are made in response to 
identifiable risks of default in the case of loans and 
receivables. the value of financial assets available 
for disposal is adjusted as soon as there is objec-
tive information pointing to a permanent loss of va-
lue. Ausfallrisiken bei „Krediten und forderungen“ 
wird durch die Vornahme von Wertberichtigungen 
rechnung getragen. „zur Veräußerung verfügbare 
finanzielle Vermögenswerte“ werden wertberich-
tigt, sobald objektive Hinweise auf eine dauerhafte 
Wertminderung vorliegen.

financial instruments are derecognised when the 
underlying rights and obligations expire or are 
transferred.

financial assets and liabilities are set off against 
each other and their net value recognised in the 
balance sheet if there is a legal entitlement and 
intention to arrange for settlement on a net basis 
or to simultaneously realise the asset and settle an 
associated liability.
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the Group uses derivative financial instruments 
such as currency forwards and interest rate swaps 
as a hedge against interest rate and currency fluc-
tuation risks. these derivative financial instruments 
are recognised at fair value when the contract is si-
gned and remeasured at fair value in subsequent 
periods. 

the Group makes regular use of derivatives to se-
cure future cash flows from pending or planned 
transactions (cash flow hedges). At the balance 
sheet date, there was one cash flow hedge in place 
as a hedge against interest rate risks.

When the hedge is first established, both the hed-
ging relationship and the Group’s risk management 
objectives and strategies in respect of the hedge are 
formally defined and documented. the documenta-
tion is regularly assessed to determine whether it 
was indeed highly effective during the entire repor-
ting period for which the hedging relationship was 
defined.

Derivative financial instruments are recognised as 
financial assets if the fair value of the derivative is 
positive, and as liabilities if their fair value is ne-
gative.

Profits or losses from changes to the fair value of 
derivative financial instruments during the financial 
year that do not meet the criteria for recognition 
as hedging relationships are immediately shown in 
profit or loss together with the ineffective portion 
of an effective hedging instrument. the effective 
portion of changes in the market value of derivative 
instruments intended as cash flow hedges is shown 
in equity under other reserves (after taking account 
of deferred taxes). the amounts accrued in equity 
are recognised in the statement of income in the 
financial year in which the underlying transaction is 
considered in the statement of income. for further 
information, please see note 8.15.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, can-
celled or exercised without being replaced or rolled 
over into another hedging instrument, or if the cri-
teria for recognition as a hedging relationship are 
no longer met, the amounts recognised in equity up 

to that point remain as a separate item in equity un-
til such time as the anticipated transaction or fixed 
obligation occur or take effect.

Receivables and other assets are generally 
measured at amortised cost or at fair value on the 
balance sheet date, whichever is lower. Adequate 
account is taken of risks by means of valuation ad-
justments. 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash and other 
short-term, highly liquid financial assets with an 
original time to maturity of no more than three 
months. On the balance sheet, current account 
overdrafts are shown as payables to banks under 
current financial liabilities. 

Subscribed capital is recognised in equity at no-
minal values. transaction costs on the issue of new 
shares are deducted from the capital reserve. 

Provisions are recognised at the amount that is ne-
cessary, according to the best possible estimate, in 
order for the Group to be in a position to meet all 
current commitments, legal or de facto, at the ba-
lance sheet date. future events that could have an 
effect on the amount needed to meet a commitment 
have to be taken into account in forming the provisi-
on in as far as they can be predicted with sufficient 
objective certainty. the amount recognised is that 
which seems most likely on a careful examination 
of the circumstances. Provisions are discounted in 
as far as they are material. In the case of discoun-
ting, the passage of time is reflected in the periodic 
increase in the carrying amount of a provision. this 
increase is recognised as an interest expense. 

Contingent liabilities are not recognised as liabi-
lities in the consolidated financial statements until 
it is probable that they will materialise. they are 
disclosed in the notes.

the pension provision is based on defined benefit 
pension plans for former employees of tft and for 
the employees of HC. the provisions recognised in 
the balance sheet for defined benefit plans corre-
spond to the present value of the defined benefit 
obligation (DBO) at the balance sheet date less the 
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fair value of the plan assets, adjusted to take ac-
count of accumulated actuarial gains and losses 
that are not recognised. the DBO is calculated an-
nually by an independent actuarial expert using the 
projected unit credit method. Actuarial gains and 
losses are recognised in the statement of income 
in accordance with the corridor approach. With the 
exception of interest income and expenses, which 
are reported under the financial result, pension 
costs are recognised as personnel expenses.

the company generally recognises share options 
from the time they are granted to its employees, 
in accordance with Ifrs 2. the expenses incurred 
on the basis of transactions settled through equity 
instruments are measured at the fair value of the 
equity instruments at the time that they are gran-
ted. the resulting figure is recognised as an ex-
pense over the vesting period and is derecognised 
accordingly in equity or, in the case of cash-settled 
share-based payments, in liabilities.

Current tax assets and current tax liabilities for the 
current period and former periods are measured at 
the amount expected to be recovered from or paid 
to the taxation authorities on the basis of the tax 
rates and tax laws applicable on the balance sheet 
date. 

Deferred tax assets and tax liabilities are general-
ly formed for all temporary differences between 
the amounts recognised for tax purposes and the 
amounts recognised according to Ifrs. this is 
done according to the liability method, which re-
flects the Group‘s expectations at the balance sheet 
date. the deferred tax assets also include unused 
tax credits resulting from the expected utilisation of 
existing tax loss carryforwards in subsequent years 
and whose realisation is sufficiently certain. Defer-
red tax liabilities are determined on the basis of the 
tax rates that apply or are expected to apply in the 
individual countries at the time of realisation, based 
on current tax rate legislation. Deferred taxes ba-
sed on events not related to income are recognised 
in equity.

the carrying amount of the deferred tax assets is 
reviewed on each balance sheet date and reduced 

to the extent that it is no longer likely that sufficient 
taxable income will be available against which at 
least some of the deferred tax assets can be utili-
sed. Deferred tax assets that are not recognised are 
reviewed on each balance sheet date and recogni-
sed to the extent that it has become likely that futu-
re taxable income will allow the deferred tax assets 
to be utilised. 

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are 
offset provided that the Group has a legal right to 
the netting of actual tax refund claims against actu-
al tax liabilities and these relate to the income tax of 
the same taxpayer or taxable object and are levied 
by the same tax authority.

Down payments from customers are recognised at 
their nominal value.

Liabilities are recognised if it is expected that the-
re will be an outflow of resources that embody an 
economic benefit in order to settle a liability and 
this amount can be reliably determined. liabilities 
are measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method. 

Revenue is recognised in application of IAs 11 and 
18. revenue is shown less value added tax, income 
deductions and credits, after the elimination of in-
tragroup sales. 

revenue for product sales is recognised at the time 
when the ownership and risk passes to the custo-
mer, if the payment to be made has been agreed by 
contract or is determinable and it is likely that the 
receivables arising from these sales can be colle-
cted. 

revenue for services is recognised when the ser-
vice has been provided. services are also provided 
within the framework of offsetting transactions, 
services provided being presented gross in revenue 
and services received in the corresponding expen-
se items. 
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revenue in the context of projects is recognised at 
the balance sheet date in accordance with the pro-
gress of the project. 

Project revenue is reliably estimated by means of 
the contract underlying the project. this gives the 
contracting parties enforceable rights and obliga-
tions in relation to the service to be provided, de-
fines the consideration to be provided and also the 
way in which and on what terms the project is to be 
brought to completion. On this basis, the revenue 
and expense recorded in the internal budgeting 
system are evaluated as the project progresses and 
reviewed and revised, if necessary. 

the degree of completion of ongoing projects is 
usually determined through an inspection and writ-
ten confirmation from the other contracting party 
at the balance sheet date. If the other contracting 
party does not provide any confirmation, the basis 
taken is the ratio between the number of project 
hours worked and the estimated total project hours, 
updated at the balance sheet date, until the final 
completion of the project. 

Interest income is recognised when the interest ari-
ses. royalties from licences and rental income are 
allocated on a pro rata basis in accordance with the 
relevant contractual period. 

Leasing payments within the framework of an 
operating lease are recognised as expense in the 
statement of income over the period of the lease 
using the straight-line method, unless a different 
systematic basis corresponds to the duration of the 
benefit for the company as lessee. A lease is classi-
fied as an operating lease if the leasing agreement, 

in economic terms, does not essentially transfer all 
risks and rewards associated with ownership to the 
company. 

leasing agreements under which the Group bears 
the main risks and the benefit from ownership of 
the leased object are classified as financing leases. 
Assets under financing leases are capitalised at the 
commencement of the contractual leasing term at 
the lower of fair value of the lease object and the 
present value of the minimum lease payments. lea-
sing obligations are capitalised to the same extent 
as non-current trade payables. each lease instal-
ment is divided into interest and principal compo-
nents, so the leasing obligation attracts interest at 
a constant rate. the interest component of the lea-
sing instalment is recognised as an expense in the 
statement of income. Intangible assets held under 
a financing lease are amortised over the shorter of 
the following two periods: the useful economic life 
of the asset or the term of the leasing agreement.
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8. Notes on the consolidated 
balance sheet

8.1. Intangible assets
the intangible assets acquired from third par-
ties were mainly acquired as a result of business 
combinations: the brand names elitePartner (eUr 
5,481 thousand; 2010: eUr 5,481 thousand) and 
HolidayCheck (eUr 1,704 thousand; 2010: eUr 
1,704 thousand), various Internet domains (eUr 
3,857 thousand; 2010: eUr 3,857 thousand) and 
self-generated software. 

In addition to the brand names HolidayCheck and 
elitePartner, the trademark rights include the ac-
quired online rights to use the well-known brand 
portals integrated within tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG. 

In most cases, brand names and Internet domains 
from the business combinations are not written 
down. they are tested annually for impairment in 
relation to the impairment of goodwill. If any im-
pairment risks should be discovered while determi-
ning the value in use of goodwill, a separate cal-
culation is made of the value in use of the brand 
names and the Internet domains. If this is not the 
case, it is implied that the brand names and do-
mains have also not suffered any impairment. for 
the assumptions underlying impairment we refer to 
the comments made in relation to goodwill. 

licences forming part of a finance lease and valued 
at eUr 182 thousand (eUr 620 thousand in 2010) 
are included under concessions, industrial property 
rights and similar rights as well as licences thereto.

the self-created intangible assets of eUr 3,848 
thousand (eUr 4,158 thousand in 2010) entirely 
concern self-developed software. the major part 
was invested in our own advertising operations. A 
further part originates from the internally-develo-
ped software of HolidayCheck AG and eliteMedia-
net GmbH.

If software that has been internally developed and 
produced is brought to market on completion, the 
capitalised development costs are written down 
over the normal useful life of the software. the 
company has estimated the normal useful life of 
software development costs capitalised within the 

tOMOrrOW fOCUs Group to be between 3 and 
no more than 5 years. An exception is the HPs soft-
ware, which is written down over 15 years. this es-
timation has mainly been made on the basis of the 
possible technical and technological obsolescence 
of the portal and technology software.

With regard to the development of costs and the 
amortisation of intangible assets, reference is made 
to the consolidated statement of changes in non-
current assets for the financial years 2011 and 2010.

there was no significant impairment on internal-
ly created intangible non-current assets in finan-
cial 2011 (eUr 19 thousand; 2010: eUr 2,469 
thousand).

Of the goodwill amounting to eUr 85,958 thousand 
(eUr 94,091 thousand in 2010), eUr 17,718 
thousand (eUr 17,178 thousand in 2010) repre-
sents goodwill from the acquisition of eliteMedi-
anet GmbH; eUr 68,271 thousand (eUr 70,276 
thousand in 2010) goodwill from the acquisitions 
of HolidayCheck AG; eUr 12 thousand (eUr 12 
thousand in 2010) goodwill from the acquisitions of 
finanzen100 GmbH; eUr 498 thousand (eUr 498 
thousand in 2010) from the Cellular GmbH busi-
ness combination. the changes to the existing fi-
gures for goodwill arise from the sale of AdJug ltd. 
at eUr 6,127 thousand and from adjustments to the 
valuation of the existing call/put options for Holi-
dayCheck AG at eUr 2,006 thousand.

Impairment tests for goodwill are carried out on the 
basis of a calculation of the value in use of the rele-
vant cash-generating unit, the latter being defined 
as the company in question. to do this, we have 
used the cash flow plans for the next 5 years. A per-
petuity has also been taken into account in making 
the calculation, however with conservative rates of 
increase. the amounts calculated have been dis-
counted to their present value using an interest rate 
calculated according to the capital asset pricing 
method (CAPM). the following disclosures concern 
the most important goodwill and the assumptions 
underlying impairment:
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a. Goodwill from the acquisition of HC: carrying 
amount EUR 68,271 thousand 
the forward plans adopted by HC were taken as 
the basis for 2011. for the years 2013 to 2016, a 
detailed plan was drawn up on the assumed basis 
of revenue growth rates of 13.3 percent to 23.8 per-
cent. In addition, the perpetuity was calculated on 
the basis of a growth discount on cash flow of 2 per-
cent. the weighted average cost of capital (WACC) 
before taxes was 10.3 percent. 

b. Goodwill from the acquisition of EliteMe-
dianet GmbH: carrying amount EUR 17,178 
thousand 
In this case the plans adopted by eliteMedianet 
GmbH were taken as the basis for 2011. A detailed 
plan was drawn up for the years 2013 to 2016 ba-
sed on increases in revenue of 3.6 percent to 12.4 
percent. the perpetuity was calculated on the basis 
of a growth discount on cash flow of 2 percent. the 
WACC before taxes was 7.7 percent. 

c. Goodwill from the takeover of Cellular: car-
rying amount EUR 498 thousand 
In this case Cellular GmbH’s adopted plans were ta-
ken as the basis for 2011. A detailed plan was drawn 
up for the years 2013 to 2016 based on increases in 

revenue of 2.5 percent to 20.0 percent. the perpe-
tuity was calculated on the basis of a growth dis-
count on cash flow of 2 percent. the WACC before 
taxes was 7.1 percent. 

A rise in the WACC of 1 percent would have as little 
effect on the impairment of goodwill as a fall in re-
venue of 1 percent over the entire planning period 
with a corresponding decline in cash flows.

8.2. Property, plant and equipment
the item of property, plant and equipment relates 
primarily to furniture and fixtures to the value of 
eUr 3,486 thousand (eUr 2,709 thousand in 2010). 
 With regard to the development of costs and 
the depreciation of property, plant and equipment, 
reference is made to the consolidated statements 
of changes in non-current assets for financial years 
2011 and 2010. 
 the development of non-current assets is 
shown in the statements of changes in non-current 
assets on page 126.

8.3. Interests in associated entities
the table below shows the changes in the carrying 
values of the Group’s interests in associated entities 
(recognised in the balance sheet at equity):

2011
eUr ‘000

2010
eUr ‘000

initial value as at 1 January 31 0

Acquisitions 2,985 218

Other changes in equity 300 0

Pro rata result -223 -187

Currency changes 135 0

Final value as at 31 December 3,228 31

Interests in associated entities

since the disposal of shares in AdJug ltd. in fi-
nancial 2011, the remaining stake of 20 percent 
has been recognised in the balance sheet at 
equity. this produced an addition of eUr 2,985 
thousand. the Group subsidiary tfM has also 
held a 25 percent stake in AdAudience GmbH 
since the marketing joint venture was formed in 

2010. AdAudience performed a capital increase 
of eUr 300 thousand (pro rata) in financial 2011. 
the following tables provide a summary of the ag-
gregated income statements and balance sheets 
of the entities shown at equity in the consolidated 
financial statements of tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG. 
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ASSETS
eUr ’000

LiABiLiTiES
eUr ’000

iNCOME
eUr ’000

PROFiT/
LOSS

eUr ’000

iNTEREST
(in percent)

31 December 2011

AdAudience 493 238 624 -52 25

Adjug ltd 865 852 2,671 -171 20

31 December 2010

AdAudience 65 58 126 -187 25

Aggregated income statements and balance sheets

8.4. Financial assets
the financial assets (other loans) concern existing 
loans to third parties valued at eUr 31 thousand 
(eUr 38 thousand in 2010).

8.5. Deferred taxes
With regard to the composition and development 
of the deferred tax assets, reference is made to the 
comments regarding deferred taxes in note 8.19.

8.6. Inventories
As at the reporting date, no work in process and 
finished goods were included on the balance sheet

8.7. Trade receivables
the company constantly monitors trade receiva-
bles. All receivables have been tested for impair-
ment to determine whether their fair value is lower 
than their amortised cost. risks of bad debts are 
taken into account through appropriate valuation 
adjustments.

the table below shows the age structure of trade 
receivables as at 31 December.

As at 31 December 2011, there were individual 
allowances for bad debts of eUr 2,910 thousand 
(eUr 3,389 thousand in 2010). In 2011, the indi-
vidual allowances for bad debts included additions 
of eUr 1,657 thousand (eUr 2,188 thousand in 
2010), allowances used of eUr 2,135 thousand 
(eUr 1,151 thousand in 2010) and the reversal of 
individual allowances for bad debts to the value of 
eUr 1 thousand (eUr 16 thousand in 2010). there 
are no indications that the creditors of the receiva-
bles for which an allowance has not been made or 
which are not overdue will not meet their payment 
obligations within the stipulated period.

CARRyiNG
AMOUNT

Thereof 
neither 
impaired nor 
overdue at 
reporting 
date

Thereof not impaired on reporting date and not overdue within  
the periods stated

Less than 
30 days

Between 
31 and 60 

years

Between 
61 and 90 

years

Between 
91 and 180 

years
More than 

181 days

31 Dec. 2011 22,197 17,022 751 584 62 35 16

31 Dec. 2010 19,982 15,857 2,780 287 63 85 55

Age structure of trade receivables
eUr ‘000

149

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG 2011

M
U

s
t

 H
A

V
e



8.8. Receivables from long-term construction 
contracts 
receivables from long-term construction contracts 
result from the application of the percentage-of-
completion method, which provides for revenue to 
be recognised according to the degree of completi-
on. reference is made to note 9.2.

8.9. Receivables from and liabilities to affiliated 
or associated entitiest 
receivables and payables in relation to affiliated 
or associated entities are mainly due to trade re-
lations. All receivables and payables correspond 
to the fair value. their value has not been adjusted 
and they are not overdue.

8.10. Other assets
Other assets mainly consist of tax and interest re-
ceivables, items in transit, claims against insurance 
companies, creditors with debit balances as well 
as prepaid expenses and deferred charges. In ad-
dition to a contingent purchase price receivable of 
eUr 673 thousand, the item contains a receivable 
of eUr 640 thousand under a hold-back agreement 
(both from the disposal of shares in AdJug ltd.). 

8.11. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are made up of cash 
on hand amounting to eUr 6 thousand (eUr 9 
thousand in 2010) and cash at banks of eUr 44,282 
thousand (eUr 16,615 thousand in 2010).

8.12. Equity
Subscribed capital
As at 31 December 2011, the subscribed capi-
tal of the company remained unchanged at eUr 
53,012,390. It is divided into 53,012,390 notional 
no-par-value bearer shares, each with an accoun-
ting value of eUr 1. All shares in the company are 
fully paid up.

Capital reserve
As at 31 December 2011, the capital reserve of tO-
MOrrOW fOCUs AG remained unchanged at eUr 
70,628 thousand.
 the capital reserve has been formed from ad-
ditional payments made in the context of capital 
increases. It may only be utilised as prescribed by 
German stock corporation law.

According to section 150 of the German stock Cor-
poration Act (Aktiengesetz, AktG), the statutory re-
serve and the capital reserve must together exceed 
a tenth of the share capital, so that they can be used 
to make up losses or for a capital increase out of 
company funds. As long as the total of statutory re-
serve and capital reserve does not exceed a tenth 
of the share capital, they may only be used to make 
up for losses in as far as the loss cannot be covered 
by carrying forward profits or by the net income for 
the year and cannot be balanced by releasing other 
retained income.

Authorised capital
By resolution of the annual general meeting of 
shareholders on 16 June 2010, the Management 
Board is authorised, subject to supervisory Board 
approval, to undertake one or more increases in the 
company‘s share capital until 15 May 2015 of up to 
eUr 26,506,195 by issuing 26,506,195 notional no-
par-value shares in exchange for cash or non-cash 
contributions (authorised capital 2010).

Contingent capital
At the general meeting of shareholders on 1 June 
2011, it was decided to nullify conditional capital 
2000/I, which stood at eUr 321,600; also condi-
tional capital 2001/II, which stood at eUr 42,500 
and conditional capital 2002/I, which stood at eUr 
3,300,025.
 the general meeting of shareholders on 16 
June 2010 adopted a resolution to create contin-
gent capital 2010 of eUr 4,842,070 (contingent 
capital 2010/I). this contingent capital is intended 
to service conversion and option rights. the autho-
risation is valid up to 15 June 2015.

8.13. Treasury shares
the general meeting of shareholders on 16 June 
2010 cancelled the company’s authorisation to ac-
quire its own shares worth up to a total of 10 per-
cent of its share capital until 19 November 2010. 
At the same time, however, the Management Board 
was authorised to acquire shares in the company 
worth up to 10 percent of its share capital until 15 
June 2015. 
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8.14. Earnings per share
earnings per share in the reporting period, in rela-
tion to the shares issued or assumed to be issued, 

were as follows:

UNiT 2011 2010 2009

total Group net income accruing to shareholders of tfAG eUr ‘000 11,347 11,521 2,700

Weighted average of issued shares per share 53,012,390 53,012,390 53,012,390

Earnings per share EUR 0.21 0.22 0.05

Earnings per share

8.15. Other reserves
the item other reserves relates to a currency reser-
ve for currency differences arising from the trans-
lation of the results of companies whose functional 

currency is not the same as that of the Group. It also 
includes a reserve for hedging transactions (cash 
flow hedge accounting). 

Reserve for cash 
flow hedges

Reserve for  
currency translation 

differences TOTAL 

initial level as at 1 January 1,236 –1,581 –345

Cash flow hedges

fair value changes recognised in equity –554 0 –554

reversal and transfer to profit and loss –1,480 0 –1,480

Deferred taxes on cash flow hedges 373 0 373

Currency differences

Compehensive income/ (loss) 0 –337 –337

Other changes 0 –54 –54

Final level as at 31 December -425 –1,972 –2,397

Other reserves
eUr ‘000

the reserve for hedging transactions covers profits 
and losses from the effective cash flow hedge ari-
sing from changes in the fair value of the hedging 
transactions. the accumulated profit or loss from 
changes in the fair value of hedging transactions, 
as shown in the reserve for hedging transactions, 
is only transferred to the income statement when 

the underlying transaction itself affects the income 
statement, when the cash flows associated with the 
underlying transaction are recognised in profit or 
loss or if the hedged transaction is cancelled.
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8.16. Provisions for pensions and similar 
obligations
As at 31 December 2011, the provision for pensions 
amounted to eUr 405 thousand (eUr 297 thousand 
in 2010). this figure includes the entitlements of 
active and former employees of tft and the enti-

tlements of HC employees. there are no further en-
titlements. the expense of eUr 428 thousand (eUr 
287 thousand in 2010) in the financial year was re-
cognised in the statement of income. 

2011
eUr ‘000

2010
eUr ‘000

Present value of the plan assets at 31 December -1,400 -896

Present value of the pension commitment at 31 December 2,259 1,446

Benefit commitments in excess of assets 859 550

Unrealised actuarial losses -454 -253

Present value of pension provisions at 31 December 405 297

Derivation of pension provisions in the reporting period

Development of pension commitments in the financial year

2011
eUr ‘000

2010
eUr ‘000

Present value of the pension commitment at 1 January 1,446 671

expense for additional entitlements acquired in the financial year 402 280

employee contributions 329 201

Interest expenses for existing entitlements 58 26

Pension payments in the financial year –165 –76

Actuarial gains and losses 140 187

exchange rate changes in the case of plans in a currency other than eUr 49 177

Disposal following deconsolidation 0 –20

Present value of pension commitments at 31 December 2,259 1,446

Development of plan assets in the financial year

2011
eUr ‘000

2010
eUr ‘000

Present value of the plan assets at 1 January  –896 –424

expected returns –40 –19

employer contributions –329 –201

employee contributions –329 –201

Pension payments in the financial year 165 76

Actuarial gains and losses 59 –12

exchange rate changes in the case of plans in a currency other than eUr –30 –115

Present value of plan assets at 31 December –1,400 –896
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2011
eUr ‘000

2010
eUr ‘000

expenses for the additional entitlements acquired in the financial year 402 280

Interest expenses for existing entitlements 58 26

expected returns –40 –19

Actuarial gains and losses outside the corridor 8 0

Expense recognised in the statement of income 428 287

Derivation of pension expenses in the reporting period

the plan assets do not include any financial in-
struments belonging to the company or real es-
tate used by the company. for each category of 
plan assets, market expectations for investments 

of similar maturities were taken as a basis. the 
actual losses from the plan assets amount to eUr 
19 thousand (2010: income of eUr 31 thousand).

2011
in percent

2010
in percent

Bonds 34.58 47.32

equity instruments 25.99 28.60

real estate 15.43 14.19

Other 24.00 9.89

Total 100.00 100.00

Breakdown of plan assets

2011
in percent

2010
in percent

Interest rate 2.50 2.65

expected returns 3.00 3.50

rate of salary progression 2.00 2.00

rate of pension progression 0.25 0.25

Actuarial assumptions

153

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG 2011

M
U

s
t

 H
A

V
e



expected income from the plan assets is generally 
determined on the basis of the investment policy 
of the plan with regard to the combination of asset 

categories. the following table shows the develop-
ment over the last five years:

2011
eUr ‘000

2010
eUr ‘000

2009
eUr ‘000

2008
eUr ‘000

2007
eUr ‘000

Present value of plan assets as  
at 31 December –1,400 –896 –424 –470 –263

Present value of pension commitments 
as at 31 December 2,259 1,446 671 643 360

Benefit commitments in excess  
of assets 859 550 247 173 97

Adjustments based on experience

to pension commitments –139 –81 19 –62 –35

to plan assets –3 –125 –20 33 25

Development of benefit commitments in excess of assets

Anticipated contributions to the plan in 2012 
amount to eUr 355 thousand (eUr 329 thousand 
in 2011).

8.17.  TOMORROW FOCUS AG employee stock 
option plans
since 2011, Members of the Group’s Management 
Board and other senior managers have been granted 
a Performance share Plan based on the share price. 
the plan generates cash payments in annual tran-
ches over a five-year period. the vesting period in 
each case is the financial year. senior employees are 
allocated a number of virtual shares in the compa-
ny based on the degree to which eBtA targets have 
been met. these virtual shares are subject to a mini-
mum holding period of three years, after which the 
members of the company’s Management Board may 
receive a cash payment (beginning in 2015 for 2011). 
the granting of a tranche does not automatically cre-
ate an entitlement to further tranches. equally, if the 
corresponding hurdles are not met in a given year, 

this does not automatically invalidate the plan for 
subsequent years.
 the number of virtual shares is equal to the 
quotient from the underlying sum (based on eBtA) 
and the average initial reference price of the 
company’s shares, rounded commercially to the 
nearest whole number. the fair value of the stock 
options is estimated at the time of allocation taking 
into account the terms and conditions under which 
the stock options were granted and using the fair 
value of the expected payment. this is calculated 
by multiplying the number of virtual shares alloca-
ted to the entitled parties for the respective tran-
che by the closing reference price of the company’s 
shares plus the accumulated dividend per virtual 
share, which corresponds to the dividend paid per 
real share over the minimum holding period.
 the table below shows the total carrying value 
of the liabilities corresponding to the value of the 
liabilities for which the right of the counterparty to 
receive a cash sum has become unforfeitable:

2011
eUr ’000

2010
eUr ’000

from share-based payment transactions with cash settlement 1,043 0

Total 1,043 0

Other liabilities
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8.18. Employee stock option plans - subsidiaries
In the financial year 2007, AdJug ltd. introduced 
an enterprise Management Incentive share Option 
programme. Under the terms of this programme, 
employees of AdJug ltd. were entitled, subject to a 
number of conditions, to purchase ordinary compa-
ny shares with a nominal value of GBP 0.0001 at a 
subscription price that is fixed at the date of issue. 

these stock options were last exercised by emplo-
yees when tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG sold part of its 
interest in AdJug ltd. this reduced the total held 
by tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG from 58.02 percent to 
55.86 percent.

8.19. Deferred taxes  
Deferred taxes are formed on loss carryforwards 
and temporary differences between Ifrs and the 
tax balance sheet. Within the fiscal unit, an average 
tax rate of 32.58 percent was taken as a basis for 
calculating the deferred taxes. the tax rate is cal-
culated on the basis of an average trade tax rate 
of 16.76 percent and a corporation tax rate of 15.0 
percent plus the solidarity surcharge of 5.5 percent 
of the corporation tax. 

the average tax rate for German companies within 
the fiscal unit showed a small reduction from 32.62 
percent to 32.58 percent. the lower trade tax rate is 
due to a change in the average assessment rate for 
the fiscal unit headed by tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG. 

for the German companies outside the fiscal unit 
and for the non-German companies, deferred taxes 
were calculated on the basis of each company’s 
individual tax rates. this mainly concerns Holiday-
Check (approx. 12.0 percent) and the AdJug sub-
group. this subgroup comprises the UK parent Ad-
Jug ltd. (tax rate approx. 27 percent), AdJug GmbH 
in Germany (tax rate approx. 33 percent) and AdJug 
Media ltd. in India (tax rate approx. 30 percent).

Deferred tax assets of eUr 2 thousand (eUr 94 
thousand in 2010) and deferred tax liabilities of 
eUr 61 thousand (eUr 203 thousand in 2010) had 
less than one year remaining.

there are trade tax loss carryforwards of eUr 125.8 
million (eUr 116.0 million in 2010) and corporation 
tax loss carryforwards of eUr 131.9 million (eUr 
118.6 million in 2010) within the tOMOrrOW  
fOCUs Group. 

the tOMOrrOW fOCUs Group capitalised eUr 
383 thousand (eUr 472 thousand in 2010) of tax 
loss carryforwards for its subsidiaries with no oppo-
sing deferred tax liabilities arising from temporary 
differences. In the past, these subsidiaries reported 
negative results. the Group anticipates that in futu-
re there will be enough taxable income to be able 
to exploit previously unused tax loss carryforwards.

No deferred tax assets have been recognised on 
trade tax loss carryforwards of eUr 124.5 milli-
on (eUr 112.7 million in 2010) and corporation 
tax loss carryforwards of eUr 130.7 million (eUr 
115.5 million in 2010) within the tOMOrrOW  
fOCUs Group, as it is currently thought unlikely 
that they will be utilised. 

Although at present these losses can be carried 
forward indefinitely, both tax loss carryforwards 
and their previous offsetting are subject to final sc-
rutiny by the responsible taxation authorities. se-
veral financial years have not yet been definitively 
assessed by the taxation authorities. It is therefore 
possible that changes will have to be made to the 
tax loss carryforwards and to the assessed taxes 
as a result of external fiscal audits. 

In the year under review, deferred taxes of eUr 
228 thousand were recognised as liabilities in re-
spect of planned dividend payments by subsidia-

the table below details the personnel expenses for consideration received during the financial year:

2011
eUr ’000

2010
eUr ’000

Cost of share-based payment transactions with cash settlement 1,043 0

Total 1,043 0

Personnel expenses
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Deferred tax assets

1 JAN 
2011

eUr ’000

ADDiTiON RECOG-
NiSED iN EqUiTy 

ON OTHER PROViSi-
ONS DUE TO CASH 

FLOW HEDGES
eUr ’000

CURRENCy 
TRANS-
LATiON 
EFFECT

eUr ’000

iNCOME 
(+)/

EXPENSES 
(-)

eUr ’000

31 DEC 
2011

eUr ’000

resulting from temporary  
differences due to

 long-term construction contracts 50 0 0 163 213

 Put options 1,204 0 0 243 1,447

 Pensions and other commitments 31 0 0 12 43

 Interest swaps 0 205 0 0 205

 Other differences 9 0 0 –5 4

1,294 205 0 413 1,912

resulting from loss carryforwards 3,022 0 –16 –670 2,336

4,316 205 –16 –257 4,248

Deferred tax liabilities

resulting from temporary  
differences due to

 long-term construction contracts 74 0 0 179 253

 self-produced software 584 0 1 80 665

 reassessment of useful life 
 of trademarks 313 0 0 –36 277

 Other intangible assets 
2,842

0
2 –448 2,396

 Planning dividend payments 
  by subsidiaries 0 0 0 228 228

3,813 0 3 3 3,819

Balance of deferred tax assets 503 205 –19 –260 429

In the case of existing loss carryforwards, the deferred tax assets and liabilities from temporary differences 
were offset against capitalised deferred taxes on loss carryforwards per taxable person or object.

ries. By contrast, deferred taxes of approximately 
eUr 163 thousand in respect of temporary dif-
ferences in the retained earnings of subsidiaries 
were not recognised as liabilities, as the Group is 
not in a position to control the time of reversing 

and the temporary differences will not reverse in 
the foreseeable future. When calculating the fi-
gure for temporary differences in respect of reta-
ined earnings, it may be necessary to take account 
of foreign withholding taxes.
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1 JAN 
2011

eUr ’000

ADDiTiON RECOG-
NiSED iN EqUiTy 

ON OTHER PROViSi-
ONS DUE TO CASH 

FLOW HEDGES
eUr ’000

CURRENCy 
TRANS-
LATiON 
EFFECT

eUr ’000

iNCOME 
(+)/

EXPENSES 
(-)

eUr ’000

31 DEC 
2011

eUr ’000

resulting from temporary  
differences

 self-produced software 81 0 0 46 127

 Other intangible  
  assets 406 0 0 0 406

 Currency  
 hedges 169 –168 –1 0 0

 reassessment of useful life 
  of domains 43 0 0 12 55

Balance of deferred tax liabilities 699 –168 –1 58 588

Effect on statement of income –318

of witch recognised as deferred tax expenditure 100

of witch recognised as portion of deconsolidation income in comprehensive income –418

Deferred tax liabilities

the changes initially shown in equity in the fair value of derivatives used for hedging purposes led to an 
increase of eUr 373 thousand in equity.
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the following table shows the translation of the theoretical tax expense and tax income into the actual tax 
expense and tax income.

TAX EFFECTS 
2011

eUr ‘000
2010

eUr ‘000    

Earnings before taxes 13,082 13,109

fictitious tax income/ expenses (32.58 %;  2010: 32.62 %) –4,262 –4,276

Adjustments to fictitious tax income/ expense 

Changes in income tax rate 2 0

Non-recognition of deferred tax assets on tax losses in reporting year –3,167 –4,400

Initial recognition of previously unrecognised deferred tax assets on tax loss carryforwards 378 0

Deferred tax-asset valuation allowance relating to loss carryforwards –166 –709

Utilisation of unrecognised deferred tax assets on tax loss carryforwards 0 47

temporary differences for which no deferred taxes were recognised in previous years 43 334

tax-free income 570 1,246

tax reduction due to different tax rates in other countries 4,339 4,023

Amortisation of goodwill tfM 1,415 1,417

tax increase due to non-deductible expenses –687 –407

tax effects due to additions and reductions for local taxes –96 –84

recognition of deferred taxes on planned dividend payments –228 0

Currency effect switzerland –27 333

tax expenses not related to the period –15 -122

Other differences 8 52

Tax expenses according to statement of income –1,893 –2,546

Tax expense and tax income of TOMORROW FOCUS Group

the spin-off of the Portal division in 2004 results 
in annual additional tax write-downs on goodwill at 
tfM (eUr 4,343 thousand). these were eliminated 
for Ifrs purposes as this spin-off was an intragroup 
restructuring measure. As at the balance sheet 
date, goodwill deductible for tax purposes stood at 
eUr 30.4 million.

the figures of eUr 570 thousand and (for 2010) 
eUr 1,246 thousand in the above table mainly re-
late to differences between the tax and consolida-
ted financial accounts created through the sale and 
deconsolidation of former subsidiaries in the repor-
ting year and the preceding year.
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8.20. Other provisions
the following table shows the development of other provisions during the year under review:

CURRENT OTHER 
PROViSiONS

AT 1 JAN 
2011

eUr ’000
USED

eUr ‘000
REVERSED

eUr ‘000
ADDED

eUr ‘000

DiSPOSAL DUE 
TO DECONSO-

LiDATiON
eUr ‘000

AT 31 DEC 
2011

eUr ’000

Death grants 6 0 1 0 0 5

severance payments 504 162 303 302 0 341

Commissions 34 0 0 21 55 0

Warranties 113 54 59 69 0 69

litigation  234 14 26 141 0 335

Total current 
provisions 891 230 389 533 55 750

Other provisions

the provision for severance payments mainly re-
lates to payments on termination of employment 
relationships. the Group recognises severance pay-
ments if there is sufficient evidence of the fact that 
entitlements to severance payment will arise becau-
se of the termination of employment relationships.
 the provisions for warranties relate to provisi-
ons for customer goodwill and are payable within 
one year.
 the litigation risks are mainly risks from ex-
pected legal disputes relating to injunctions and 
licence claims.

As an enterprise operating in a number of different 
business segments, the Group is exposed to many 

legal risks. these can particularly be risks in con-
nection with warranties, tax laws and other legal 
disputes. the outcome of cases currently pending 
and future cases cannot be predicted with certainty, 
so court decisions may lead to expenses that are 
not entirely covered by insurance and that have 
material effects on the business and its events. In 
the estimation of the Management Board, the liti-
gation currently pending does not involve decisions 
that could have a material detrimental effect on the 
Group‘s assets and income situation. 

8.21. Liabilities to banks 
liabilities to banks amount to eUr 40,360 thousand 
(eUr 22,019 thousand in 2010)

31 DECEMBER 2011 31 DECEMBER 2010

SHORT-TERM LONG-TERM SHORT-TERM LONG-TERM

Bonded loans 0 26,500 0 0

loans 3,860 10,000 8,894 13,125

Total 3,860 36,500 8,894 13,125

Carrying amount 
in eUr ’000
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In 2011, as part of the restructuring of tOMOrrOW 
fOCUs AG’s overall borrowing requirements, 
previous long-term loans were replaced by new 
long-term borrowings totalling eUr 36,500 
thousand. Of this figure, eUr 26,500 thousand is 
in the form of a bonded loan issued in four tran-
ches. the tranches mature in 2016 and were issu-
ed exclusively to banks. 
 there is also a long-term loan totalling eUr 
10,000 thousand that expires in 2014. 
 looking at current payables to banks, eUr 
3,860 thousand (2010: eUr 8,894 thousand) fall 
due within twelve months. As at 31 December 
2011, the Group also had unused credit lines 

8.22. Other liabilities

the figure for liabilities from put/call options 
contains purchase price liabilities of eUr 13,756 
thousand (2010: eUr 15,432 thousand) for the 
put/call option linked to the acquisition of Holiday-
Check AG and eUr 3,606 thousand linked to the 
takeover of jameda GmbH in 2011.

Other non-current personnel liabilities relate to 
the obligations from share-based payment trans-
actions (see note 8.17). 
 liabilities from derivative financial instru-
ments refer to the negative fair value of interest 
rate derivatives.

 

totalling eUr 9,781 thousand (2010: eUr 7,000 
thousand). 
 In 2011, the interest rates payable on existing 
borrowings were between 1.5 percent and 4.9 
percent p.a.
 the Group hedges part of its borrowings by 
means of interest swaps. this has the effect of 
transforming the variable rate payments into 
fixed rate payments. 
 All loans are unsecured and are not subject to 
financial covenants that could allow a lender to 
cancel a loan with immediate effect if stipulated 
financial indicators are not met. 

31 DECEMBER 2011 31 DECEMBER 2010

SHORT-TERM LONG-TERM SHORT-TERM LONG-TERM

liabilities from put/call options 377 17,362 0 15,456

Accruals 3,588 0 3,156 0

Other personnel liabilities 2,337 1,043 1,945 0

Holiday pay 1,730 0 734 0

Wage and church tax 806 0 1,025 0

Derivative financial instruments 0 630 0 0

social security liabilities 117 0 69 0

Other liabilities 1,767 257 1,933 36

Total 10,722 19,292 8,862 15,492

Carrying amount 
in eUr ’000
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8.23. Advance payment on received orders 
As at 31 December 2011, advance payments on 
received orders totalling eUr 17 thousand (2010: 
eUr 40 thousand) were recognised on the balan-
ce sheet.

8.24. Trade payables
liabilities in relation to outstanding invoices 
amounted to eUr 2,301 thousand (eUr 5,400 
thousand in 2010) and are recognised under trade 
payables. 

trade payables contain finance lease payables of 
eUr 592 thousand (eUr 973 thousand in 2010). 
this relates to content management software which 
the Group rents under a finance lease agreement. 
the contractual term expires in 2012, at which 
point the Group has an option to repurchase the 
software and intends to do so.

the minimum lease payments or the amount pa-
yable under the finance lease are shown in the fol-
lowing table:

trade payables have a remaining term of less than one year.

 
2011

eUr ’000
2010

eUr ’000

Up to 1 year 607 429

After more than 1 year and up to 5 years 0 607

After more than 5 years 0 0

 607 1,036

future financing costs from finance leases -15 -63

Present value of payables from finance leases 592 973

Of which

Up to 1 year 592 381

After more than 1 year and up to 5 years 0 592

After more than 5 years 0 0

Payables under finance leases – minimum 
lease payments
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tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG employed currency for-
wards to hedge cash flows denominated in CHf 
against possible exchange rate risks. these were 
calculated on a monthly basis as part of the busi-
ness planning process. the currency forwards were 
subject to possible monthly calls and matured end 
of 2011.
 As a result of the intra-year realisation of under-
lying transactions, in the financial year 2011 a total 
of eUr 1,480 thousand (2010: eUr 614 thousand) 
was transferred from equity (under other compre-
hensive income) to the statement of income.
 A number of interest rate swaps were agreed in 
April 2011 in order to hedge the risk of fluctuation 
in the interest payable on variable rate, non-current 

financial liabilities. these were assigned directly to 
the underlying transactions in the form of cash flow 
hedges. the interest rate swaps in place and recog-
nised in equity at their market value on the balance 
sheet date expire on 30 December 2014 and 9 Mar-
ch 2016. 
 At the year-end, the interest rate swaps (nomi-
nal volumes eUr 5 million and eUr 6 million) had a 
negative market value of eUr 630 thousand (2010: 
eUr 0 thousand). the negative valuation effect cre-
ated by these interest rate swaps was shown in the 
interest result. 
 No ineffective portions were produced as a re-
sult of cash flow hedges during the reporting year.

Fair value 

31 DEC 2011 31 DEC 2010

ASSETS LiABiLiTiES ASSETS LiABiLiTiES

Currency forwards 0 0 1,404 0

Interest rate swaps 0 630 0 0

in eUr ’000

8.25. Derivative financial instruments  
As part of the risk management system, derivative 
financial instruments may be used to hedge the 
risks to which the company is exposed. these are 
primarily a result of exchange rate and interest rate 
fluctuations. their use is essentially intended to 
hedge existing or planned underlying transactions 
and to reduce foreign currency and interest rate 
risks. they are not used for trading or speculative 
purposes.

Derivative financial instruments used to hedge fo-
reign currency and interest rate risks are treated 
as a cash flow hedge in line with IAs 39 financial 
Instruments: recognition and Measurement. the 
effective portion of the profit or loss from the hed-

ging instruments is recognised directly in equity 
and is then transferred to profit or loss as soon as 
the hedged cash flows from the underlying transac-
tion are also reflected in profit or loss or if a hedged 
future transaction does not actually take place.

In the event that hedged future transactions (refer-
red to in IAs 39 as ‘forecast transactions’) lead to 
the recognition of a non-financial asset or liability, 
their fair values are adjusted to the corresponding 
figure in equity from the hedging transaction.

the fair values of the derivative financial instru-
ments used in the Group are shown in the following 
table:
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8.26. Additional disclosures on financial 
instruments
the carrying amounts, amounts recognised and 
fair values by valuation category as at 31 December 
2011 and 31 December 2010 are shown in the ta-
bles on the following two pages.

Cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, re-
ceivables under long-term construction contracts, 
receivables from affiliated entities, receivables from 
associated entities and related parties, and other 
assets mostly have short remaining terms. for this 
reason, their carrying amounts on the reporting 
date were approximately the same as their fair va-
lues.

In the absence of an exchange or market price, it 
was not possible to derive a fair value for the cor-
responding period on the basis of similar transac-
tions. A valuation based on the discounting of anti-
cipated cash flows was not undertaken as the cash 
flows could not be reliably determined. recognition 
was therefore based on acquisition cost.

the other loans are not due before one year. As the 
rate of interest is more or less equivalent to the nor-
mal market rate, the carrying amount and the fair 
value are approximately the same.

In the case of liabilities to banks, the carrying 
amount and the fair value are approximately the 
same, as the loans attract interest at the normal 
market rate.

trade payables, payables to affiliated entities, paya-
bles to associated entities and related parties, and 
other financial liabilities largely have short remai-
ning terms. their carrying amounts on the repor-
ting date were therefore approximately the same 
as their fair values. liabilities under financing lease 
agreements are recognised at the present value of 
the minimum lease payments. As a result, the car-
rying value and the fair value are approximately the 
same.

the fair value of derivative financial instruments 
used in hedge accounting is measured by applying 
appropriate valuation methods. the corresponding 
assumptions are very largely based on market con-
ditions on the balance sheet date.
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ASSETS

CARRyiNG
AMOUNT

31 DEC 2011
eUr ‘000

Cash and cash equivalents

(loans and receivables) 44,288

Trade receivables 

(loans and receivables) 22,197

Receivables from long-term construction contracts 

(loans and receivables) 468

Receivables from affiliated entities

(loans and receivables) 373

Receivables from associated entities and related parties

(loans and receivables) 39

Other assets 

(loans and receivables) 2,134

Other loans

(loans and receivables) 31

LiABiLiTiES

CARRyiNG
AMOUNT

31 DEC 2011
eUr ‘000

Liabilities to banks

(financial liabilities measured at amortised cost) 40,360

Trade payables  

(financial liabilities measured at amortised cost) 10,780

(finance lease IAs 17) 592

Liabilities to affiliated entities 

(financial liabilities measured at amortised cost) 2,640

Liabilities to associated entities and related parties

(financial liabilities measured at amortised cost) 181

Other liabilities  

(financial liabilities measured at amortised cost) 6,900

(Derivatives with hedging relationship) 630

(Derivatives without hedging relationship) 211

8.27. Financial instruments by category 

Classification of financial instruments as at 31 December 2011
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AMOUNT RECOGNiSED

Amortised 
costs

eUr ’000

Acquisition 
costs

eUr ’000

Fair value not 
recognised in 

income
eUr ’000

Fair value
recognised in 

income
eUr ’000

Valuation 
according to     

iAS 17
eUr ’000

CARRyiNG
AMOUNT
eUr ‘000

FAiR VALUE
eUr ‘000

44,288 44,288 44,288

22,197 22,197 22,197

468 468 468

373 373 373

39 39 39

2,134 2,134 2,134

31 31 31

AMOUNT RECOGNiSED

Amortised 
costs

eUr ’000

Acquisition 
costs

eUr ’000

Fair value not 
recognised in 

income
eUr ’000

Fair value
recognised in 

income
eUr ’000

Valuation 
according to     

iAS 17
eUr ’000

CARRyiNG
AMOUNT
eUr ‘000

FAiR VALUE
eUr ‘000

40,360 40,360 40,360

10,780 10,780 10,780

592 592 592

2,640 2,640 2,640

181 181 181

6,900 6,900 6,900

630 630 630

211 211 211
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ASSETS

CARRyiNG
AMOUNT

31 DEC 2010
eUr ‘000

Cash and cash equivalents

(loans and receivables) 16,624

Trade receivables 

(loans and receivables) 19,982

Receivables from long-term construction contracts  

(loans and receivables) 227

Receivables from affiliated entities 

(loans and receivables) 1,175

Receivables from associated entities and related parties 

(loans and receivables) 23

Other assets 

(loans and receivables) 750

(Derivatives associated with hedging) 1,404

Other loans 

(loans and receivables) 38

LiABiLiTiES

CARRyiNG
AMOUNT

31 DEC 2010
eUr ‘000

Liabilities to banks 

(financial liabilities measured at amortised cost) 22,019

Trade payables 

(financial liabilities measured at amortised cost) 11,267

(finance lease IAs 17) 973

Liabilities to affiliated entities 

(financial liabilities measured at amortised cost) 3,369

Other liabilities 

(financial liabilities measured at amortised cost) 3,978

8.27. Financial instruments by category 

Classification of financial instruments as at 31 December 2010
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AMOUNT RECOGNiSED

Amortised 
costs

eUr ’000

Acquisition 
costs

eUr ’000

Fair value not 
recognised in 

income
eUr ’000

Fair value
recognised in 

income
eUr ’000

Valuation 
according to     

iAS 17
eUr ’000

CARRyiNG
AMOUNT
eUr ‘000

FAiR VALUE
eUr ‘000

16,624 16,624 16,624

19,982 19,982 19,982

227 227 227

1,175 1,175 1,175

23 23 23

750 750 750

1,404 1,404 1,404

38 38 38

AMOUNT RECOGNiSED

Amortised 
costs

eUr ’000

Acquisition 
costs

eUr ’000

Fair value not 
recognised in 

income
eUr ’000

Fair value
recognised in 

income
eUr ’000

Valuation 
according to     

iAS 17
eUr ’000

CARRyiNG
AMOUNT
eUr ‘000

FAiR VALUE
eUr ‘000

22,019 22,019 22,019

11,267 11,267 11,267

973 973 973

3,369 3,369 3,369

3,978 3,978 3,978
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financial assets and liabilities measured at fair va-
lue are allocated to the following levels in the fair 
value hierarchy: 

•  level 1 – quoted prices (unadjusted) in active  
 markets for identical assets or liabilities 
•   level 2 – inputs other than quoted prices in-

cluded within level 1 that are observable for 

the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as pri-
ces) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices) 

•  level 3 – information not based on observable  
 market data (unobservable inputs) 

the following table shows the allocation of financial 
instruments measured at fair value to the three le-
vels of the fair value hierarchy.

In accordance with Ifrs 7.27B, the fair value of the 
derivative financial instruments has to be allocated 
to level 2 and is calculated using suitable measure-
ment techniques in the form of recognised actuarial 
valuation models based on market prices. the valu-
ation factors (e.g. exchange rates) can be observed 
directly or indirectly on active markets. 

8.28. Financial risk management
A comprehensive risk management system for 
tOMOrrOW fOCUs Group companies has been 
adopted and implemented by the Management 
Board. the risk management system and finan-
cial risks are discussed in section 10 of the ma-
nagement report.
 the company‘s strategy can be characterised 
as risk-averse. the company avoids contracts 

and business relationships that could jeopardise 
its future, pose a threat to its liquidity or hamper 
its further development.

Credit risk
In the risk management system, the finance de-
partment ensures that no credit limits are excee-
ded and that reminders are sent out at fortnightly 
intervals. the maximum extent of the potential 
bad debts to which the Group is exposed corre-
sponds to the reported aggregate amount of tra-
de receivables and other financial instruments.

the credit quality of financial assets that are neit-
her overdue nor impaired is determined by refe-
rence to external credit ratings (where available) 
or to past experience of the default ratios of the 

As at 31 Dec 2011
eUr ’000

Level  1
eUr ’000

Level  2
eUr ’000

Level  3
eUr ’000

Interest rate swap with 
hedging relationship 630 0 630 0

Currency forwards without 
hedging relationship 211 0 211 0

Financial liabilities 
measured at market value

As at 31 Dec 2011
eUr ’000

Level  1
eUr ’000

Level  2
eUr ’000

Level  3
eUr ’000

Currency forwards without 
hedging relationship 1,404 0 1,404 0

Financial assets 
measured at market value
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business partners concerned. the creditworthi-
ness of financial assets that are neither overdue 
nor impaired is assumed. there are no securities 
or other credit improvement measures in place 
that would reduce the risk of default from finan-
cial assets.

investment strategy
Cash that is not needed in the short term is partly in-
vested in fixed deposits.

Currency risk
the currency risks to which the tOMOrrOW  
fOCUs Group is exposed arise from its operating 
activities. Currency risks are partly hedged in as 
far as they affect the Group’s cash flows. risks 
resulting from the translation of assets and liabili-
ties of entities domiciled outside Germany into the 
Group‘s presentation currency, on the other hand, 
are not generally hedged.

the operating activities of the individual companies 
in the Group are mainly conducted in the functional 
currency, i.e. the euro. However, some Group com-
panies are exposed to foreign currency risks in re-
lation to planned expenditure outside their functio-
nal currency. this primarily concerns the ongoing 
expenditure of HC in CHf. tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG 
makes regular use of currency forwards (cash flow 
hedges) to hedge these payments in advance. As 
at the reporting date, tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG was 
not exposed to any significant exchange rate risks 
in the operating area as a result of these hedging 
activities.

Assuming all other variables remained constant, if 
there had been a 10 percent change in the eUr/
CHf exchange rate as at 31 December 2011, net 
income/ (loss) for the year as a whole would have 
been eUr 1,340 thousand higher or lower (2010: 
eUr 1,532 thousand).

Assuming all other variables remained constant, if 
there had been a 10 percent change in the eUr/
PlN exchange rate as at 31 December 2011, net 
income/ (loss) for the year as a whole would have 
been eUr 1 thousand higher or lower (2010: eUr 
0 thousand).

interest rate risk
tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG is only exposed to interest 
risks in the eurozone and in switzerland. In so far 
as it affects the Group, the risk of fluctuations in 
market interest rates relates predominantly to long-
term variable interest borrowings.

If market interest rates had been 100 base points 
higher (lower) as at 31 December 2011, earnings 
would have been eUr 255 thousand lower (higher).

Liquidity risk
the aim of tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG’s business po-
licy is to continue to achieve a positive cash flow 
in the future. In order to retain sufficient flexibili-
ty, financing instruments are selected that offer the 
most suitable maturities and corresponding liqui-
dity. the risk of a shortfall in cash is monitored by 
holding periodic cash planning meetings.

As at 31 December 2011, payables to banks amoun-
ted to eUr 40,360 thousand (eUr 22,019 thousand 
in 2010).

the table below shows the maturity dates for the 
Group’s liabilities. the figures are based on con-
tractual, undiscounted payments.
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8.29.  Additional disclosures on capital 
management
the capital management policy at tOMOrrOW fO-
CUs fAG is primarily geared towards ensuring that 
adequate financing is available for the Group’s long-
term growth. 
 reflecting common practice within the industry, 
the Group monitors its capital on the basis of its debt-
to-capital ratio (the ratio between net debt and total 
capital). Net debt is made up of total debt (including 
financial liabilities, trade payables and other liabilities 
as per the consolidated balance sheet) less cash and 
cash equivalents. total capital is calculated by adding 
the consolidated balance sheet figure for equity and 
net debt. 
 the Group is not subject to any externally impo-
sed capitalisation requirements.
 equity increased by 1.7 percent in the financial 
year 2011, mainly as a result of the consolidated net 

income for the year and the corresponding decline in 
the consolidated accumulated loss.

the declines in return on equity and return on total 
capital are due to an increase in total assets, predo-
minantly as a result of the increase in liabilities to 
banks. this is balanced by an improvement in the 
consolidated net income for the year.
 In terms of capital management, the Group’s 
aims are to safeguard the company as a going con-
cern, and thus continue to generate income for 
shareholders and provide other interested parties 
with the payments to which they are entitled. A 
further aim is to maintain the most efficient capital 
structure possible in order to reduce capital costs.
 the equity ratio helps the Group to monitor its 
capital, i.e. the equity shown in the consolidated 
balance sheet. 

2012
eUr ‘000

2013-2015
eUr ‘000

f rom 2016
eUr ‘000

trade payables 14,225 0 0

Other financial liabilities 7,111 242 388

liabilities to banks 5,693 14,833 26,749

2011
eUr ‘000

2012-2014
eUr ‘000

f rom 2015
eUr ‘000

trade payables 16,031 607 0

Other financial liabilities 3,978 300 0

liabilities to banks 9,751 13,969 0

Liabilities over their term

iNDiCATOR METHOD OF CALCULATiON 31 DEC 2011 31 DEC 2010

equity ratio
equity / 
total assets 52.4 % 59.2 %

return on equity
Consolidated net income for 
the year / Average equity 11.7 % 11.8 %

return on total capital
Consolidated net income for 
the year / Average total capital 6.5 % 6.6 %

Capital management
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9. Notes to the consolidated 
statement of income

9.1. Revenue
the composition of the Group‘s revenue is shown in 
the following table.
 the increase in commission revenue is mainly 
due to a rise in the volume of travel booking referrals 
made by HC.
 the decrease in online advertising revenue is 
predominantly attributable to the deconsolidation of 
the AdJug Group. Consequently, its contribution to 
consolidated revenue only covered part of the year, 

compared to 2010 when it covered the entire year. 
 Sales revenue was boosted by an increase in 
subscription sales by eP.
 Revenue from project work was higher as a re-
sult of greater demand for iPhone apps. this figure 
includes revenue of eUr 2,759 thousand (eUr 1,553 
thousand in 2010) from swap transactions covering 
goods and services.
 following the sale of PDP in 2010, the Group no 
longer generates advertising revenue from maga-
zines.
 for advance payments received please refer to 
note 8.23.

9.2. Percentage-of-completion 
In the year under review, revenue from long-term 
construction contracts determined according to the 
percentage-of-completion method (PoC method) 
and included under revenue from project work 
amounted to eUr 776 thousand (eUr 227 thousand 
in 2010). the total costs in the financial year 2011 
for the contracts not yet completed at the balan-
ce sheet date and settled according to the stage of 
completion amounted to eUr 654 thousand (eUr 
164 thousand in 2010). losses of eUr 0 thousand 
were recognised (loss of eUr 0 thousand in 2010).

9.3. Other income
In financial 2011, other operating income of eUr 
5,368 thousand was recognised (eUr 10,006 
thousand in 2010). this was mainly due to non-
recurring income of eUr 1,542 thousand from the 
sale of AdJug ltd. (eUr 5,813 thousand in 2010 
from the sale of PDP); neutral income of eUr 1,843 

thousand (eUr 1,895 thousand in 2010); the rever-
sal of provisions of eUr 389 thousand (eUr 136 
thousand in 2010); the derecognition of liabilities of 
eUr 735 thousand; (eUr 1,611 thousand in 2010); 
and income not generated in the period under re-
view of eUr 657 thousand (eUr 528 thousand in 
2010). 

9.4. Other own work capitalised
Other own work capitalised mainly concerns the ca-
pitalisation of self-produced software totalling eUr 
1,840 thousand (eUr 1,532 thousand in 2010) in 
the transactions and Advertising segments. the in-
crease on the previous year is due to development 
work needed for mobile applications and other soft-
ware solutions and to major website revisions. 

2011
eUr ‘000  

2010
eUr ‘000  

Commission revenue 67,795 52,894

sales revenue 28,275 28,098

Online advertising revenue 25,858 26,943

revenue from project work 11,561 6,640

New media revenue 133,489 114,575

Magazine revenue 0 8,664

Other revenue 2,413 4,960

TOTAL 135,902 128,199

Group‘s revenue
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9.5. Cost of materials
Materials cost is predominantly incurred by tfM, 
tft and Cellular. they relate primarily to services 
purchased for editorial content and bought-in pro-
duction-related It services. 

9.6. Research and development costs
the tOMOrrOW fOCUs Group holds a stake in 
tOMOrrOW fOCUs technologies GmbH, which 
itself either generates or is involved in commissi-
oning a large proportion of the developments for 
the Advertising segment. In the transactions and 
technologies segments, development activities are 
decentralised and are conducted within the com-
panies themselves. Development costs are almost 
entirely capitalised as self-produced software. re-
search expenses do not apply.

9.7. Number of employees and personnel costs 
On average over the year, the tOMOrrOW fOCUs 
Group had 590 full-time equivalents (ftes) (562 in 
2010). 
 
Average headcount over the financial year (inclu-
ding Management Board Members):

In the financial year 2011, personnel costs amoun-
ted to eUr 41,149 thousand (eUr 36,747 thousand 
in 2010), of this eUr 2,279 thousand were accoun-
ted for by pensions (defined benefit plans) (eUr 
2,024 thousand in 2010) and eUr 2,394 thousand 
by other social security expenses (eUr 2,224 
thousand in 2010). 
 the figure for personnel costs includes seve-
rance payments of eUr 302 thousand (eUr 504 
thousand in 2010).
 Personnel costs from the ltI programme total-
ling eUr 1,043 thousand are also included.

FTE
2011

FTE
 2010

Management Board 3 2

Holders of general commer-
cial power of attorney of the 
parent company 1 1

Managing directors and chief 
executives of the subsidiaries 12 16

staff 574 543

Total 590 562

Average number of employees
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9.8. Other expenses

the advertising expenses largely originate from 
eP, HC and tfM. the increase is primarily due to 
HC and eP, which spent much more on advertising. 
 the marketing costs are largely made up of 
sales commissions, travelling expenses and enter-
tainment costs, and were mainly incurred by eP. 
Here, too, the increase is due to higher marketing 
expenses for customer acquisition at eP.
 In the reporting period eUr 3,623 thousand 
were spent on rent (eUr 3,616 thousand in 2010). 
this was largely in relation to office space and 
servers. eUr 174 thousand were spent on leasing 
(eUr 183 thousand in 2010). this was mainly in re-
lation to the leasing of vehicles by the companies. 
 As regards the binding force of the tenancy, 
rental and leasing agreements, reference is made 
to note 13.2 ‘Other financial liabilities’.
 Licences primarily relate to HC and include the 
licence for the booking platform.
 Legal, consulting and audit costs arose pri-
marily in connection with expenses that could not 
be capitalised in relation to potential acquisitions 
in 2011. Also included are Group internal audit ex-
penses, general consultancy expenses and statuto-
ry audit costs (see note 13.90).

Bad debts mainly affect eP and also include custo-
mer goodwill.
 Services mainly refers to It services, and agen-
cy or business management agreements.
 Communication and information expenses 
largely relate to telecommunications, advanced 
training and market research.
 Ancillary personnel costs include recruitment 
fees and payments to freelance staff.
 Outgoing freight costs were incurred in 2010 
by PDP and refers to the cost of sending out maga-
zines. 
 Other expenses mainly include price and 
currency differences, operating expenses such as 
repairs and maintenance, charges and premiums, 
money transaction costs, and insurance. the incre-
ase is primarily due to higher money transaction 
costs at eP. 

2011
eUr ’000

2010
eUr ’000

Advertising expenses 30,031 23,573

Marketing costs 6,474 7,009

rent/leasing costs 3,797 3,799

licences 3,057 2,405

legal, consulting and audit costs 2,831 2,594

Bad debts 2,638 3,550

services 1,435 1,323

Communication/ information expenses 1,345 1,549

Ancillary personnel costs 1,207 1,232

Administrative expenses 885 1,066

expenses relating to other periods 478 538

Outgoing freight 0 408

Other expenses 2,871 3,172

Total 57,049 52,218

Other operating expenses
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9.9. Financial income
the financial income of eUr 339 thousand in total 
(eUr 67 thousand in 2010) was made up of interest 
and similar income. Currency differences from the 
operating business are shown under other income.
 In future the success of the company‘s invest-
ment strategy will be largely determined by the 
development of interest rates on the capital market 
and the money market. 

9.10. Financial expenses
the financial expenses of eUr 3,826 thousand 
(eUr 2,666 thousand in 2010) result mainly from 
interest expenses of eUr 2,951 thousand (eUr 
1,957 thousand in 2010). Interest expenses also in-
clude expenses from compounding in the sum of 
eUr 954 thousand (eUr 535 thousand in 2010) and 
financing-related interest expenses of eUr 1,997 
thousand (eUr 1,422 thousand in 2010). the item 
financial expenses also includes dividends to the old 
shareholders of HolidayCheck AG totalling eUr 874 
thousand (eUr 709 thousand in 2010).

9.11. Net results according to valuation category
With the exception of the valuation adjustments to 
trade receivables and the fair value measurement of 
derivatives without a hedging relationship (which fall 
into the loans and receivables category and are re-
cognised under other operating expenses), all com-
ponents of the net result with an impact on profit or 
loss are included in the financial result. Components 
relating to the category ‘financial Assets and liabili-
ties Held for trading’ are included in other compre-
hensive income.

10. Notes on segment reporting

the segment report is broken down into the follow-
ing segments: transactions, Advertising, technolo-
gies and Holding. these are the primary segments 
of tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG.

the transactions segment comprises HC, eP and 
(from 2011) jameda, which operates a ratings plat-
form for physicians and pharmacies. PDP also for-
med part of the transactions segment until it was 
sold in November 2010. 

the Advertising segment includes the Group’s on-
line advertising and marketing business as well 
as the following companies: jameda (up to 2010), 
f100 (a finance portal) and (up to August 2011) Ad-
Jug ltd. (a marketing platform for surplus adverti-
sing space). 

the technologies segment covers tft’s entire It 
services and project business as well as Cellular 
GmbH’s mobile business.

In addition to the Administration division, the Hol-
ding segment includes expenses and investments 
in new business and all matters external to the abo-
ve-mentioned segments. 

transfers between the segments were evaluated 
and invoiced on the basis of full costs. 

the geographical information reflects the location 
of the company’s registered office.

the accounting and valuation methods used for 
those segments subject to statutory disclosure are 
based on the principles described in note 7. 

2011
eUr ’000

2010
eUr ’000

loans and receivables -1,341 -2,145

financial Assets Held for 
trading 0 358

financial liabilities Measu-
red at Amortised Cost -1,975 -1,331

financial liabilities Held for 
trading -841 0

Total -4,157 -3,118

Net results of 
valuation categories
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11. Notes on the consolidated cash 
flow statement

the cash flow statement shows how the Group‘s 
cash and cash equivalents changed during the 
course of the reporting period through inflows and 
outflows of cash. In accordance with IAs 7 (state-
ment of Cash flows), a distinction is made between 
operating activities, investing activities and finan-
cing activities. the Group applies the indirect me-
thod for cash flows from operating activities and 
the direct method for cash flows from financing 
and investing activities. the liquidity shown in the  
financial statement includes cash on hand and cash 
at banks. 

12. Events after the balance 
sheet date

No events occurred after the balance sheet date 
requiring disclosure under IAs 10. 

13. Other disclosures

13.1. Related parties  
the Group is controlled by Burda Digital GmbH, 
which holds 63.61 percent of the shares in tO-
MOrrOW fOCUs AG. the consolidated financial 
statements of tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG are there-
fore included in the subgroup financial statements 
of Burda GmbH, Offenburg, Germany (which holds 
the shares in Burda Digital GmbH) and in the group 
financial statements of Hubert Burda Media Hol-
ding KG, Offenburg, Germany. the consolidated 
financial statements are submitted to the operator 

of Germany’s electronic federal gazette (Bundesan-
zeiger) for publication. 

In addition to the entities included in the consoli-
dated financial statements of tOMOrrOW fOCUs 
AG, the entities making up the Hubert Burda Media 
Group are closely related to tOMOrrOW fOCUs 
AG, as are other persons and entities that exert a 
significant influence on the financial and business 
policies of tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG, including clo-
se family members and intermediate entities.
 
All transactions with related entities primarily con-
cern services as defined by IAs 24.21c. All transac-
tions between related persons were concluded on 
the basis of normal market terms such as apply to 
transactions between third parties.

Balances and transactions between tOMOrrOW 
fOCUs AG and its subsidiaries, which constitute 
related parties, were eliminated in full as part of the 
consolidation process and are not included in these 
notes. the following table shows a list of the trans-
actions entered into with related parties.

 

2011
eUr ’000

2010
eUr ’000

Burda Digital GmbH 12 0

subsidiaries of Hubert Burda Media Holding KG 5,679 7,279

Associated entities of Hubert Burda Media Holding KG 203 172

Associated entities of tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG 374 74

Total 6,268 7,525

Revenue
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2011
eUr ’000

2010
eUr ’000

Hubert Burda Media Holding KG 161 174

subsidiaries of Hubert Burda Media Holding KG 3,575 7,477

Associated entities of Hubert Burda Media Holding KG 4 5

Associated entities of tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG 12 0

Total 3,752 7,656

Work and services purchased/ other operating expenses 

the following balances remained outstanding at the end of the reporting period: 

31.12.2011
eUr ’000

31.12.2010
eUr ’000

Burda Digital GmbH 1 14

subsidiaries of Hubert Burda Media Holding KG 373 1,161

Associated entities of tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG 53 23

Total 427 1,198

Receivables

31.12.2011
eUr ’000

31.12.2010
eUr ’000

Hubert Burda Media Holding KG 16 15

Burda Digital GmbH 14 0

subsidiaries of Hubert Burda Media Holding KG 3,020 3,354

Associated entities of Hubert Burda Media Holding KG 72 0

Associated entities of tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG 181 0

Total 3,303 3,369

Payables

the outstanding balances at the end of the repor-
ting period are unsecured and do not bear interest. 
they are settled by cash payment. there are no 
guarantees in place in respect of receivables from 

and payables to related parties. there were no ad-
justments to the value of receivables from related 
parties in either 2011 or 2010. 
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Liabilities to related parties 
liabilities to related parties mainly include obliga-
tions in respect of rent and leasing agreements and 
agency agreements for services provided by various 
entities in the Burda Group (cf. also note 13.2 Other 
financial liabilities). there were no liabilities to-
wards related persons as at the balance sheet date.

Remuneration of persons in key Group positions
the following remuneration was paid to Members 
of the Management Board and supervisory Board 
as consideration for their work:

•   the emoluments paid to the Members of the Su-
pervisory Board in the reporting period amounted 
to a total of eUr 175 thousand (eUr 80 thousand 
in 2010). furthermore, the company incurred ex-
penses of eUr 75 thousand from a contract for 
services with a law firm to which a Member of the 
supervisory Board belongs (eUr 7 thousand in 
2010). 

•   In the reporting period the emoluments paid to 
the Members of the Management Board of tO-
MOrrOW fOCUs AG amounted to a total of eUr 
1,992 thousand (eUr 1,105 thousand in 2010). 
this includes variable components amounting to 
eUr 390 thousand (eUr 378 thousand in 2010) 
and share-based payments of eUr 543 thousand 
(eUr 0 thousand in 2010). 

With a qualified majority, the general meeting of 
shareholders held on 1 June 2011 passed a reso-
lution to make use of the opt-out clause. this me-
ans that tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG is exempted up 
to and including the year 2016 from the statutory 
obligation to make separate disclosure of the rem-
uneration paid to its officers and directors. 
 the company has liabilities to Members of the 
supervisory Board to the sum of eUr 175 thousand 
(eUr 80 thousand in 2010) and of eUr 933 
thousand to Management Board Members (eUr 
378 thousand in 2010). there were no receivables 
from Members of the supervisory Board or the Ma-
nagement Board. 
 As regards the presentation of tOMOrrOW 
fOCUs AG‘s Management Board and the supervi-
sory Board, we refer to our comments in note 13.7 
Management Board and in note 13.8 supervisory 
Board.

the company has neither granted loans to Mem-
bers of tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG‘s Management 
Board nor stood surety and/or given any other ty-
pes of guarantee for these persons. 
 As at the balance sheet date, the total number 
of no-par-value shares in the company held by 
Members of the Management Board was 297,944 
(326,116 in 2010).
 As at the balance sheet date, the total number 
of shares in the company held directly or indirect-
ly by Members of the supervisory Board in accor-
dance with section 15a paragraph 3 of the German 
securities trading Act (Wertpapierhandelsgesetz, 
WpHG) was 1,356,514 (3,229,989 in 2010).

13.2. Contingent liabilities and other liabilities
As part of its business activities, tOMOrrOW  
fOCUs AG assumed contingent liabilities and other 
liabilities in relation to a large number of under-
lying events. 
 tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG also issued a liquidity 
guarantee on behalf of two subsidiaries. this in-
volved an obligation to provide enough financing 
to ensure their continued operation. According to 
the latest information available, the parties to the 
guarantee are in a position to meet the underlying 
obligations in all cases. It is not expected that the 
guarantee will need to be exercised.
 the following tables show the Group’s other 
liabilities under long-term tenancy and leasing ag-
reements as at the balance sheet date.
 the liabilities primarily arise from tenancy and 
leasing contracts for buildings, It systems and of-
fice machinery. these contracts usually run for 12 
to 60 months and more than 60 months in excep-
tional cases. the economic risks and rewards re-
main with the owner due to obligations to return 
the items and rights to require purchase. 
 the other contracts are primarily agency agree-
ments for services on the part of various entities in 
the Burda Group and other providers, and liabilities 
under the Performance share Plan.
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13.3. Equity interests in the company as defined 
by section 21 paragraph 1 sentence 1 of the Ger-
man Securities Trading Act (Wertpapierhandels-
gesetz, WpHG)
In the financial year 2011 there were no acquisi-
tions or disposals subject to mandatory disclosure 
under section 21 paragraph 1 sentence 1 of the 
German securities trading Act (Wertpapierhan-
delsgesetz, WpHG).  

13.4. Section 25 paragraph 1 sentence 1 and 
section 41 paragraph 3 of the German Securities 
Trading Act (Wertpapierhandelsgesetz, WpHG)
In the financial year 2011 no notifications were re-
ceived in relation to section 25 paragraph 1 in con-
junction with section 41 paragraph 3 of the German 
securities trading Act (Wertpapierhandelsgesetz, 
WpHG)

 

TOTAL

OF WHiCH DUE 
TO OTHER 

BURDA GROUP
ENTiTiES

Under tenancy and leasing agreements (temporary)

Due in 2012 3,373 758

Due between 2013 and 2016 8,879 1,793

Due after 2016 77 0

Total 12,329 2,551

Liabilities under other contracts (temporary)

Due in 2012 5,087 1,097

Due between 2013 and 2016 3,705 905

Due after 2016 2,494 0

Total 11,286 2,002

Other financial liabilities in 2011
eUr ’000

 

TOTAL

OF WHiCH DUE 
TO OTHER 

BURDA GROUP
ENTiTiES

Under tenancy and leasing agreements (temporary)

Due in 2011 2,357 259

Due between 2012 and 2015 8,848 533

Due after 2015 753 0

Total 11,958 792

Liabilities under other contracts (temporary)

Due in 2011 4,203 1,015

Due between 2012 and 2015 4,050 373

Due after 2015 0 0

Total 8,253 1,388

Other financial liabilities in 2010
eUr ’000
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13.5. Section 21 paragraph 1 sentence 1 of the 
German Securities Trading Act (Wertpapierhan-
delsgesetz, WpHG) in conjunction with section 
160 paragraph 1 number 8 of the German Stock 
Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz, AktG)
As at the balance sheet date, Hubert Burda Media 
Holding Kommanditgesellschaft (formerly Hubert 
Burda Media GmbH & Co. Kommanditgesellschaft) 
in Offenburg, Germany, held 63.61 percent of the 
shares in tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG, either directly 
or indirectly, making it the majority shareholder.

13.6. Corporate governance
the company has made the declaration required 
under section 161 of the German stock Corpora-
tion Act (Aktiengesetz, AktG) for this financial year 
and, in December 2011, published it on its website 
(http://www.tomorrow-focus.de) for perusal by the 
shareholders.
 the company is included in the consolidated 
financial statements of Hubert Burda Media Hol-
ding Kommanditgesellschaft (formerly Hubert Bur-
da Media GmbH & Co. Kommanditgesellschaft) in 
Offenburg, Germany. these consolidated financi-
al statements are submitted for publication to the 
operator of the electronic federal gazette (Bundes-
anzeiger).

13.7. Management Board
In the financial year 2011, the following persons 
held positions as Management Board Members of 
the company with rights of representation, either 
jointly or together with a holder of general com-
mercial power of attorney (‘Prokurist’ under Ger-
man law).

In 2011 stefan Winners was responsible for the 
following areas of responsibility: information and 
consultation with the supervisory Board; overall 
strategy and corporate development; portal content 
and editorial management; finanzen100, Holiday-
Check, jameda and tft; Hr: senior management, 
high-potential employees, personnel development; 
Group communications; Group internal audit.
 In 2011, Christoph schuh was responsible for 
the equity interests AdJug, Cellular and elitePart-
ner; portal (marketing activities including client 
marketing); subsidiaries and equity interests with 
Advertising business model (national and interna-
tional); marketing and sales; and links with trade 
associations as the representive of tOMOrrOW 
fOCUs AG.
 In 2011, Dr Dirk schmelzer held the following 
areas of responsibility: financial, investment and 
personnel planning; controlling, reporting systems, 
risk management and internal control systems; fi-
nancial management of equity interests; financing 
and bank relations; external financial reporting; 
investor relations; legal, contractual and fiscal 
management; general administration including 
purchasing; personnel administration and rela-
tions; compensation and benefits.
 According to its articles of association, the 
company is represented by two Members of the 
Management Board or by one Member of the Ma-
nagement Board jointly with one holder of general 
commercial power of attorney (‘Prokurist’ under 
German law). If only one Management Board Mem-
ber has been appointed, this Member represents 
the company alone. the Members of the Manage-
ment Board represent the company as set out in the 
articles of association. 

 POSiTiON SUPERViSORy BOARD MANDATES

Stefan Winners

 

Chief executive Officer
 

Chairperson of the Board of Directors, HolidayCheck AG,  
Bottighofen, switzerland; Member of the Board, AdJug ltd., 
london, UK, (up to 12 August 2011)

Christoph Schuh Member of the 
Management Board

Chairperson of the Board, AdJug ltd., london, UK  
(up to 12 August 2011); 
thereafter Member of the Board, AdJug ltd., london, UK

Dr. Dirk Schmelzer
(from 1 March 2011)

Member of the 
Management Board

Member of the Board of Directors, HolidayCheck AG, Bottighofen, 
switzerland

Management Board TEXT zU lAnG, 
TAbEllE zU WEiT UnTEn
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13.8. Supervisory Board

 POSiTiON OCCUPATiON/OTHER SUPERViSORy BOARD MANDATES

Dr. Paul-Bernhard 
Kallen

Chairperson of the 
supervisory Board

Chairperson of the Management Board, Hubert Burda Media 
Group; Member of the supervisory Board, Verlagsgruppe Weltbild 
GmbH, Augsburg, Germany 

Dr. Andreas 
Rittstieg

Deputy Chairperson 
of the supervisory 
Board

lawyer; Member of the supervisory Board, Brenntag AG, Mühl-
heim a.d.r., Germany; Member of the Advisory Board, turina 
Holding GmbH & Co. KG, Hamburg, Germany; Member of the 
Advisory Board, Huesker Holding GmbH, Gescher, Germany; 
Member of the Advisory Board, Berenberg Bank, Hamburg, Ger-
many; Member of the supervisory Board, Hapag lloyd Holding 
AG and Hapag lloyd AG, Hamburg, Germany

Annet Aris Member of the 
supervisory Board
(from 1 June 2011)

Graduate engineer (Diplom-Ingenieurin), MBA; Adjunct Professor 
of strategy, Institut européen d’Administration des Affaires 
(INseAD),fontainebleau, france; Member of the supervisory 
Board, Asr Nederland N.V., Utrecht, Netherlands; Deputy Chair-
person of the supervisory Board, Hansa-Heemann AG, rellingen, 
Germany; Member of the Board,the sanoma Group Oy, Helsinki, 
finland; Deputy Chairperson of the supervisory Board, V-Ven-
tures B.V., Hilversum, Netherlands; Member of the supervisory 
Board, Jungheinrich AG, Hamburg, Germany; Member of the 
supervisory Board, Kabel Deutschland AG, Munich, Germany;

Prof. Dr. 
Stefan Leberfinger

Member of the 
supervisory Board

Certified public accountant (Wirtschaftsprüfer), tax consultant; 
Chairperson of the supervisory Board, DOMAG Wohnbau AG, 
Munich, Germany; Member of the Advisory Board, thurn und 
taxis`schen Gesamtverwaltung, regensburg, Germany; Chairper-
son of the supervisory Board, Bankhaus Herzogpark AG, Munich, 
Germany;

Helmut Markwort Member of the 
supervisory Board
(up to 1 June 2011)

Publisher of focus magazine, Munich, Germany; Member of the 
supervisory Board, fC Bayern München AG, Munich, Germany; 
Member of the supervisory Board, Bayern tele GmbH, Munich, 
Germany; Deputy Chairperson of the Advisory Board, studio 
Gong GmbH & Co. studiobetriebs KG, Munich, Germany;

Jean-Paul Schmetz Member of the 
supervisory Board
(up to 1 June 2011)

Merchant; Member of the Board, OPMs Co. ltd., seoul, south 
Korea; Member of the Board, Dogan Burda Dergi yayincilik Ve 
Pazarlama A.s, Istanbul, turkey; Member of the Board, Dergi 
Pazarlama Planlama, Istanbul, turkey; Member of the supervisory 
Board, Xing AG, Hamburg, Germany;

Philipp Welte Member of the 
supervisory Board
(from 1 June 2011)

Member of the Management Board, Hubert Burda Media Group, 
Munich, Germany

Martin Weiss Member of the 
supervisory Board 

Management consultant Member of the supervisory Board, 
smartblue AG, Munich, Germany

Members of the Supervisory Board

180

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG 2011



13.9. Auditor’s fees
the fees paid for the audit, which has been recog-
nised as expense in the financial year, amounted to 
eUr 185 thousand for the Group‘s auditing com-
pany (eUr 151 thousand in 2010). Of this, eUr 27 
thousand were paid for other services provided by 
the auditing company (eUr 6 thousand in 2010).

13.10. Exemption from the requirement to prepare 
annual financial statements in accordance with 
section 264 paragraph 3 of the German Commer-
cial Code (Handelsgesetzbuch, HGB)
the following subsidiaries of tOMOrrOW fOCUs 
AG, which were included in the consolidated finan-
cial statements and meet all other preconditions, 
have opted to make use of the exemption pursuant 
to section 264 paragraph 3 of the German Commer-
cial Code (Handelsgesetzbuch, HGB): 

a. TOMORROW FOCUS MEdiA GMbH
b. TOMORROW FOCUS TECHnOlOGiES GMbH
c. CEllUlAR GMbH 
d. EliTEMEdiAnET GMbH

13.11. Authorisation to publish the annual 
financial statements
On 22 March 2012, the Management Board re-
leased tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG‘s consolidated fi-
nancial statements and its combined management 
report for presentation to the supervisory Board. 
the supervisory Board is expected to approve the 
consolidated financial statements and release them 
for publication on 27 March 2012. 

Munich, Germany, 22 March 2012

to the best of our knowledge, and in accordance 
with the applicable reporting principles, the conso-
lidated financial statements as at 31 December 2011 
give a true and fair view of the assets and liabilities, 
financial position and profit or loss of the tOMOr-
rOW fOCUs Group and the group management 
report includes a fair review of the development 
and performance of the business and the position 

of the tOMOrrOW fOCUs Group, together with 
a description of the principal opportunities and 
risks associated with the expected development of  
tOMOrrOW fOCUs Group.

Munich, Germany, 22 March 2012

Stefan Winners  
Chief executive Officer 

Dr. Dirk Schmelzer
Chief financial Officer 

Christoph Schuh
Management Board Member

Stefan Winners  
Chief executive Officer 

Dr. Dirk Schmelzer
Chief financial Officer 

Christoph Schuh
Management Board Member

Responsibility statement by the legal representatives 
in accordance with Section 37y (1) of the WpHG (German Securities Trading Act) in conjunction
with Section 297 (2), 4 and Section 315 (1), 6 of the HGB (German Commercial Law)
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We have audited the consolidated financial state-
ments prepared by the tOMOrrOW fOCUs AG, 
Munich, Germany, comprising the consolidated 
balance sheet, consolidated income statement and 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, 
consolidated statement of changes in equity, con-
solidated cash flow statement and the notes to the 
consolidated financial statements, together with 
the group management report of the tOMOrrOW 
fOCUs AG, Munich, Germany, for the business 
year from 1 January 2011 to 31 December 2011. 
the preparation of the consolidated financial state-
ments and the group management report in accor-
dance with the Ifrss, as adopted by the eU, and 
the additional requirements of German commercial 
law pursuant to § (Article) 315a Abs. (paragraph) 1 
HGB („Handelsgesetzbuch“: German Commercial 
Code) is the responsibility of the parent Company‘s 
Board of Managing Directors. Our responsibility is 
to express an opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements and the group management report ba-
sed on our audit. 

We conducted our audit of the consolidated finan-
cial statements in accordance with § 317 HGB and 
German generally accepted standards for the audit 
of financial statements promulgated by the Institut 
der Wirtschaftsprüfer (Institute of Public Auditors 
in Germany) (IDW). those standards require that 
we plan and perform the audit such that misstate-
ments materially affecting the presentation of the 
net assets, financial position and results of opera-
tions in the consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with the applicable financial reporting 
framework and in the group management report are 
detected with reasonable assurance. Knowledge of 
the business activities and the economic and legal 
environment of the Group and expectations as to 
possible misstatements are taken into account in 
the determination of audit procedures. the effec-
tiveness of the accounting-related internal control 
system and the evidence supporting the disclosures 
in the consolidated financial statements and in the 
group management report are examined primarily 
on a test basis within the framework of the audit. 
the audit includes assessing the annual financial 
statements of those entities included in consolidati-
on, the determination of the entities to be included 

in consolidation, the accounting and consolidation 
principles used and significant estimates made by 
the Company‘s Board of Managing Directors, as 
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements and the group 
management report. We believe that our audit pro-
vides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Our audit has not led to any reservations.

In our opinion based on the findings of our audit 
the consolidated financial statements comply with 
the Ifrss as adopted by the eU and the additional 
requirements of German commercial law pursuant 
to § 315a Abs. 1 HGB and give a true and fair view 
of the net assets, financial position and results of 
operations of the Group in accordance with these 
requirements. the group management report is 
consistent with the consolidated financial state-
ments and as a whole provides a suitable view of 
the Group‘s position and suitably presents the op-
portunities and risks of future development.

Munich, Germany, 22 March 2012 

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Aktiengesellschaft
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

Andreas Fell  ppa. Alexander Fiedler
Auditor   Auditor

Auditor’s Report
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Company-specific terms

AGOF
AGOf is an abbreviation of the German ‘Arbeits-
gemeinschaft Online-forschung’ (Working Group 
for Online Media research), which was founded in 
December 2002. AGOf‘s mission and purpose is to 
ensure transparency and practical standards with re-
gard to research into Internet and online advertising 
platforms, regardless of individual interests. eve-
ry quarter, AGOf publishes a set of ‘Internet facts’, 
a compilation of data on reach and user structures  
covering Germany’s major Internet-based advertising 
platforms.

Android
Android is both an operating system and a software 
platform for mobile devices such as mobile phones, 
smartphones and tablets. Android was developed by 
the Open Handset Alliance led by Google.

App  
‘App’ is the short term used to describe applications 
for the iPhone and other smartphones that can be 
bought through an online shop such as Apple’s ‘App 
store’. 

Click rate
Also known as the click-through rate (or Ctr); this 
indicator shows how often an item of display adverti-
sing is clicked as a percentage of the total number of 
page impressions.

Cluster
Clusters are networks of closely cooperating compa-
nies and/or organisations which are located in close 
proximity to each other. the purpose of a cluster may 
be, for example, to create synergies or to promote 
economy and innovative spirit in a region.

Display advertising 
this term refers to all forms of graphical advertising 
on the Internet.

E-Commerce 
e-commerce consists of the buying and selling of pro-
ducts or services over electronic systems such as the 
Internet.

iVW
IVW stands for ‘Informationsgemeinschaft zur fest-
stellung der Verbreitung von Werbeträgern e.V.’ (Ger-
man Information society for Measuring the Distri-
bution of Advertising Media). the IVW neutrally and 
objectively measures the distribution of advertising 
media. the IVW counts the total number of page im-
pressions and visits to online portals.

Launch
this refers to the introduction of a website on the 
market.

M-Commerce
As with e-Commerce, m-commerce comprises all mo-
netary transactions made using a mobile device, such 
as mobile phones, smartphones or tablets.

Near field communication 
Near field communication (or NfC) is the designation 
of an international transmission standard for a non-
contact exchange of data within close proximity. It 
can be used for cashless payments using mobile de-
vices at POs terminals, for example.

Newsroom
the newsroom forms the hub of an editorial office and 
is where the production of journalistic content from 
different editorial areas is coordinated.

Portal 
Pages or web pages which function as ‘portals to the 
Internet’, i.e. provide access to the Internet. today 
these include in addition to pages of online-access 
or search engine providers also, inter alia, editorial 
online offers.

qR codes
‘Qr’ stands for ‘quick response’. Qr codes are two-
dimensional barcodes made up of black and white 
fields. Internet-ready mobile phones equipped with a 
camera can read the code using specific software. In 
most cases, mobile codes contain a link to a website. 
this means that printed information can include a re-
ference to additional details on the Internet without 
having to type out the link. 
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Reach
reach (which is expressed as a percentage) indicates 
the number of people in a target audience who come 
into contact with an advertising medium or a combi-
nation of advertising media.

Relaunch
this is the complete redesign of a website.

Smart TV
smart tVs are television sets with a number of addi-
tional interactive functions, in particular access to the 
Internet. 

Social media 
Collective term for online platforms and applications 
where users actively participate and make contact 
with each other. they include online networks, such 
as facebook, and microblogging services, such as 
twitter.

Transactions
the term refers to the entirety of transaction-based 
business models on the Internet, i.e. those for which a 
commission is paid for a service. 

Unique user
 AGOf ‘Internet facts’ are based on unique users. 

Unique user figures express how many people came 
into contact with an advertising medium or a single 
advertisement over a specific period of time. Unique 
users are the basis for calculating the reach and struc-
ture of online advertising media and essential media 
planning parameters such as weekly usage, monthly 
usage and contacting.

Visit      
In the Internet world, this means a visit to a website 
offer, thus constituting a contact with the advertiser. 
Unlike the term  page impressions, it covers visits 
to the entire website rather than a single page on that 
site.

Website     
the central web location of all webpages (in HtMl 
format) that are linked to and accessed from an Inter-
net address.

Business terms

Cash flow
A measure of cash and cash equivalents inflows and 
outflows.

Corporate Governance
Corporate governance stands for a form of respon-
sible company management and control geared to 
long-term creation of value.
 
DAX®
the Deutscher Aktienindex (or DAX®) is a German 
blue-chip index compiled by Deutsche Börse AG; the 
index reflects the performance trend of the 30 largest 
and most actively traded German equities. 

Debt
Debt (total assets less  equity) represents the por-
tion of funds which are not made available by the 
company or its owners. It includes bank loans and 
can be categorised with other financial instruments 
under the generic term of liabilities.

Declaration of conformity
Declaration of the Management Board and the super-
visory Board in respect of the recommendations of 
the Government Commission on the German Corpo-
rate Governance Code pursuant to section 161 of the 
German stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz, AktG).

Deferred taxes 
this balance sheet item can be an asset and/or a lia-
bility. It arises from timing differences between actual 
tax liabilities as assessed by the tax authorities and 
the company‘s tax liabilities under  Ifrs.

Earnings per share
earnings divided by the average number of ordinary 
shares outstanding. 

EBT 
earnings before taxes 

EBTA
earnings before interest, taxes and amortisation

EBiT
earnings before interest and taxes
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EBiTDA
earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and 
amortisation

Equity
equity (total assets less  debt) represents the funds 
paid in and/or contributed by the shareholders plus 
retained earnings which are available to the company.

Equity ratio 
equity as a percentage of total assets (the higher the 
ratio, the lower the gearing). 

Financial derivatives
financial derivatives are financial futures transac-
tions which hedge against risks from unexpected pri-
ce changes and whose price is directly or indirectly 
dependent on the price of an underlying asset, e.g. 
interest rates or exchange rates.

Free float    
shares of a public company that are freely available to 
the investing public.

Full-time equivalent 
full-time equivalent (or fte) is a unit for measuring 
the theoretical number of employees in full-time posts 
within a company. Any part-time posts are added to-
gether to calculate the overall result. By way of exam-
ple, 3 half-time posts and 1 full-time post would give 
2.5 ftes.

Goodwill
An intangible economic good representing the value 
of the intangible assets of a business entity which are 
not capitalised at acquisition. Calculation: purchase 
price of the entity less its proportional, newly valued 
equity.

impairment
A reduction in the value of an asset in addition to de-
preciation or in place of amortisation in the case of 
intangible assets with indefinite useful lives. An im-
pairment test is implemented to ascertain whether an 
asset‘s carrying amount is higher than its recoverable 
amount. If necessary, the asset is depreciated to its 
recoverable amount.

international Financial Reporting Standards (iFRS)  
this uniform system of accounting rules is intended 
to facilitate the task of comparing data between com-

panies. In accordance with eU regulations, all listed 
companies are obliged to adopt these rules for repor-
ting and accounting purposes. 

Long-term incentive plan 
A long-term incentive plan or programme (ltIP) is 
a business plan for the creation of long-term perfor-
mance incentives for managerial staff. It is essentially 
a profit-sharing model, which can, for example, be 
used for the issue of (virtual) shares, share options 
or convertible bonds. An ltIP therefore forms part of 
the salary.

Margin
the difference between a ratio (eBIt, eBItDA etc.) 
and revenue.

Risk management
On-going, systematic and continuous identification, 
analysis, evaluation and control of potential risk to 
which a company‘s assets, financial position and in-
come situation are exposed in the medium and long 
term. the objective is to ensure the continued exi-
stence of the company, to ensure the achievement 
of the company‘s objectives supported by suitable 
measures against adverse occurrences and to incre-
ase the enterprise value.

Segment reporting
Disclosure of earnings and assets data for individual 
areas of business.

Statement of cash flows
the statement of cash flows shows inflows and out-
flows of cash from the operating business and from 
financing and investing activities over the financial 
year. It also serves to reconcile the levels of cash and 
cash equivalents held at the beginning and end of the 
financial year. 

TecDAX®
Compiled by Deutsche Börse AG, the index reflects 
the performance trend of the 30 largest listed German 
technology equities included in the Prime standard.
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23 May 2012
Annual General Meeting at Haus der  
Bayerischen Wirtschaft in Munich, Germany

May
8 May 2012 
Publication of the interim report for the first  
quarter of 2012

Financial calendar 2012*

August
8 August 2012 
Publication of the interim report for the second 
quarter of 2012

September
24 – 26 september 2012
Investors’ meeting at the German Corporate  
Conference 2012 of Goldman sachs and  
Berenberg Bank in Munich, Germany

November
8 November 2012
Publication of the interim report for the third  
quarter of 2012 

12 - 14 November 2012
Analysts’ meeting at the German equity forum 
2012 in frankfurt am Main, Germany

* provisional dates
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Key figures 

*  adjusted to exclude revenue from the AdJug Group (deconsolidated in August 2011) 
**  adjusted to exclude revenue from Playboy Deutschland Publishing GmbH (deconsolidated in November 2010) and revenue from the AdJug Group 

(deconsilidated in August 2011); furthermore the figures have been adjusted for the one-off revenue from the sale of Playboy Deutschland Publishing 
GmbH and non-recurring depreciation of capitalised, self-produced software. 

 
2011 2010** 2010 Change in  % 

Consolidated revenue (operational segments)* eUr million 128.3 106.9  +20.0

Consolidated revenue (including AdJug & Playboy) eUr million 135.9 128.2 +6.0

segments:

transactions (operational segments) eUr million 90.1 75.4 +19.5

transactions (including Playboy) eUr million 90.1 85.5 +5.4

Advertising (operational segments) eUr million 25.0 20.8  +20.2

Advertising (including AdJug) eUr million 32.6 31.9 +2.0

technologies eUr million 13.2 10.8 10.8 +22.5

Group eBItDA eUr million 21.4 18.2 24.0 +17.6/–10.7

Group eBIt eUr million 16.8 12.6 15.9 +33.3/+5.6

Group eBt eUr million 13.1 9.8 13.1 +33.7/+0.0

Group earnings after taxes eUr million 11.2 7.2 10.6 +55.6/+5.9

earnings per share eUr 0.21 0.16 0.22 +31.3/–4.5

Average number of employees 590 562 562 +5.0

 
31  DEC 2011 31 DEC 2010 Change in  %

total assets eUr million 184.4 160.4 +14.9

equity eUr million 96.6 94.9 +1.7

Debt eUr million 87.8 65.5 +34.0

equity ratio in percent 52.4 59.2 –11.5

Debt ratio in percent 47.6 40.8 +16.7

Structure of shareholders at 31 December 2011

free float  33.3%

Burda Digital GmbH  63.6%

Managing Borad and supervisory Board  3.1%

(in percent, rounded)
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2006

2007

2008

2009

2010

2011

 65.6

 74.9

 77.1

 9.,2

Consolidated revenue 
(eUr million)

 106.9**

 128.3*

 .,6

 15.5

 9.6

 12.6

Group eBItDA
(eUr million)

 18.2**

 21.4

 4.8

 11.7

 5.7

 8.9

Group eBIt
(eUr million)

 12.6**

 16.8

 0.10

 0.15

 0.05

 0.05

ernings per share
(eUr)

 0.16**

 0.21

Development of TOMORROW FOCUS Group key figures
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31 DeC 2008 31 DeC 2009 31 DeC 2010 31 DeC 2011

Equity ratio (clearly increased)

45.7

52.1

59.2

52.4

47.640.874.954.3

Segment revenue

2008

2009

2010

2011

transactions 
65.4%

transactions 
70.0%

transactions 
66.3%

transactions 
66.3%

Advertising
26.1%

technologies 
8.4%

Advertising
21.4%

technologies 
8,6%

Advertising
24.0%

technologies 
9.7%

Advertising
25.0%

technologies 
8.7%

  Equity ratio

  Debt ratio
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We have so much to show, but unfortunately not for 
all the space in the Annual Report. Therefore, here‘s 
a quick look at our outtakes.






